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Featured on the CAFR cover are scenes from the 2011 North Carolina State Fair. Photos
courtesy of the North Carolina Department of Agriculture.

Facts About the North Carolina State Fair

o The North Carolina State Fair is the largest 11-day event in North Carolina.

o The 2011 State Fair reached one million in attendance for the second straight year.

e The 2011 State Fair had a gross revenue of $10.3 million from all sources.

o The State Fair each year creates several thousand jobs for its 11-day run.

o The Fair is managed and produced by the N.C. Department of Agriculture & Consumer
Services and is consistently ranked among the top 25 fairs in North America.

e The first N.C. State Fair took place 158 years ago in 1853.

e More than 234,000 pounds of canned food was donated by 2011 fair patrons for the Food
Lion Hunger Relief Day on Thursday, Oct. 20. The food benefits the Food Bank of
Central and Eastern North Carolina.

o The 2011 State Fair played host to a variety of musical acts, including country music
legend George Jones, Christian rockers Skillet, R&B icon Dionne Warwick and North
Carolina’s own Kellie Pickler.

o The Village of Yesteryear, which features crafters and artisans from across the state,
marked its 60th anniversary at the 2011 State Fair.

“It was another wonderful fair,” said Agriculture Commissioner Steve Troxler. “Attendance was
1,009,173, our second-highest total ever. For the most part we had fantastic weather, and the
final weekend was absolutely beautiful. Having good weather led to above-average attendance
on all but one day of the fair.”

“I cannot thank fairgoers enough for their continued support,” Troxler said. “I hope they’re
already marking their calendars for Oct. 11-21, 2012. I know we’re eager to start planning for it.

bh

For more information about the North Carolina State Fair, please refer to the About Us section
on www.ncstatefair.org.




NORTH
CAROLINA

COMPREHENSIVE
ANNUAL
FINANCIAL
REPORT

FOor THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDED JUNE 30, 2011

BEVERLY E. PERDUE
GOVERNOR

DAVID T. McCoy
STATE CONTROLLER

Prepared by Statewide Accounting Division
Office of the State Controller

http://www.osc.nc.gov



2 State of North Carolina

This report was prepared by the
Statewide Accounting Division of the North Carolina Office of the State Controller.

Anne Godwin, CPA
Deputy State Controller
Statewide Accounting Division
anne.godwin@osc.nc.gov

John Barfield, CPA Amber Young
Accounting and Financial Reporting Central Compliance
Manager Manager
John.barfield@osc.nc.gov amber.young@osc.nc.gov

Statewide Accounting Division Staff

Ann Anderson Lauren Lemons Prabhavathi Vijayaraghavan, CPA
Pamela Fowler, CPA Clayton Murphy, CPA Cynthia Vincent
Martha Hunt, CPA Terri Noblin, CPA Helen Vozzo, CPA
Cathy Johnson Melody Tart Virginia Warren

Special appreciation is given to the chief fiscal officers and the dedicated accounting personnel throughout the State.
Their efforts to contribute accurate and timely financial data for their agencies, universities, community colleges, and
institutions made this report possible.



State of North Carolina

BEVERLY E. PERDUE
Governor of North Carolina

REPRESENTATIVE THOM TILLIS SENATOR PHILIP BERGER
Speaker of the House President Pro Tempore
North Carolina General Assembly North Carolina General Assembly




4 State of North Carolina

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

INTRODUCTORY SECTION Page

Letter OF TTANSIUMAL...........couiioiiiiiieiir ettt bs st st b et 2 e s e as oot es e ee e e 8

Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in FInancial REPOTLING............cocoevuuvuiriuieiieeeeciee e sse s ses s s s s es s sses s eseesseenaene 21

Organization of North Carolina State Government, including principal State OffiICIalS................co..oo.ooiverveieiceeeceece e 22
FINANCIAL SECTION

RepOrt Of INAEPENAENE AUGILON............cuurvueiierieecieiesireinre ettt as st ss e ss e es e e s ee s s s ensee st se s esee s eesesstessee e onessnnan 26

Management's Discussion and Analysis...

Basic Financial Statements

Government-wide Financial Statements
Statement Of NEt ASSELS — EXNIDIE A=1.........ccooooiiiiiiiiieieeeee ettt e s et e e ee sttt et e s e et es s s e et eea s s s e eaes et en s eeteneeeasseaseeeeesesaes 54

Statement of Activities — Exhibit A-2.... 56
Balance Sheet—Governmental FUnds — EXRIDIE B-1...........cccooviuniiiniiieirineireieieiseee sttt st ss s s b s b s a8 s a s bbb s st st ns s sse s 60
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Assets — EXhibit B-1a..........ccccooeveieririeniniieiieseeesese e 61
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances—Governmental Funds — EXhibit B=2..........ccoccoiininiininiinncrecceseecernins 62
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities — EXNIDIt B-28..........ccccocoiiiiiieiiniieirese ettt 63
Statement of Net Assets—Proprietary Funds — Exhibit B-3.............c.ccocoooviieiiiieinececeeeeee e - 64
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets—Proprietary Funds — Exhibit B-4. . 68
Statement of Cash Flows—Proprietary FUnds — EXRIDIt B-5.........cc.cieriiiiiiienieiie ettt ea st st sne 70
Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets—Fiduciary Funds — Exhibit B-6...........ccc..ccounn.n... 74
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets—Fiduciary Funds — Exhibit B-7 75
Notes t0 the FINANCIAl STACIMENES...........ccvviuiieriietiiiieei ettt ettt ettt s e es b s et e b bt e b2 s e e s em ke sea st s s ses ettt b s e s b besee e 76

Required Supplementary Information

Schedules of Funding Progress—All Defined Benefit Pension Trust FUNS..........c...coviiiiiiniiiiiiccccce s s 178
Schedules of Contributions from the Employers and Other Contributing Entities—All Defined Benefit Pension Trust Funds.............ccccocvvvvvinnciniiniennnn, 179
Schedules of Funding Progress—Other Postemployment BENETILS..............c.ooriiuriiriieieiiirreeerereicre sttt ss s 180
Schedules of Employer Contributions—Other Postemployment BEnefits...............c.cooiiiiiiiinceiicnicrcneese s 181
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance—Budget and Actual

—(Budgetary Basis—Non-GAAP) General FUNQ...............cccooiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e 182
Notes to Required Supplementary Information—Budgetary REPOITING. ............oveiriiriuiieiriririritieee ettt eres et es ettt es s saesssenes 183

Combining Fund Statements and Schedules
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Balance Sheet—Nonmajor Governmental Funds — EXRIDit C-L.........ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiec s 190
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances—Nonmajor Governmental Funds — Exhibit C-2. 191
Combining Balance Sheet—Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds — Exhibit C-3........c.ccoiiiiiiiiiiiicienr s 194
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances—Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds — Exhibit C-4............ccccccocevnvininnne 196
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

—DBudget and Actual (Budgetary Basis—Non-GAAP) Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds — Exhibit C-5.........ocooerierininiiionincncisnececicnns 198
Combining Balance Sheet—Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds — EXRIDIt C-6............couieuiiiiiieiiic ittt ssssssenes 204
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances—Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds — Exhibit C-7..........cccccoocovvirninnn. 205
Combining Balance Sheet—Nonmajor Permanent Funds — EXRIDIt C=8..............cocoooiiiiiiiimiiiiiiitcees ettt ettt eas 208
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances—Nonmajor Permanent Funds — Exhibit C-9..............cccoovcivincvnnnnan 209
Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

—Budget and Actual (Budgetary Basis—Non-GAAP) Nonmajor Permanent Funds — Exhibit C-10.........c.ccocoeiiiiiiiiiiinnneen 210

Proprietary Funds

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
Combining Statement of Net Assets—Nonmajor Enterprise Funds — EXibit D-1...........ccccooiiiniiiiiiiici i 216
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets—Nonmajor Enterprise Funds — Exhibit D-2............c.ccccoovnniniiininn, 218

Combining Statement of Cash Flows—Nonmajor Enterprise Funds — Exhibit D-3............cccccciiiiiiiiiiiic s 220



State of North Carolina 5

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

Page
Internal Service Funds
Combining Statement of Net Assets—Internal Service FUNAs — EXRIDIt E=1...............ccooouuiviirereeeeeeessereeseessseeseesesessessseeeses s esesesresse s esssseseseeseresssereenns 224
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Assets—Internal Service Funds — ExXhibit E-2...........c.coccovivveonivrrireieeereeseseenns 226
Combining Statement of Cash Flows—Internal Service FUnds — EXhibit E-3................oocooiiiiimiiiooeecee oo sss s senaes 228

Fiduciary Funds
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets—Investment Trust FUnds — EXRIbIt F-©..........o.ooooiiimiiioiieeees oo s et eenas 234
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets—Investment Trust Funds — Exhibit F-2............ccocoovviiiiiiiiiieceeceee e 235
Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets—Private Purpose Trust Funds — EXhibit F-3............ccccoovviiieiiiiieiieece e 238
Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets—Private Purpose Trust Funds — ExXhibit F-4............ccocooviivriiriiverireece oo 239
Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities—Agency Funds — EXRIbit F-5............cocoovviiiriiiirieieicceeeeeeeces e es s esssess e sens e 242
Component Units - Discretely Presented
Combining Statement of Net Assets—Nonmajor Component Units — EXRIDIt G1.........cccoooeiuiiieiiioiiiiiiincieiesienisisses st sesse st st ssesessessesnees 248
Combining Statement of Activities—Nonmajor Component Units — EXRIDIt G=2..............ccccv.vivioiicerieneiiisseeeeeeeseesesse et esss et ssss s ssesesas s saesns 250
Statement of Cash Flows—Major Component Unit — EXRIDIt G=3.............ccccoriiiiiirieiseie ettt 252
STATISTICAL SECTION

INAEX 10 STASTICAL SECLION. ... ..cucvveiiieeieet ettt ettt bs s e s es s e seae s st s s s b s s s s se s Rttt s e aes e s e e+ 8t s ba e en e b s bbb aes et ee i 255
Net AsSets DY COMPONEIE — TADIE L..........c.coiiuiiiiiieiiieeeeret ettt es et et s ta s sat et s e tessassesseseeseseseae st et sset et eb et et esesetstesses et s esesesesssesssnsssessbeseses e et aaesesssesenes 256
Changes i NEt ASSES — TADIE 2..........covveeeieeeiecee ettt ettt s et ete s te s et ettt aesees s e e s e eeseseeaeeetess e et eesessasees et es e sesessssse et et as et s ansessasassebesansebeseses s s ssesnenssans 258
Fund Balances of Governmental FUNAS — TADIE 3............cccocoviuiiirieierieiciese et er sttt et bbb n s se et 262
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental FUNAS — TaDIE 4.............cco.ooiiiiieiiiiiiiciecctctecece ettt eesaeeessesses 264
Schedule of Revenues by Source — General FUNA — TaDLE 5 ..ottt ettt ettt eb bt n e 266
Personal INCome bY INAUSLIY — TaADIE 6...............ccooivieiiiiiieieeiceeeet ettt ettt ettt ae e es bbb s et es s et et es e s s s s ee s st £ st bt b et ettt et b et e bbb b ea b eas st nene e 268
Individual Income Tax Filers and Liability & Individual Income Tax Rates — Table 7..........ccoviriicriiniimrinerinisieeieesiste et sase s ssae s sseaaes 270
Taxable Sales by BUSINESS GIOUP — TADIE 8.............oooiiiiiierieiiiiiii ettt ettt a et s s s s es e s sbeses e s ebe st se b b e b et e bt e bbbt e s s et b etk ebebee s sbesebtheb e easssieereneseas e 272
Sales Tax Revenue Payers by Business Group — TaDIE O............c.vieieiieueiriiiicriesetese ettt es e es ettt bbbt senns 274
Ratios of Outstanding Debt BY TYPE — TABLE 10..........ccovueuriueiriiriiriirietririsset ettt ettt se e ees b e bbbt sb bbb ebs bbbt on 276
Ratios of General Bonded and Similar Debt Outstanding — TaBIE L1............ocvoeueriiiiiiiceeeinsre ettt ss b b es s 278
Schedule of General Obligation Bonds Payable — TabIe 12............ccoueiiiiiiirieiirieiieiieieiseiestissee et sss st ees sttt sttt sn e 280
Schedule of Special Indebtedness DEbt — TaDIE 13...........coccoviiiiiiieiicriei ettt se e ses et es et ee et et s e st bbbt nesnne s 284
Pledged Revenue COVErage — Table 14..............cco.o.oviviiioiiieeeeceeteeee ettt ettt ettt et eae et et et eteeet et et etesebeb et et eseassse s ese s sasabs e sse s b s e s e sase st et e st s ee et e bt et ebeeneneeeaes 286
Schedule of Demographic DAta — TAIE 15...............coviviieiieeieiietet ettt ee sttt et s s e st s s eess s e st et e st ssses e s s s e s ess s sb et et et ebesee e e s st s see e bbb en e eaenencnes 292
Principal Employers — Table 16................. . ettt ettt et tet ettt et A e ket E ek eA R A s bk eA S ee oL £ eE £ e e A e et eE bR b s eh s R R eheh e £ bbb Rt ettt 294
Teachers and State EMployees by FUNCHON —— TaADIE 17........ccvvuoiinveieriniinines ettt sss sttt ottt eb bbbt 296
Operating Indicators by Function — Table 18.............. 298
Capital Asset Statistics by FUNCHON — TAIE 19.............cccoviieiiieiiiiiieieteee ettt es st ess st ssea st ss st ee e enennes 302

Required Supplementary Information—Ten-Year Claims Development Information—Public School Insurance Fund — Table 20................... .. 306



6 State of North Carolina

THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.



INTRODUCTORY
SECTION



State of North Carolina
Office of the State Controller

DAvID T. McCoy
STATE CONTROLLER

The Honorable Beverly E. Perdue, Governor
Members of the North Carolina General Assembly
Citizens of North Carolina

In compliance with G.S. 143B-426.40H, it is our pleasure to provide you with the State of North Carolina’s 2011
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). This report has been prepared by the Office of the State Controller.
Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures,
rests with the state government and this office. To the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and
reliable in all material respects.  We believe all disclosures necessary to enable you to gain an understanding of the State's
financial activities have been included.

Although the State budgets and manages its financial affairs on the cash basis of accounting, G.S. 143B-426.40H requires
the Office of the State Controller to prepare a Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States of America. Except for schedules clearly labeled otherwise, this
CAFR has been prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Management of the government is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal control structure designed to
ensure that the assets of the State are protected from loss, theft or misuse and to ensure that adequate accounting data are
compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. The
internal control structure is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met. The
concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived,
and (2) the valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

In compliance with North Carolina’s General Statutes, an annual financial audit of the State financial reporting entity is
completed each year by the North Carolina Office of the State Auditor. The Auditor's examination was conducted in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, and the Auditor’s
opinion has been included in this report. In addition, the State coordinates the Single Audit effort of all federal funds through
the State Auditor.

This letter of transmittal is intended to complement the management discussion and analysis (MD&A) and should be read in
conjunction with it. The MD&A provides an overview of the State’s financial activities addressing both governmental and
business-type activities reported in the government-wide financial statements. In addition, the MD&A focuses on the State’s
major funds: the General Fund, the Highway Fund, the Highway Trust Fund, the Unemployment Compensation Fund, the EPA
Revolving Loan Fund, the N.C. Turnpike Authority, and the N.C. State Lottery Fund. The MD&A can be found immediately
following the Independent Auditor’s Report.

MAILING ADDRESS: 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-1410
STREET ADDRESS: 3512 Bush Street, Raleigh, North Carolina 27609
Phone (919) 981-5454 ~ Fax (919) 981-5567
http://www.osc.nc.gov ~~ An EEO/AA/AWD Employer
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Government
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Its Services

Profile of the State of North Carolina

North Carolina became the 12™ state of the union in 1789. North Carolina is located on the
Atlantic coast and is bordered by Georgia, South Carolina, Tennessee and Virginia. The State has a
land area of approximately 50,000 square miles. The State’s estimated population is 9.69 million,
making it the 10® most populated state in the nation. Sixty percent of the population is found in
urban areas, while forty percent is found in rural areas. The North Carolina coastline is 301 miles,
the greatest distance east to west is 543 miles, and the greatest distance north to south is 188 miles.
The State’s elevation rises from sea level on the eastern coastline to 6,684 feet at Mount Mitchell in
the Appalachian mountain range on our western border. There are 79,330 miles of roads, with
Interstate 40 crossing North Carolina east to west, and Interstates 85 and 95 crossing the State north
to south. North Carolina’s capital and central state government administration is located in Raleigh,
in the central piedmont. Charlotte, Raleigh, Greensboro, Durham, and Winston-Salem are North
Carolina’s largest cities and there are 100 counties.

North Carolina’s state government consists of an executive branch, a legislative branch, and a
judicial branch. The executive branch is headed by the Governor. The Governor, Lieutenant
Governor, and eight other statewide elected officers form the Council of State. The State
Constitution provides that, “A Secretary of State, an Auditor, a Treasurer, a Superintendent of
Public Instruction, an Attorney General, a Commissioner of Agriculture, a Commissioner of Labor,
and a Commissioner of Insurance shall be elected by the qualified voters of the State....”

The legislative power of the State is vested in the General Assembly, which consists of a Senate
and a House of Representatives. The Senate is composed of 50 Senators, elected on a biennial
basis. The House of Representatives is composed of 120 Representatives, elected on a biennial
basis.

The Courts of the Judicial Branch are split into three divisions, the Appellate Division, the
Superior Court Division, and the District Court Division. Judges are elected on a non-partisan
basis.

The State of North Carolina entity as reported in the CAFR includes all fund types of the
departments, agencies, boards, commissions and authorities governed and legally controlled by the
State's executive, legislative and judicial branches. In addition, the reporting entity includes legally
separate component units for which the State is financially accountable. The component units are
discretely presented in the government-wide financial statements. The State's discretely presented
major component units are the University of North Carolina System, the State's community
colleges, Golden LEAF, Inc., North Carolina Housing Finance Agency, North Carolina State
Education Assistance Authority, and the State Health Plan. The criteria for inclusion in the
reporting entity and its presentation are defined by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) in its GASB Codification Section 2100. These criteria are described in Note 1 of the
accompanying financial statements.

The State and its component units provide a broad range of services to its citizens, including k-
12 public education; higher education; health and human services; economic development;
environment and natural resources; public safety, corrections, and regulation; transportation;
agriculture; and general government services. The costs of these services are reflected in detail and
in summary in this report.
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Budgetary
Control

Overview

In addition to internal controls discussed previously, the State maintains budgetary controls. The
objective of these budgetary controls is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the
annual appropriated budget approved by the General Assembly. Activities of the General Fund,
departmental special revenue funds, and permanent funds are included in the annual appropriated
budget. The State Highway Fund and the Highway Trust Fund, the State's major special revenue
funds, are primarily budgeted on a multi-year basis. Capital projects are funded and planned in
accordance with the time it will take to complete the project. The level of budgetary control (that is,
the level at which expenditures cannot legally exceed the appropriated amount) is exercised at both
the departmental and university level, with allotment control exercised by the State Controller, and
on the program line-item levels requiring certain approvals by the Director of the Budget.
Legislative authorization of departmental expenditures appears in the State Appropriation Bill. The
certified budget is the legal expenditure authority; however, the Office of State Budget and
Management (OSBM) may approve executive changes to the legal budget as allowed by law. These
changes result in the final budget presented in the required supplementary information.

Economic Condition

During FY 2010-11, the economic recovery struggled to gain traction. The weak recovery
occurred despite the fact it had been a year since the Great Recession ended. The National Bureau
of Economic Research officially dated the end of the recession as June 2009. Nevertheless,
economic conditions in the State, as well as the nation, did not reflect a recovering economy.
Employment losses were still occurring in some industry sectors, while other sectors were
experiencing very little job growth. Additionally, the end of the economic recession did not mark
the end of the housing recession, which was a precursor to the economic downturn.

Both employer and consumer sentiment showed little signs of an economic recovery. The
structural problems in the housing and financial markets that sent us into a recession historically
have taken much longer to correct and are followed by much slower, prolonged recovery phases.
This recovery was proving to be no different. At best, a very modest economic expansion began
during the fiscal year. In fact, at no time during the fiscal year did the annualized growth rate of the
nation’s Gross Domestic Product (a broad measure of economic activity) equal or exceed the long-
run average of 3.1 percent. Given the severe contraction the economy went through, a more robust
recovery that exceeded the long-run average might have been expected.

During the fiscal year, the State’s economy added 39,200 private sector jobs and total wage and
salary income increased by an estimated 2.9 percent. By the end of the fiscal year, there were still
270,000 fewer people employed than at the start of the recession. Annual growth in total wage and
salary income increased by 2.3 percent the first quarter of the fiscal year and continued to improve
with an estimated 2.7 percent rate of growth in the last quarter. It is anticipated that both
employment and income will continue to improve for the rest of 2011, but at a slow pace. Moderate
job growth is not expected until the second half of 2012. The result will be high unemployment
rates for the rest of 2011 and most, if not all, of 2012.
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National FY2009-10 FY2010-11 FY2011-12 FY2012-13
Economic United States Economic Indicators Actual Actual Projected  Projected
Outlook Economic growth (GDP)* 1.90% 1.50% 2.10% 3.20%

Personal Income -0.50% 4.10% 5.20% 6.70%
Corporate Pre-Tax Profits 42.00% 11.20% 0.10% 5.00%
Retails Sales and Food Senices 1.20% 7.30% 5.20% 6.40%
CPI 1.00% 2.00% 2.40% 2.60%
30-yr Fixed Mortgage Interest Rate 5.00% 4.30% 4.90% 6.20%
*Adjusted for inflation

The aftermath of the global financial crisis, along with the persistent declines in the housing
market, assured that weak economic conditions would persist throughout the fiscal year. Subsequent
economic shocks in the spring of 2011, including the rapid increase in gas prices and weather
related supply disruptions, made it difficult for the recovery to gain traction. The economy remained
in a below-normal growth pattern throughout the fiscal year and the nation’s prospects are for
subpar economic growth for 2011 and most, if not all, 0of 2012.

The economic indicators convey the impact the recession had on the nation and the abysmal rate
of the recovery experienced during the fiscal year. Little economic growth is expected over the next
year with only modest improvements the second-half of 2012. The overall economy experienced
very little growth in FY 2010-11, recording only a 1.5 percent increase in GDP. The economy
appeared poised to move into a strong recovery phase with annualized growth in GDP the third
quarter of 2010 of 2.5 percent. By the second quarter of 2011, growth had slowed to 1.3 percent.
Rapidly rising gas prices, supply disruptions from Japan’s natural disaster and the weather-related
problems here in the US, along with Eurozone debt problems all created a drag on economic growth
that last quarter.

The ongoing problems in the housing market and stagnant employment growth, means the
economy will struggle to rebound, and in FY 2011-12, is expected to grow by only 2.1 percent. The
following fiscal year, FY 2012-13, economic growth is expected to be near the long-term average
growth rate of 3.1 percent. The below average growth during this phase of the recovery means
significant improvements in employment are going to take longer to develop. However, in FY 2010-
11, despite the sluggish economic recovery and very little gain in employment, total personal
income rose by 4.1 percent. Employment conditions are expected to remain weak, but will advance
sufficiently enough to help personal income grow by 5.2 percent in FY 2011-12.

Additionally, given the persistently slow recovery, business profitability, which saw a major
rebound in 2009 and 2010, is expected to level-off in 2011. Many businesses coming out of the
recession were bolstered by a global economic recovery. Export demand grew significantly early in
the fiscal year improving the balance sheets for many businesses. The subsequent sovereign debt
crisis, which mostly affected European countries, has softened export growth and lowered
expectations for continued profit growth over the next year. The result has been business investment
has softened and hiring decisions continue to be put on hold.

A good indicator on the health of the economy is retail sales. This key indicator experienced a
strong rebound in FY 2010-11, coming off anemic growth of 1.5 percent the preceding fiscal year.
Consumers were hit hard during the economic downturn as household wealth declined, credit
markets tightened, inflation-adjusted wages fell, and the employment picture remained cloudy. For
consumer spending to strengthen the real estate and financial markets will need to stabilize, and an
improving employment picture will need to emerge.

To summarize the national outlook, the Great Recession that began in December 2007, and
ended June 2009, continued to impact economic conditions for most of the fiscal year. Part of what
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North Carolina
Economic
Outlook

was fueling economic growth, a global economic recovery, was set back with the realization of
sovereign debt issues plaguing many industrialized nations. Thus, an already projected slow
recovery was dragged down even further. This set the stage for a sluggish recovery with economic
conditions marked by high unemployment and lower consumer spending. These conditions are
expected to persist for all of 2011 and into 2012. A robust economy is not anticipated until the later
part of 2012 or the beginning of 2013, five years after the Great Recession had technically ended.

FY2009-10 FY2010-11  FY2011-12 FY2012-13

North Carolina Economic Indicators Actual Actual Projected  Projected

State Gross Product 3.40% 3.70% 3.60% 6.00%
Personal Income 1.60% 4.00% 4.20% 7.20%
Wages & Salaries -0.90% 2.70% 5.30% 6.90%
Retail Sales 0.80% 7.70% 5.00% 4.60%
Unemployment Rate 11.10% 9.90% 10.10% 9.40%
Employment (Nonagricultural) -4.00% 0.10% 0.30% 1.20%
Existing Single-family Home Sales 16.40% -17.30% 16.20% 24.40%

For North Carolina, as with the nation, the end of the recession did not begin a period of strong
employment gains. While the recession ended twelve months prior to the start of the fiscal year,
many key economic indicators suggested recession-like conditions were enduring across the State.
The State’s economy only added 39,200 private sector jobs to a workforce of nearly four million
and total wage and salary income increased by a modest 2.7 percent. By the end of the fiscal year,
there were still 270,000 fewer people employed than at the start of the recession. Some sectors
experienced modest growth, but employment in sectors tied to the housing market such as
construction and home furnishings continued to decline. The employment picture in the State
weakened during the fiscal year in concert with the global and national slowdown.

Projections for the State’s economic indicators reflect how the recovery in the State is expected
to unfold. Gross State Product, a broad measure of the State’s economic activity does not return to
the long-run average growth rate until FY 2012-13. This is indicative of the anticipated slow,
prolonged recovery in the State. Personal income is improving. For FY 2010-11, it rose 4.0 percent,
but the increase lags behind the growth of 6 to 7 percent experienced several years prior to the onset
of the Great Recession. Wage and salary income rebounded from a decline the previous year and
grew at 2.7 percent for the fiscal year. The modest rise in wage and salary income was consistent
with the losses in total employment coming to an end. Going forward, improved growth in total
income is projected. This growth will result from gradually improving employment, wage increases,
and increase in the number of hours worked. A return in wage and salary income to long-term
growth levels is forecast for 2012.

As with the nation, the recovery was tediously slow during FY 2010-11. The slow recovery
meant few jobs were being created and the unemployment rate at the end of the fiscal year was at
9.9 percent. Despite a weak economy and high unemployment, retail sales rebounded with 7.7
percent growth. The growth, while impressive, follows a 7.8 percent drop two years earlier and
almost no growth in FY 2009-10. Retail sales are expected to mirror the slow, gradual improvement
of the economy, but will rise to the long-term average growth rate of 5 percent at the start of 2012.
The increased projection in sales reflects the anticipated improvement in employment and
household incomes. o

As the State’s economy begins to turn the corner in the recovery, employment prospects are
gradually expected to improve, but a robust employment climate is not projected until 2013. Even
with the improving employment picture, growth will be slow and the unemployment rate will
remain elevated in the 9 to 10 percent range. By the end of calendar year 2011, only a few industries
are expected to experience growth over the previous year with net growth well below 1 percent. For
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2012, modest improvement is expected with total employment increasing at a rate of 1 percent by
the end of year. This level of growth will not be sufficient to lower the unemployment rate
significantly, and the rate is projected to average 10.1 percent for FY 2011-12, and 9.4 percent for
FY 2012-13.

In the last recession, manufacturing, particularly in the furniture and textile industries, shed jobs
at a rate of 10 percent per quarter. The State’s manufacturing sector again was vulnerable to the
recession and job losses in this industry sector reached double-digit levels. By the end of the fiscal
year, the manufacturing sector had added only 2,000 jobs and employed 98,000 fewer people than at
the start of the recession. Another hard hit industry has been the financial sector. The financial
market upheaval had a detrimental impact on this sector’s employment, but it began to rebound the
first half of 2010 and is now near pre-recession levels.

The housing recession and the subsequent adjustments in the real estate market have taken a
very long time to unwind. The housing recession that began in 2006, appeared to be ending at the
start of 2010. Existing home sales in the State saw double-digit growth the first-half of that year.
The second half of the year erased those gains and since then existing home sales have been losing
ground. Tough credit conditions, exacerbated by mounting foreclosures, continue to prolong the
return to a solid housing market. There has been some anticipation that low mortgage interest rates
may help with the recovery, but thus far, have had little noticeable impact despite being at record
lows. A turnaround in residential markets is projected by the spring of 2012 as market corrections
finally start to take hold.

The slow economic recovery that persisted throughout FY 2010-11, was largely due to structural
imbalances in the housing and financial sectors. These imbalances have had a profound affect on the
State’s economy and are taking a long time to correct. Ongoing weaknesses in the global economy
have exacerbated the pace of the economic recovery both in the US and the State. A return to a full
expansionary economy is not projected until the end of 2012, five years after the onset of the
recession. Until then, the housing market should begin to gradually improve and steady
improvements in household income and consumer spending are anticipated.

— Economic analysis prepared by Barry Boardman, Ph.D., Staff Economist
North Carolina General Assembly, Fiscal Research Division
October 14, 2011
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North Carolina continues to grow and to be an attractive place to live, to work, and to raise a
family.

- North Carolina’s population has grown by 1.49 million, or 18.2 percent over the last 10 years.

- Road lane miles have grown by 1,247 miles, or 1.6 percent since 2000, with an additional 725
bridges since 2002.

- State Highway Patrol vehicles have increased from 1,956 in 2002 to 2,580 in 2011.

- Private vehicles registered have grown from 7.34 million in 2001 to 8.34 million in 2011.

- K-12 public school enrollment has increased by 14.8 percent, from 1.286 million in 2002 to
1.476 million in 2011.

- University enrollment has increased by 38,386, or 23.6 percent over the last 10 years.

- Community college enrollment has increased by 97,389, or 63.8 percent over the last 10 years.

- Medicaid beneficiaries have grown by 129,462, or 8.4 percent over the last 7 years.

- Food stamp recipients have increased by 776,331, or 98.1 percent over the last 7 years.

- Incarcerated or supervised offenders have increased by 8,174 over the last 9 years.

- The number of employed have grown by 253,293, or 6.7 percent over the last 10 years.
However, the number of unemployed has grown by 250,569, or 127.3 percent. In 2011, the
unemployment rate is 9.9 percent. The unemployment rate was only 4.9 percent in 2001.

- Positions funded by the State budget have increased overall by 40,430, or 14.3 percent over
the last nine years. The largest areas of position growth occurred related to primary and
secondary education, 17,277 (12.3 percent growth); universities, 13,303 (26.8 percent growth);
community colleges, 5,787 (41.5 percent growth); and health and human services, 1,566 (8.3
percent growth).

- With an aging State workforce, accelerating numbers of retirements, lower investment rates of
return, lower funded levels, and rising healthcare costs, the obligations related to State-funded
pensions and retiree healthcare obligations continue to grow. For the Teachers’ and State
Employees’ Retirement System (TSER), the number of retirees/beneficiaries has grown from
107,743 in 2001, to 163,938 in 2011, an increase of 56,195, or 52.2 percent. Active
employees included in TSER have grown to 324,683, an 11.1 percent increase during the same
period. There are an additional 102,149 former employees that will be eligible for retirement
benefits in the future.

- State debt has increased from $3.06 billion in 2001, to $8.48 billion in 2011, an increase of
$5.4 billion, or 177.6 percent. Debt per capita has grown from $373 per capita to $890 per
capita during the same period.

- The taxpayer burden related to individual income tax has shifted by 5.6 percent from those
earning less than $75,000 in taxable income, to those earning more than $75,000 from 2000 to
2009. .

- The average effective state individual income tax rate has ranged from 3.1 percent to 2.6
percent from 2000 to 2009.

Effective for the year ended June 30, 2011, state and local governments were required to
implement GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type
Definitions. The objective of GASB Statement No. 54 is to enhance the usefulness of fund balance
information by providing clearer fund balance classifications that can be more consistently applied
and by clarifying the existing governmental fund type definitions. This statement establishes fund
balance classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which a
government is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources reported in
governmental funds, i.e., the General Fund, Highway Fund, Highway Trust Fund, other special
revenue funds, permanent funds, and capital projects funds.

A key feature of interest in this standard is a reevaluation of CAFR fund classification based on
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as defined by the GASB.
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An area of emphasis in GASB Statement No. 54 relates to the appropriate classification of
special revenue funds. Special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of
specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes
(other than debt service or capital projects). The term proceeds of specific revenue sources
establishes that one or more specific restricted or committed revenues should be the foundation for a
special revenue fund. Those specific restricted or committed revenues may be initially received in
another fund and subsequently distributed to a special revenue fund. Those amounts should not be
recognized as revenue in the fund initially receiving them; however, those inflows should be
recognized as revenue in the special revenue fund in which they will be expended in accordance
with specified purposes. Special revenue funds should not be used to account for resources held in
trust for individuals, private organizations, or other governments.

Historically, state and local governments have established hundreds of separate funds, even
though best practice is to strive to establish a minimum number of funds. GAAP-based financial
reporting standards do not require separate fund usage for either specific revenues or specific
activities. That is, GAAP does not require all restricted road and bridge taxes, for example, to be
reported in separate special revenue funds. Therefore, some governments report those revenues in
their general fund and while other governments may have used one or more funds. Similarly,
GAAP does not require governments to report their significant activities (or any other specific
function or program) in a separate fund.

The restricted or committed proceeds of specific revenue sources should be expected to continue
to comprise a substantial portion of the inflows reported in the fund. Other resources (investment
earnings and transfers from other funds, for example) also may be reported in the fund if those
resources are restricted, committed, or assigned to the specified purpose of the fund.

The following funds previously reported as special revenue funds are the significant examples of
funds reclassified to the General Fund as committed fund balance for GAAP reporting purposes in
the 2011 CAFR:

1. Clean Water Management Trust Fund— This fund is supported mostly by appropriations
transferred from the General Fund.

2. Health and Wellness Trust Fund — This fund is mostly supported with tobacco settlement
money transferred from the General Fund.

3. Tobacco Trust Fund — This fund is mostly supported with tobacco settlement money that
is transferred in from the General Fund.

4. Education Lottery Funds — The revenue support for this is the transfer from the North
Carolina State Lottery enterprise fund. Since the funds go to support the General Fund
operations for education, the fund will be presented in the General Fund.

5. Public School Building Capital Fund - This fund is funded by appropriations transferred
in from the General Fund.

6. Educational Materials and School Buses Fund —This is mostly funded by appropriations

' from the General Fund.

These proposed reclassifications would have no affect on the State’s budgetary basis fund
availability.
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In April 2004, GASB issued Statement No. 43, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit
Plans Other Than Pension Plans (effective for fiscal year 2006-07), and in June 2004, GASB issued
Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits
Other Than Pensions (effective for fiscal year 2007-08).

The actuarial data for the retiree healthcare benefit plan is disclosed in Note 14, Other
Postemployment Benefits, based on the disclosure requirements for a cost-sharing, multiple-
employer plan, and is also presented as required supplementary information (RSI). Based on the
disclosure requirements of a cost-sharing, multiple-employer plan, the unfunded actuarial liability is
not recorded as an accounting liability.

The State retiree healthcare benefit is currently funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, with minimal
additional accumulation of funds to pay the retiree health benefit. Based on the current funding
method with limited accumulation of funds, the actuarial assumptions reflect a short-term discount
rate of 4.25 percent. The December 31, 2010 actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit cost
method indicated an accrued liability of $33.495 billion for the retiree healthcare plan ($32.839
billion unfunded), with an annual required contribution (ARC) of $2.911 billion.

Participating employers in the retiree health care benefit plan include the primary government
state employees, local education agencies (LEAs), the University of North Carolina System,
community colleges, and several local governments. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, retiree
healthcare employer contributions were $743.659 million, representing an annual increase of 9.56
percent. Retiree healthcare premium costs paid to the State Health Plan were $652.627 million,
representing an annual increase of 13.03 percent. Plan net assets of $703.959 million represent an
increase of $97.923 million, or 16.16 percent from the prior year.

Over the last several years, momentum and focus has grown related to the need for improved
timeliness of financial reporting for state and local governments. In addition to, and in concert with,
statements made by representatives of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC),
representatives of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), the Government
Finance Officers Association (GFOA), the National Association of State Auditors, Comptrollers,
and Treasurers (NASACT), the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA), and
the municipal bond industry have begun to emphasize the need for improved timeliness. The most
basic accounting principles recognize that financial information must be timely in order to be
relevant and useful to decision-makers.

Currently, state and local governments, and colleges and universities, must issue their financial
statements by December 31 in order to meet GFOA Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting Award standards. SEC guidance requires that publicly-traded companies report
within 60 to 90 days of fiscal year end. A national sample of comparable public state universities
with June 30 year ends, reflect financial statements issued as early as September 10, with commonly
found issue dates on or before September 30.

Various state governments have established goals for improved timeliness to span over the next
two to three years. Four months following the fiscal year end has been mentioned as a target date
for acceptable timeliness for state governments. With October 31 as a reference for completion, all
financial information for entities falling within the state government reporting entity must be
completed on an accelerated schedule as well. Each branch of reporting must accelerate in order for
the top level government to have more timely reporting. Additionally, actuarial studies must be
completed sooner, year-end budgets must be closed more expeditiously, accounting system
processes must be streamlined, and audit contracts and schedules must be amended.

GASB continues to issue new accounting and financial reporting guidance. With limited
resources to implement new standards, more lead time to implement will be necessary. As most
state governments operate on a cash budgetary basis, specific emphasis must be directed towards the
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year-end GAAP conversion process, data compilation from various entities outside of the State’s
primary accounting system, and methods of estimation.

Given this new emphasis, all aspects of the accounting and reporting functions of the State and
its component units must be evaluated with timeliness in mind. The State has begun the process of
review and improvement. As a triple-A rated state, and as a leader in the state government financial
community, we are committed to taking the necessary steps to make our financial statements more
relevant, useful, and timely.

In July, GASB issued two Exposure Drafts proposing changes to financial reporting of pensions
by state and local governments: Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Financial
Reporting for Pension Plans. The documents offer amendments to the existing pension standards
and changes how the costs and obligations associated with the pensions that governments provide
to their employees are calculated and reported. Under the proposal, all assumptions of returns and
costs would be consistent with the American Academy of Actuaries' Actuarial Standards of
Practice, unless otherwise specified by the GASB.

The first Exposure Draft, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions (AFRP Draft),
primarily relates to reporting by governments that provide pensions to their employees. A
second related Exposure Draft, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans, (FRPP Draff), addresses the
reporting by the pension plans that administer those benefits.

The AFRP Draft provides that governments are to be required to report in their statement of
financial position a net pension liability (the difference between the total pension liability and net
assets (primarily investments reported at fair value) set aside in a qualified trust to pay benefits to
current employees, retirees, and their beneficiaries). It also proposes changes to the manner in
which a government would calculate its total pension liability and pension expense including:

o Immediate recognition of more components of pension expense than is currently
required, including the effect on the pension liability of changes in benefit terms,
rather than deferral and amortization over as many as 30 years which is common for
funding purposes.

e Use of a discount rate that combines (a) the expected long-term rate of return on
pension plan investments for which plan assets are expected to be available to make
projected benefit payments and (b) the interest rate on a tax-exempt 30-year AA/Aa-
or-higher rated municipal bond index to projected benefit payments for which plan
assets are not expected to be available for long-term investment in a qualified trust.

e A single actuarial cost allocation method “entry age normal” rather than the current
choice among six actuarial cost methods.

e Requiring governments participating in cost-sharing multiple employer pension plans
to record a liability equal to their proportionate share of any net pension liability for
the cost-sharing plan as a whole.

e Requiring governments in all types of covered pension plans to present more extensive
note disclosures and required supplementary information.

The FRPP Draft, which addresses financial reporting for plans that are administered through
qualified trusts, outlines the basic framework for the separately issued financial reports of defined
benefit pension plans. It also details proposed note disclosure requirements for defined contribution
pension plans.

The intent of the proposed changes is to make it easier to compare the health of pension funds
from one state to the next. One set of proposed changes relates to the accounting methods used by
states to calculate their pension liabilities. Under GASB’s current reporting standards, governments
can choose from six different accounting methods. Contrary to the current process, the new rules
would have all states using the same method. The current system takes a “funding-based” approach
that focuses on how much states pay into the pension fund each year. The new system would take an
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“accounting-based” approach that employs a longer-term view to ensure that the overall costs of
providing benefits are accounted for.

Other proposed changes relate to how pension funds calculate investment returns. Differences
between projected earnings on pension plan investments and actual earnings would be deferred and
incorporated into the pension expense calculation over five years. In addition, governments would
no longer be able to use historical rates of return to determine their long-term liabilities if they
haven’t set aside enough money to pay retirees. Instead, states will have to use a combination of a
historical rate of return and a lower rate pegged to the municipal bond market, which will make
their long-term liabilities appear larger.

Currently, governmental reporting standards do not require that future pension liabilities be
included or disclosed on a governmental balance sheet. Instead, those details can be included in the
financial statements notes. Under the new rules, this information will appear in the body of a state’s
balance sheet. As a result, policy makers, lawmakers, investors, the press and public would be
provided with a more transparent perspective of the state’s fiscal condition.

It is very important to note that the proposals will have the effect of making a state’s long-term
finances appear to be worse because the unfunded liability has not previously been on the balance
sheet; it has been disclosed, but only in the notes, not on the balance sheet. Adding a large liability
to the balance sheet will make the government's net position lower, and give the appearance that it is
in a weaker position. The economic reality, of course, is that nothing has changed except the
presentation of the report.

Hurricane Irene made landfall in eastern North Carolina on August 27. Early estimated losses
totaled approximately $425 million (including $320 million related to agriculture and crop damage).
Residents in 38 counties are eligible for federal individual assistance for recovery costs and 37
counties are eligible for federal public assistance including low-interest loans and grants to help
individuals and public entities recover. In addition, farmers in 42 counties are eligible for disaster
assistance from the United States Agriculture Department.

The State will provide funds to satisfy the matching requirement for federal assistance. This
25% match requirement is only applied to the non-agriculture damage that has occurred, which at
this point is approximately $29.66 million (based on estimates of $139.1 million in damage to non-
agriculture entities). It is anticipated the 25% match will be paid out over a number of fiscal years.

The 2004 General Assembly passed legislation creating the Debt Affordability Advisory
Committee. The Committee is charged, on an annual basis, with advising the Governor and the
General Assembly of the estimated debt capacity of the State for the upcoming 10 fiscal years.

The Committee produces the Debt Affordability Study on an annual basis. The report was
created to serve as a tool for sound debt management practices by the State of North Carolina. The
report provides the Governor and the General Assembly with a basis for assessing the impact of
future debt issuance on the State's fiscal position and enables informed decision-making regarding
both financing proposals and capital spending priorities. The report also provides a methodology
for measuring, monitoring and managing the State's debt levels. The concept of debt affordability is
widely regarded as an essential management tool. The methodology used in the study to analyze the
State’s debt position incorporates historical and future trends in debt levels, peer group comparisons
and provides recommendations within adopted guidelines. The study also provides
recommendations regarding other debt management related policies considered desirable and
consistent with the sound management of the State’s debt. Such recommendations were developed
by incorporating management practices consistent with those utilized by the most highly rated
states.
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The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA)
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the State of North
Carolina for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2010. This was the 17" consecutive year (1994 to 2010) the State has received the prestigious
national award recognizing conformance with the highest standards for preparation of state and
local government financial reports.

In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily
readable and efficiently organized Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, whose contents
conform to program standards. The CAFR must satisfy both generally accepted accounting
principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current
report continues to conform to the Certificate of Achievement program requirements, and we are
submitting it to the GFOA.

In conclusion, we believe this report provides useful data to all parties using it in evaluating the
financial activity of the State of North Carolina. We in the Office of the State Controller express
our appreciation to the financial officers throughout the State and to the Office of the State Auditor
for their dedicated efforts in assisting us in the preparation of this report. Any questions concerning
the information contained in this report should be directed to the Office of the State Controller at
(919) 981-5454.

Respectfully submitted,

el ’/.‘a\ca,

David T. McCoy
State Controller

December 8, 2011
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

Office of the State Auditor

2 S. Salisbury Street
20601 Mail Service Center
Raleigh, NC 27699-0601

— . Telephone: (919) 807-7500
Beth A. Wooq, CPA Fax: (919) 807-7647
State Auditor Internet http://www.ncauditor.net

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Honorable Beverly E. Perdue, Governor
The General Assembly of North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and
the aggregate remaining fund information of the State of North Carolina, as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2011, which collectively comprise the State’s basic financial statements as listed in
the table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the State of North
Carolina’s management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements
based on our audit. We did not audit the following:

o The financial statements of the North Carolina State Lottery Fund, which is a major enterprise
fund and represents 2 percent and 25 percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the
business-type activities.

e The financial statements of the North Carolina Turnpike Authority, which is a major enterprise
fund and represents 40 percent and 0.45 percent, respectively, of the assets and revenues of the
business-type activities.

e The financial statements of the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency, which represent
6 percent, 3 percent, and 3 percent, respectively, of the assets, net assets, and revenues of the
aggregate discretely presented component units.

e The financial statements of the State Education Assistance Authority, which represent
15 percent, 3 percent, and 2 percent, respectively, of the assets, net assets, and revenues of the
aggregate discretely presented component units.

e The financial statements of the University of North Carolina System - University of North
Carolina Health Care System - Rex Healthcare, which represent 2 percent, 2 percent, and
4 percent, respectively, of the assets, net assets, and revenues of the aggregate discretely
presented component units.

o The financial statements of the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina, which
represent 6 percent, 6 percent, and 5 percent, respectively, of the assets, net assets, and revenues
of the aggregate remaining fund information.

e Cash basis claims and benefits of the State Health Plan, which represent 17 percent of the
expenses of the aggregate discretely presented component units.

The financial statements and transactions listed above were audited by other auditors whose reports
thereon have been furnished to us, and our opinions, insofar as they relate to these amounts, are
based on the reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. The financial statements of the State Education Assistance
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Authority, the University of North Carolina System - University of North Carolina Health Care
System - Rex Healthcare, and the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina were not
audited in accordance with Government Audit Standards. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit and the
reports of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred
to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the State of North Carolina, as of
June 30, 2011, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where applicable,
thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

As discussed in Note 23 to the financial statements, the State implemented Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 54 - Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund
Type Definitions and Statement No. 59 - Financial Instruments Omnibus during the year ended
June 30, 2011.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we will also issue our report dated
December 8, 2011 on our consideration of the State of North Carolina’s internal control over
financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of
that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit. The report on
internal control and on compliance and other matters will be published at a later date in the State of
North Carolina’s Single Audit Reporit.

The management’s discussion and analysis and required supplementary information, as listed in the
table of contents, are not required parts of the basic financial statements but are supplementary
information required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. We and the other auditors
have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management
regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information.
However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the State of North Carolina’s basic financial statements. The introductory
section, the combining fund financial statements and schedules, and the statistical section are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements. The combining fund financial statements and schedules have been subjected to the
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, are
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
by us and the other auditors in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we
express no opinion on them.

ool A vand

Beth A. Wood, CPA
State Auditor

December 8, 2011
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A)

The following is a narrative overview and analysis of the State of North Carolina’s (the State)
financial performance for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. Please read it in conjunction with the
transmittal letter at the front of this report and with the State's financial statements, which follow this
section.

Government-wide Financial Statements:

— The State’s total net assets increased by $2.064 billion or 6.48% as a result of this year’s
operations. Net assets of governmental activities increased by $2.162 billion, or 6.71%, due in part
to spending reductions and the slow economic and revenue recovery. Net assets of business-type
activities decreased by $98.189 million, or 26.39%, due to a substantial operating loss in the
Unemployment Compensation Fund. At year-end, net assets of governmental activities and
business-type activities totaled $34.365 billion and negative $470.257 million, respectively.

— Component units reported net assets of $19.122 billion, an increase of $1.741 billion or 10.02%
from the previous year. The majority of the net asset increase is attributable to the University of
North Carolina System, a major component unit.

Fund Financial Statements:

— The fund balance of the General Fund nearly doubled from $594.653 million at June 30, 2010 (as
restated) to $1.184 billion at June 30, 2011. This improvement is attributable primarily to agency
allotment reductions.

— The fund balance of the Highway Fund decreased from $780.964 million at June 30, 2010 (as
restated) to $647.962 million at June 30, 2011, a decrease of 17.03%. A focus on completing
projects funded from the latest GARVEE bond issuance contributed to the decrease.

— The fund balance of the Highway Trust Fund increased from $47.498 million at June 30, 2010 (as
restated) to $186.866 million at June 30, 2011.

— The net assets of the Unemployment Compensation Fund decreased from negative $1.701 billion at
June 30, 2010 to negative $1.969 billion at June 30, 2011. The decrease is directly related to the
decline in the state and national economies. The state unemployment rate was 9.9% in June 2011.

— Net ticket sales of the N.C. State Lottery Fund (Lottery) increased 2.82% from the previous fiscal
year to $1.46 billion. As required by law, the Lottery’s net profit of $436.241 million was
transferred to the General Fund to support educational programs.

— The net assets of the N.C. Turnpike Authority increased from $99.285 million at June 30, 2010 to
$190.34 million at June 30, 2011. The Triangle Expressway System, the first toll facility in North
Carolina, is under construction and will include electronic tolling systems. The project is currently
on schedule and estimated to be completed as planned.

Capital Assets:

— The State’s investment in capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) was $40.208 billion, an
increase of 5.76% from the previous fiscal year-end.

— This year’s major capital asset additions were for State highway system construction ($2 billion),
toll road construction ($383 million), construction of correctional facilities ($89.8 million), and
construction of the Green Square Complex ($56.5 million).

Long-term Debt: . ‘

— The State had total long-term debt outstanding (bonds, special indebtedness, and notes payable) of
$8.461 billion, an increase of 4.43% from the previous fiscal year-end. The State issued $500
million in limited obligation bonds for its governmental activities. Additionally, the N.C. Turnpike
Authority, a business-type activity, issued $233.92 million in revenue bonds and had additional
borrowings of $195.8 million from a federal transportation loan.

— In February 2011, all three rating agencies affirmed the triple-A credit rating for the State. The
rating agencies recognized the State’s proactive responses and history of taking early action to
mitigate the impact of revenue declines. North Carolina remains one of only eight states with a
triple-A rating from all three rating agencies.
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is an introduction to the State’s basic financial statements, which
comprise three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and
3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains additional required supplementary
information (General Fund budgetary schedule, pension and other postemployment benefits funding
progress and contributions) and other supplementary information (combining financial statements) in
addition to the basic financial statements. These components are described below.

Government-wide Financial Statements

The Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities are two financial statements that report
information about the State, as a whole, and about its activities that should help answer this question: Is
the State, as a whole, better off or worse off as a result of this year’s activities? These statements
include all non-fiduciary assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting. The current year’s
revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid. The
Statement of Net Assets (page 54) presents all of the State’s assets and liabilities, with the difference
between the two reported as “net assets.” Over time, increases and decreases in net assets measure
whether the State’s financial position is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities (pages 56 and 57) presents information showing how the State’s net
assets changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the
underlying events giving rise to the change occur, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Therefore, revenues and expenses are reported in these statements for some items that will only result in
cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g. uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Both statements report three activities:
Governmental Activities — Most of the State’s basic services are reported under this category. Taxes and
intergovernmental revenues generally fund these services.

Business-type Activities — The State charges fees to customers to help it cover all or most of the cost of
certain services it provides. The State’s Unemployment Compensation Fund, the EPA Revolving Loan
Fund, the N.C. State Lottery Fund, and the N.C. Turnpike Authority are the predominant business-type
activities.

Discretely Presented Component Units — Component units are legally separate organizations for which
the elected officials of the primary government are financially accountable. A description of the
component units and an address for obtaining their separately issued financial statements can be found
beginning on page 78. All component units are combined and displayed in a separate discrete column in
the government-wide financial statements to emphasize their legal separateness from the State. In
addition, financial statements for major component units are presented in the notes to the financial
statements (pages 165 and 166).

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the State’s most significant
funds (i.e., major funds) — not the State as a whole. A fund is a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-
balancing set of accounts that the State uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending
for particular purposes. In addition to the major funds, page 190 begins the individual fund data for the
nonmajor funds. The State's funds are divided into three categories, governmental, proprietary, and
fiduciary, and they use different accounting approaches.

Governmental funds -- Most of the State's basic services are reported in the governmental funds,
which focus on how cash and other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash flow in
and out (i.e., inflows and outflows of spendable resources) and the balances left at year-end that are
available for spending (i.e., balances of spendable resources). Consequently, the governmental fund
financial statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps users determine whether there are
more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the State's
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programs. The State prepares the governmental fund financial statements using the modified
accrual basis of accounting and a current financial resources measurement focus. Because this
information does not encompass the additional long-term focus of the government-wide statements,
a reconciliation schedule, which follows each of the governmental fund financial statements,
explains the relationships (or differences) between them. Information is presented separately in the
governmental fund financial statements for the General Fund, the Highway Fund, and the Highway
Trust Fund, all of which are considered to be major funds. Data for all other governmental funds
are combined into a single aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these nonmajor
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

Proprietary funds -- When the State charges customers for the services it provides, whether to
outside customers or to agencies within the State, these services are generally reported in
proprietary funds. Proprietary funds (enterprise and internal service) utilize accrual accounting,
which is the same method used by private sector businesses. Enterprise funds are used to report
activities for which fees are charged to external users for goods and services. The Unemployment
Compensation Fund, the EPA Revolving Loan Fund, the N.C. State Lottery Fund, and the N.C.
Turnpike Authority are our most significant enterprise funds. Internal service funds are used to
report activities that provide goods and services to the State’s other programs and activities on a
cost-reimbursement basis, such as the State Property Fire Insurance Fund, the Motor Fleet
Management Fund, Computing Services Fund, and the State Telecommunications Services Fund.
Because the State’s internal service funds predominantly benefit governmental rather than
business-type functions, they have been included within governmental activities in the government-
wide financial statements.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial
statements, only in more detail. Information is presented separately in the proprietary fund financial
statements for the Unemployment Compensation Fund, the EPA Revolving Loan Fund, the N.C.
State Lottery Fund, and the N.C. Turnpike Authority, all of which are considered to be major
funds. Conversely, separately aggregated columns are presented for the nonmajor enterprise funds
and the internal service funds. Individual fund data for the nonmajor enterprise funds and internal
service funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

Fiduciary funds — Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties
outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial
statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the State’s own
programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. The
State's fiduciary activities are reported in separate Statements of Fiduciary Net Assets and Changes
in Fiduciary Net Assets. These funds include pension and other employee benefit trust funds,
private-purpose trust funds, investment trust funds, and agency funds.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided
in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can be
found beginning on page 76 of this report.

Required Supplementary Information

Required Supplementary Information (RSI) follows the basic financial statements and notes to the
financial statements. The RSI is mandated by the GASB and includes General Fund budgetary
comparison schedules reconciling the statutory to the generally accepted accounting principles fund
balances at fiscal year-end, and pension plan and other postemployment benefits trend information
related to funding progress and contributions.

Other Supplementary Information

Other supplementary information includes the introductory section; combining financial statements
for nonmajor governmental funds, nonmajor enterprise funds, internal service funds, fiduciary funds,
and nonmajor discretely presented component units; a statement of cash flows for the State Health Plan,
a major component unit, which does not issue separate financial statements; and the statistical section.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE STATE AS A WHOLE

Over time, increases or decreases in net assets serve as a useful indicator of whether a government’s
financial position is improving or deteriorating. The State’s combined net assets increased $2.064
billion or 6.48% over the course of this fiscal year’s operations. The net assets of the governmental
activities increased $2.162 billion or 6.71% and business-type activities decreased $98.189 million or
26.39%. The following table was derived from the government-wide Statement of Net Assets:

Net Assets
June 30, 2011 and 2010

(dollars in thousands)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
2010 2010 2010
. 2011 (as restated) 2011 (as restated) 2011 (as restated)
Current and other non-
current assets $ 8911769 $ 9222316 $ 2,900,808 $ 2,726,646 $ 11,812,577 § 11,948,962
Capital assets, net.............ccoevvciiininenenne 39,469,307 37,659,938 738,504 357,282 40,207,811 38,017,220
Total t 48,381,076 46,882,254 3,639,312 3,083,928 52,020,388 49,966,182
Long-term liabilities..............ccovvrcenninnnee 8,940,440 8,933,583 3,704,985 2,878,252 12,645,425 11,811,835
Other liabilities 5,075,325 5,745,701 404,584 577,744 5,479,909 6,323,445
Total liabilities. 14,015,765 14,679,284 4,109,569 3,455,996 18,125,334 18,135,280
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets,
net of related debt...........c.ccooereeerervreenne 37,419,430 35,658,528 294,158 173,375 37,713,588 35,831,903
Restricted 729,100 704,715 3,131 1,081,220 732,231 1,785,935
Unrestricted (3,783,219) (4,160,273) (767,546) (1,626,663) (4,550,765) (5,786,936)
Total net t $ 34,365311 $ 32,202,970 §$ (470,257) $ (372,068) § 33,895,054 §$ 31,830,902

The largest component of the State’s net assets ($37.714 billion) reflects its investment in capital
assets (land, buildings, machinery and equipment, state highway system, and other capital assets), less
related debt still outstanding that was used to acquire or construct those assets. Restricted net assets are
the next largest component ($732.231 million). Net assets are restricted when constraints placed on
their use are 1) externally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments or 2) legally imposed through constitutional provisions. The remaining portion,
unrestricted net assets, consists of net assets that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or “invested
in capital assets, net of related debt.”

The government-wide statement of net assets for governmental activities reflects a negative $3.783
billion unrestricted net asset balance. The State of North Carolina, like many other state and local
governments, issues general obligation debt and special indebtedness and distributes the proceeds to
local governments and component units. The proceeds are used to construct new buildings and renovate
and modernize existing buildings on the State’s community college and university campuses, assist
county governments in meeting their public school building capital needs, and to provide grants and
loans to local governments for clean water and natural gas projects. Of the $7.626 billion of bonds and
special indebtedness outstanding for governmental activities at June 30, 2011, $5.5 billion is
attributable to debt issued as state aid to component units (universities and community colleges) and
local governments. The balance sheets of component unit and local government recipients reflect
ownership of the related constructed capital assets without the burden of recording the debt obligation.
The policy of selling general obligation bonds and funneling the cash proceeds to non-primary
government (non-State) entities has been in place for decades. However, by issuing such debt, the State
is left to reflect significant liabilities on its statement of net assets (reflected in the unrestricted net asset
component) without the benefit of recording the capital assets constructed or acquired with the proceeds
from the debt issuances. Additionally, as of June 30, 2011, the State’s governmental activities have
significant unfunded liabilities for a court judgment payable of $731.703 million and compensated
absences of $412.619 million (see Note 8 to the financial statements). In 2008, a Superior Court judge
ruled that certain civil fines and penalties should have been remitted to North Carolina public schools
and not diverted to other uses. These unfunded liabilities also contribute to the negative unrestricted net
asset balance for governmental activities.
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The following financial information was derived from the government-wide Statement of Activities
and reflects how the State’s net assets changed during the fiscal year:

Changes in Net Assets
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2011 and 2010

(dollars in thousands)

Governmental Business-type Total Primary
Activities Activities Government
2010 2010 2010
2011 (as restated) 2011 (as restated) 2011 (as restated)

Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for Services.............ovemerernnennnes $ 2078118 $ 2075743 § 2898845 $ 2,598612 §$§ 4976963 § 4674355
Operating grants and contributions.... 15,632,258 15,837,802 2,998,114 3,251,109 18,630,372 19,088,911
Capital grants and contributions........ 1,198,549 . 711,433 11,687 7,771 1210236 719,204
General revenues:
Taxes

Individual income tax... 10,020,535 9,345,441 — — 10,020,535 9,345,441

Corporate income tax.. 1,132,931 1,252,800 — — 1,132,931 1,252,800

Sales and use tax........ 6,172,377 5,916,119 — — 6172377 5,916,119

Gasoline tax.... 1,675,476 1,657,430 - — 1675476 1,657,430

Franchise tax.... 794,091 904,651 - — 794,091 904,651

Highway use tax.. 469,811 439,506 — — 469811 439,506

Insurance tax.... 501,032 506,990 — —_ 501,032 506,990

Beverage tax... 311,809 295,383 - — 311,809 295,383

Inheritance tax..... 24,184 71,731 — - 24,184 7,731

Tobacoo products tax.. 291,699 278,406 — — 291,699 278,406

Other tases............ 301,217 - 321,945 - — 301,217 321,945
Tobacoo settement..... 131,318 145,539 - - 131318 145,539
Unrestricted investment eamings.. . 32,980 28,645 — — 32,980 28,645
Miscellaneous.............ccorimeiirecincnneeenenees 45014 37,253 3 — 45017 37,253
Total revi 40,813,399 39,726,817 5,908,649 5857492 46,722 048 45,584,309
Expenses:
General government..............o.cove.. 1,123,257 1,065,584 — — 1123257 1,065,584
Primary and secondary education. 10,006,402 9,830,183 — — 10,006,402 9,830,183
Higher education.................... 4,308,475 4,232,266 —_ — 4308475 4,232,266
Health and human services.... 16,837,927 16,762,910 — - 16,837,927 16,762,910
Economic development.................. 744,796 716,224 — - 744,79 716,224
Environment and natural resources 608,903 526,178 —_ —_ 608,903 526,178
Public safety, corrections and regulation 2,796,375 2,616,888 —_ — 2,796 375 2,616,888
Transportation..... 2,177,142 1,998,234 — — 2177142 1,998,234
Agriculture. .......... 114,474 118,847 - — 114 474 118,847
Interest on long-term debit... 307,917 281,058 — — 307,917 281,058
Unemployment compensation — — 4,420,762 5,568,561 4,420,762 5,568,561
NC. State Lottery........ — — 1,028,536 994,168 1,028,536 994,168
EPA Revolving Loan. — — 42,897 30,940 42897 30,940
N.C. Tumpike Authority... —_ — 4,940 4990 4940 4,990
Regulatory programs... - — 78,653 67,330 78,653 67,330
Insurance programs.... —_ — 36,885 13,118 36,885 13,118
North Carolina State Fair — — 13,595 12,794 13,595 12,794
Other business-type activities.................c..ce. — — 9,148 9,563 9,148 9,563
Total exp 39,025,668 38,148,372 5,635,416 6,701,464 44 661,084 44,849,836
Increase (decrease)in net assets before

contributions and transfers......... 1,787,731 1,578,445 273,233 (843,972) 2,060,964 734,473
Contributions to permanent funds... 3,188 3,101 - —_ 3,188 3,101
Transfers........cooveiveemeeneennenens 371,422 434,067 (371,422 (434.067) — o
Increase (decrease) in net assets.. 2,162,341 2,015,613 (98,189) (1,278,039) 2,064,152 737,574
Net assets - beginning - restated... 32,202,970 30,187,357 (372,068) 905,971 31,830,902 31,093,328

Netassets - ending..............c........ ... $ 34365311 $ 32202970 $ (470257) $ (372,068) $ 33895054 § 31,830,902
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Governmental
Activities

The State’s total revenues for governmental activities grew more rapidly than total expenses during
fiscal year 2011. Revenues increased by 2.74% ($1.09 billion), while total expenses increased by 2.3%
($877.3 million). The small growth in revenues is attributable mainly to the slow economic and revenue
recovery and additional federal funding for transportation improvement projects.

On February 17, 2009 the U.S. Congress enacted the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of
2009 (ARRA). A direct response to the economic crisis, the ARRA has three immediate goals: 1) create
new jobs as well as save existing ones, 2) spur economic activity and invest in long-term economic
growth, and 3) foster unprecedented levels of accountability and transparency in government spending.
To help achieve these goals, the ARRA provides supplemental funding to states for budget stabilization,
entitlement programs (Medicaid and extension’ of unemployment benefits), and other purposes. The
ARRA specifies that funds be distributed over three years: 2009, 2010, and 2011. In response to this
legislation, the Governor established the North Carolina Office of Economic Recovery and Investment
to coordinate the State’s handling of ARRA funds and state-level economic recovery initiatives. During
the 2011 fiscal year, the State’s governmental activities recognized $2.27 billion of ARRA funds
(federal recovery funds), which are included in operating grants and contributions (i.e., program
revenues). '

The following chart reflects the dollar change in the revenues by source of governmental activities
between fiscal years 2010 and 2011:

Dollar Change in Governmental Activities Revenues by Source
Between Fiscal Years 2010 and 2011

Charges for services

Operating grants and contributions $(206)
Capital grants and contributions
Individual income tax

Corporate income tax

Sales and use tax

Highway use tax

Other revenues

$(350) $(250) $(150) $(50) $50 $150 $250 $350 $450 $550 $650 $750
(dollars in millions)

For fiscal year 2011, spending increased in almost all of the State’s functional areas, with the only
exception being agriculture. The growth in health and human services is related to increased spending
for Medicaid (the State’s largest public assistance program). The State experienced higher enrollment in
the Medicaid program due to increased unemployment and additional consumption of Medicaid
services. Also, as of July 1, 2009, the State assumed 100% of the county share of Medicaid, completing
the phase-out of the county share. Because the State receives federal matching funds for the Medicaid
Program, there was also a corresponding increase in operating grants and contributions (i.e., program
revenues).

Medicaid is a federal entitlement program, which means individuals found eligible for Medicaid
have legal rights to receive services and cannot be denied coverage by the State. In North Carolina,
Medicaid is administered by the State and counties and financed with federal and State funds. Medicaid
serves as the State’s safety net program for eligible individuals who lose jobs and health insurance
coverage. As such, it is sensitive to economic volatility. Higher growth rates occur during years of
economic distress and when major Medicaid expansions are enacted. Lower growth rates occur when
the Medicaid eligible population is stable or declining.
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The growth in primary and secondary education is due, in part, to the spending of ARRA funds for
fiscal stabilization and the “Race to the Top” program. The growth in higher education is related to
unanticipated enrollment increases, particularly in the Community College System. Community college
enrollment increased by 34,000 students (15%), the result of greater demand for worker training
programs. Also, the increase can be attributed to operating costs of new buildings and increased
financial aid. Nonetheless, the higher education growth rate was restrained by reductions in State
funding. Higher education expenses are financed primarily by State appropriations. The North Carolina
State Constitution provides that “the benefits of the University North Carolina and other public
institutions of higher education, as far as practicable, be extended to the people of the State free of
expense.”

The following chart reflects the dollar change in the functional expenses of governmental activities
between fiscal years 2010 and 2011:

Dollar Change in Governmental Activities Functional Expenses
Between Fiscal Years 2010 and 2011

General govemment

Primary and secondary education ; $176
Highereducation

Health and human services
Economic development

tand

Public safety, corrections and regulation $179

Transportation $179
Agriculture

Interest on long-term debt

$(25) $25 $75 $125 $175 $225

(dollars in millions)

The 2007 Session of the General Assembly enacted legislation requiring the State to assume the
counties’ share of the nonfederal share of Medicaid costs over a three-year period, beginning October 1,
2007. To provide resources to assume these costs, the legislation phases out the local sales tax by one-
half cent and makes a corresponding increase in the State sales tax rate. Below is a schedule of the
Medicaid funding changes and the shift in local sales tax to the State:

Date Medicaid Funding Change Shift Local Sales Tax to State
10-01-07 | State assumes 25% of counties’ share

7-01-08 | State assumes 50% of counties’ share
10-01-08 50% of Y% local sales tax is shifted to State
7-01-09 | State assumes 100% of counties’ share
10-01-09 Remaining 50% is shifted to State
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Business-type
Activities

The following chart depicts the total expenses and total program revenues of the State’s
governmental functions. This format identifies the extent to which each governmental function is self-
financing through fees and intergovernmental aid or draws from the general revenues of the State.

Expenses - Governmental Activities
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

Millions

$18,000 -
$17,000
$16,000
$15,000
::;:z:: DExpenses
$12,000
$11,000 BProgram Revenues (excluding Capital
$10,000 Grants)

$9,000

$8,000

$7,000

$6,000

$5,000

$4,000 B

$3,000

$2,000

$1,000

General Primary and Highereducaion Health and Economic  Environmentand Public safety, Transportation Agricultue Interestonlong-
government secondary human services development natural corrections, and termdebt
education resources regulation

Business-type activities reflect an overall decrease in net assets of $98.189 million or 26.39%,
primarily because of the financial results of the Unemployment Compensation Fund. For fiscal year
2011, the Unemployment Compensation Fund had an operating loss (excess of operating expenses over
operating revenues) of $3.074 billion. Also, nonoperating revenues of the Unemployment
Compensation Fund included noncapital grants of $2.271 billion and federal recovery funds of
$599.562 million, which were used to provide extended benefits to unemployed workers. The
Unemployment Compensation Fund and the EPA Revolving Loan Fund comprise most of the total net
assets of business-type activities. The N.C. State Lottery Fund has no net assets since its net profits are
distributed to the State’s governmental activities, as required by statute. A more detailed discussion of
the State’s business-type enterprise activities is provided in the following section (see Enterprise

Funds).
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Governmental
Funds

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE STATE’S FUNDS

The State uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

The focus of the State’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows,
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. As of the end of the fiscal year, the State’s governmental
funds reported combined ending fund balances of $3.63 billion, an increase of 12.77% from the prior
fiscal year-end (as restated). The primary contributor to the increase was the General Fund, which had a
$589.052 million net change in fund balance in fiscal year 2010-11. The major governmental funds are
discussed individually below.

General Fund

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the State. The fund balance of the General Fund
nearly doubled from $594.653 million at June 30, 2010 (as restated) to $1.184 billion at June 30, 2011.
Individual income tax and sales and use tax revenues increased by 7.22% and 4.48% respectively, while
corporate income tax revenues decreased by 8.5%. An individual income tax surcharge of 2% or 3%
was imposed on taxpayers who meet certain income requirements for tax years beginning on or after
January 1, 2009. The surtax expired for tax years beginning January 1, 2011. The State’s high
unemployment rate continued to have a negative impact on collections. The Department of Revenue
saw a significant increase in “no-remit” individual income tax returns and “under-remit” individual
income tax returns in 2011. A temporary increase in the general sales tax from 4.5% to 5.5% was
imposed effective September 1, 2009. The surtax expired on July 1, 2011. The State realized a full 12
months of collections of the additional 1% sales and use tax during fiscal year 2010-11. A corporate
income tax surcharge of 3% was imposed on corporations subject to income tax for tax years beginning
on or after January 1, 2009. The surtax expired for tax years beginning January 1, 2011. Corporate
income tax revenues were higher in the previous fiscal year, due in part to efforts by the Department of
Revenue to generate additional revenue through its Resolution Initiative Project that was completed in
December 2009. This project was designed to resolve all outstanding corporate and franchise tax issues
for participating taxpayers.

During fiscal year 2011, the General Fund recognized $1.791 billion in federal recovery funds,
provided under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA). ARRA includes two
key funding streams for states, the State Fiscal Stabilization Fund (SFSF) and increased federal
participation in Medicaid (FMAP). The SFSF is a one-time federal appropriation intended to help
stabilize state and local government budgets in order to minimize layoffs and disruptions in education
and other essential public services. The FMAP is a temporary increase to states in the federal share of
Medicaid costs. Each state’s increase in FMAP is based on the increase in unemployment percentages
for each quarter. The federal recovery funds were used to avoid deeper reductions in spending. This
funding ended in fiscal year 2010-11.

The General Assembly enacted Session Law 2011-15 (Senate Bill 109), which required the
Governor to cut spending for fiscal year 2010-11 and to increase General Fund availability for fiscal
year 2011-12 by $538 million. Special exceptions were made for high need programs including prisons,
Medicaid, and public schools. This legislation was in response to an anticipated budget shortfall for
fiscal year 2011-12 of approximately $2.6 billion. The Office of State Budget and Management
(OSBM) reduced agency budgets by 1% in July 2010 and an additional 2.5% in December 2010.
Additionally, in March 2011, OSBM identified $83 million in available cash balances in other funds
that were subsequently transferred to the General Fund.

One of the major budget drivers for the General Fund is the Medicaid Program. On the budget basis,
expenditures for Medicaid increased 6.35% in fiscal year 2010-11 to $2.47 billion. The spending
increase is explained by a 3% increase in enrollment coupled with growing consumption by those
individuals covered by Medicaid. In response, program changes were implemented to impact costs of
services without any negative impact on clinical outcomes. The specific changes included modification
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of drug pricing to promote generic prescribing and ensure appropriate utilization, independent
assessments of certain services, implementation of clinical policy changes to facilitate appropriate
utilization and avoid abuse, implementation of additional co-pay amounts for selected services,
processes to increase the detection and avoidance of fraud and abuse, and other policy changes to bring
Medicaid practices in line with commercial plans. All changes were implemented to ensure continued
access to quality services and compliance with federal maintenance of effort requirements.

General Fund Budget Variances

The original General Fund budget, including state appropriations and appropriations supported by
departmental receipts, serves as a starting point or plan for the Governor to execute the General Fund
budget pursuant to the powers granted by the State Budget Act. At the state level in North Carolina, it is
not unusual for the budget to change during the fiscal year in relation to budget adjustments made to
accommodate departmental receipts. The General Fund budget supported by state appropriation is a
subset of the General Fund financial schedule presented in the CAFR as required supplementary
information. The current CAFR schedule reflects all spending required to support the State’s General
Fund activities and the funding to support those activities, including state tax and non-tax revenues,
federal revenues, student tuition, and other fees, licenses, and fines.

Under current state budget management practice, particularly related to departmental federal
receipts, primary emphasis is placed on comparisons of the final authorized budget and actual spending.

At the state level, budgetary cuts related to state appropriations are implemented by decreasing
allowable actual expenditures, as opposed to decreasing the state appropriation through a formal
legislative process. The Governor and state agencies maintain legal authority to spend the dollars
originally appropriated to them; however, in recent years the actual spending has been limited by the
collection of tax and nontax revenue. In extremely rare cases, the General Assembly has held special
sessions to formally amend the state appropriation budget.

The portion of the original budget comprising departmental receipts is not intended to be the sole
controlling point to manage the State’s General Fund budget. The final budget includes amendments for
departmental receipts collected during the fiscal year as allowed by law. General Fund departmental
receipts are typically authorized for expenditure within the activity that generated the receipt.
Historically, final estimated receipts have varied significantly from the original estimate at the
beginning of the fiscal year. State agencies by law must spend departmental receipts prior to spending
tax and nontax supported appropriations. If departmental receipts are higher than expected, appropriated
dollars may go unspent and be re-appropriated in a subsequent fiscal year.

Variances — Original and Final Budget

In general, the variances between original and final budget are attributable to the timing and length
of the budget preparation process and the budgeting of ARRA funds for the fiscal year. The original
budget for fiscal year 2010-11 was prepared approximately 18 months prior to the final budget existing
at June 30, 2011. The final budget reflects all budget revisions made throughout the fiscal year to adjust
for known facts as well as supplemental adjustments approved in the 2010 Short Session of the General
Assembly. Consequently, when the original budget is compared to the final budget, it would be
expected that significant variances can occur.

Additional factors leading to variances between original and final budget in fiscal year 2010-11
include the following:

1) Awarding of new unanticipated federal grants and/or the awarding of unanticipated increased or
decreased amounts in long-standing federally supported programs. This also led to the necessity of
budgeting unanticipated required state match.

2) Statewide encumbrance carry-forward budgeted amounts from fiscal year 2009-10 totaled $103.6
million.

3) Allocation of statewide reserves to agencies and universities for the purposes of retirement and
hospitalization formula adjustments, contingency and emergency, information technology related
programs, and various other budgeted statewide reserves.



40  State of North Carolina

4) Receipt and budgeting of over-realized receipts, prior year earned revenues, and unanticipated
donations and grants.

5) Inaccurate revenue and expenditure budget amounts entered by agencies during the continuation
budget preparation process.

6) Budgeting of federal ARRA funds that increased the final revenue and expenditure budgets.

Variances - Final Budget and Actual Results

Actual total revenue collected (both tax and non-tax) was slightly above budgeted amounts in fiscal
year 2010-11. North Carolina’s revenue forecast anticipated a slow economic and revenue recovery
during the fiscal year. Modest job gains and an increase in consumer spending translated into better than
expected performance in individual income and sales and use tax collections, North Carolina’s largest
revenue sources.

Departmental federal funds actually received by agencies were less than the final authorized
budgeted federal fund revenues. A variance between the budget and actual federal funds occurs because
actual federal fund receipts are reflective of the actual expenditures. Therefore, if qualifying federal
costs are not incurred by an agency, the actual receipt of federal funds could be significantly less than
the budget.

The variance between the final budget and actual expenditures for primary and secondary education;
health and human services; and public safety, corrections and regulation is primarily a result of
reductions in spending to meet the revenue requirements of the General Assembly for the beginning
unreserved cash balance for fiscal year 2011-12. Also, measures taken by the Governor to prevent
expenditures that exceeded the tax and non-tax revenue collections included a significant reduction in
the allotment of cash to all state agencies, universities, and institutions. Therefore, expenditures that are
dependent upon revenue generated by the state could not occur.

Highway Fund

The Highway Fund dates back to 1921, which is when the General Assembly first imposed the
gasoline tax. It accounts for most of the activities of the North Carolina Department of Transportation
(NCDOT), including the maintenance and construction of the State’s primary and secondary road
systems, the Division of Motor Vehicles, the State Highway Patrol, transit, rail and ferry system. The
primary revenue sources of the Highway Fund are federal funds, three-fourths of gasoline taxes, vehicle
registration fees, and driver’s license fees.

The fund balance of the Highway Fund decreased from $780.964 million at June 30, 2010 (as
restated) to $647.962 million at June 30, 2011, a decrease of 17.03%. Total revenues increased by
$605.27 million or 22.76% primarily because of increases in gasoline taxes and federal funds. Gasoline
taxes increased due to an upturn in overall fuel consumption and a 1.1 cent increase in the average tax
rate due to higher wholesale prices during the year. Federal reimbursement increased substantially due
to additional billings for federal stimulus projects. The Federal Highway Administration awarded
additional billing capacity this summer since stimulus maintenance of effort requirements were met.
Additionally, in August 2009, the State issued $242.52 million in GARVEE bonds. This innovative
financing tool was used to accelerate the funding of transportation improvement projects across the
State by leveraging future federal transportation revenues. At June 30, 2011, most of the GARVEE
bond proceeds had been spent.

Transportation expenditures increased by $298.52 million or 10.79% due to an increase in capital
outlay, primarily contract construction expenditures. The full year of ARRA expenditures and a
departmental focus on completing projects funded from the latest GARVEE bond issuance contributed
to this increase.

Population growth is placing an increasing demand on the State’s transportation system. North
Carolina’s population grew from 8.05 million in 2000 to 9.69 million in 2011, an increase of 20.42%.
This growth is expected to continue for the foreseeable future. The U.S. Census estimates North
Carolina’s population growing to approximately 12.2 million by 2030, which would place the state as
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the seventh most populated state in the country. According to the 2010 Report on the Condition of the
State Highway System prepared by the N.C. Division of Highways, over a 10 year period (2001 to
2010), the number of paved miles increased by almost 4% and the square footage of bridge deck area
grew by over 24%. During this same 10 year period, vehicle miles traveled increased by over 15%.
While the recent recession slowed the growth in vehicle miles traveled, it is anticipated this rate will
return to pre-recession growth. This increase places a heavier burden on the existing infrastructure and
accentuates the need for additional capacity, safety, and maintenance funding to address the
deterioration in service created by the increase in traffic. Furthermore, many of the State’s highways
were built as farm-to-market roads and were not designed to handle the heavy traffic volumes of today
and other highways such as the interstate highway system, which has celebrated its 50th anniversary,
are nearing the end of their functional life.

Transportation is fundamental in continuing North Carolina’s prosperity and quality of life as the
state’s population continues to grow. To address the growing demand on the transportation system,
increased cost of supplies, and declining funding, NCDOT continues to seek innovative solutions to
meet the growing stress on the transportation system. In response to declining motor fuels tax and the
decreasing purchasing power of the Highway Fund, Session Law 2009-108 repealed the cap on the
motor fuels tax and set the variable portion of the tax at 12.4 cents per gallon or 7% of the average
wholesale price whichever is greater, thus setting a floor of 29.9 cents per gallon. This remained in
place through June 30, 2011.

Highway Trust Fund

Legislation creating the Highway Trust Fund was passed by the General Assembly in 1989. It was
established to provide a dedicated funding mechanism to meet a specific set of highway construction
needs in North Carolina. Additionally, the Highway Trust Fund provides supplemental allocations for
secondary road construction, supplemental assistance to municipalities for local street projects, and
pays the debt service on the State’s general obligation bonds issued for highway purposes.

The principal revenue sources of the Highway Trust Fund are highway use taxes, one-fourth of
gasoline taxes, and various title and registration fees. The enabling legislation also specifies that a
designated amount will be transferred each year to the General Fund (see Note 10(B) to the financial
statements). The amounts transferred to the General Fund for fiscal years 2011 and 2010 were $72.895
million and $108.562 million, respectively. The General Fund transfer was reduced as funds were
transferred to the N.C. Turnpike Authority for debt service.

The fund balance of the Highway Trust Fund increased from $47.498 million at June 30, 2010 (as
restated) to $186.866 million at June 30, 2011. Total revenues increased by $62.23 million or 6.8%,
primarily because of increases in gasoline taxes and highway use taxes. Gasoline taxes increased due to
an upturn in overall consumption and 1.1 cent increase in the average tax rate due to higher wholesale
prices during the year. A continued increase in auto sales resulted in a 5% increase in highway use tax
transactions. Total transportation expenditures increased by $108.28 million or 22.25%. State matching
funds for GARVEE construction expenditures accounted for the majority of this increase.

The 2010 Report on the Condition of the State Highway System also noted that since passage of the
Highway Trust Fund in 1989, the NCDOT has paved over 11,000 miles of unpaved secondary roads,
leaving only 4,500 miles of secondary roads to be paved. In view of the fact that the paved secondary
road system has not kept up with the demands of increased urbanization and traffic, the 2006 Session of
the General Assembly approved changes in the General Statutes that govern the use of secondary road
construction funds. Beginning with fiscal year 2010-2011, secondary road allocations to the counties
are based on the total number of secondary road miles in that county in proportion to the total State
maintained secondary road mileage.
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Enterprise
Funds

The State’s enterprise funds or business-type activities provide the same type of information found
in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. The major enterprise funds are
discussed individually below.

Unemployment Compensation Fund

The net assets of the Unemployment Compensation Fund (Trust Fund) decreased from negative
$1.701 billion at June 30, 2010 to negative $1.969 billion at June 30, 2011. This decrease is directly
related to the decline in the state and national economies. The state’s unemployment rate was 9.9% in
June 2011 compared to 10% in June 2010. The Trust Fund’s operating margin (operating revenues less
operating expenses) was negative $3.074 billion this year compared to negative $4.523 billion in 2010.
Unemployment benefit expenses (both State and Federal) decreased 21.6% in fiscal year 2010-11 to
$4.368 billion, primarily due to claimants exhaustmg their maximum allowable benefits and a reduction
in the number of new initial claims.

In February 2009, because of depleted cash balances, the State began borrowing from the U.S.
Treasury to ensure the uninterrupted payment of State unemployment benefits. At June 30, 2011, the
repayable advances from the State’s Federal Unemployment Account totaled $2.536 billion compared
to $2.15 billion at the previous fiscal year-end. Interest began accruing January 1, 2011 at an interest
rate of 4.09%. Interest is due and payable on September 30 for each year that the loan has an
outstanding balance. The required interest payment of $78.45 million was made on September 30, 2011.
A 20% surcharge on unemployment contributions, which has been in effect since January 1, 2005 as
required by statute, remained in effect during the current fiscal year. The surcharge is deposited into the
State Reserve Fund and one of the allowable uses is to pay the interest on the borrowing. The surcharge
is still in effect because the balance in the Trust Fund has not reached the trigger “off” level.

During fiscal year 2010-11, the federal government continued to provide various types of assistance
to the unemployed. One significant difference is that the funding stream for the Emergency
Unemployment Compensation program changed from “Federal recovery funds” to “Noncapital grants”,
which explains the substantial change from year to year. The multiple types of assistance are classified
as nonoperating revenues and the dollar amounts are as follows:

1. The Emergency Unemployment Compensation program provided $2.271 billion in benefits.
2. Two programs continued this year under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act and
provided the following benefits:

a. The Federal Additional Compensation program provides for an additional $25 a week to every
benefit payment. This program totaled $142 million this fiscal year.

b. The Extended Benefit (EB) and High Unemployment Period 100% programs provided
payments that totaled $458 million this fiscal year.

For the tax year 2011, the Federal Unemployment Tax will increase by 0.3% because the State has
had an outstanding loan in January for two consecutive years and will not pay back the borrowing in
November. The funds generated from this increase will go directly towards paying down the debt.

N.C. State Lottery Fund

The N.C. Education Lottery (NCEL) first began selling game tickets in 2006. As required by
enabling legislation, net revenues of the NCEL are transferred four times a year to the General Fund.
The NCEL transferred $436.241 million to the General Fund in 2011 to support educational programs
for the State. The amount transferred in 2010 was $432.205 million. At year end, the net assets of the
NCEL are zero. The NCEL has no changes in the net assets from year to year.

For fiscal year 2010-11, net ticket sales increased 2.82% from the previous fiscal year to $1.46
billion. Slgmﬁcant financial highlights include the following: awarded $1 million or more to an NCEL
player for the 94" time; increased the number of retailers to 6,610, representing a 5.5% increase over
the prior year; and released 46 new instant scratch-off games into the marketplace generating gross
instant ticket sales of $862 million.
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The NCEL’s 2011-12 budget provides for a projected $425 million transfer to the General Fund,
representing a 1.4% increase from the previous year’s budget. As established in the enabling legislation,
lottery funds are to be distributed for educational purposes as follows:

1. 50% to support reduction of class size in early grades and to support pre-kindergarten programs
for at-risk four-year-olds who would otherwise not be served in high quality settings (Note: to
date, these programs have been funded by the General Fund).

2. 40% for public school construction.

3. 10% to the State Education Assistance Authority to fund college and university scholarships.

N.C. Turnpike Authority ‘

Although the N.C. Turnpike Authority (NCTA) was created in 2002, financial activity started late in
fiscal year 2004. Activities for fiscal year 2011 were limited to salaries, personnel, board members per-
diem, travel and other general operating expenses while project related cost was funded by state
appropriated, federal, or project specific financings. Major accomplishments for the NCTA for fiscal
year 2010-11 included the following:

e The Triangle Expressway System, the first toll facility in North Carolina, is under construction
and will include integrated electronic tolling systems. The project is currently on schedule and
estimated to be completed as planned. As of June 30, 2011, the project is 62% complete, with a
6.6% estimated savings from the initial financial plan. A portion of the Triangle Expressway is
scheduled to open in December 2011.

e In October 2010, the NCTA issued $233.92 million in State Annual Appropriation Revenue
Bonds to finance construction of the Monroe Connector System.

Funding for administrative expenses is being advanced as needed from the Highway Trust Fund to
be repaid from NCTA revenue collections. Interest on the advances will begin to accrue one year after
the NCTA begins collecting tolls on a completed turnpike project.

The high cost of building, operating and maintaining a major highway facility is typically more than
the revenue a new road can generate through tolls. The gap between what tolling can pay for and the
cost of the road requires additional support from the State, known as gap funding. In 2008, the General
Assembly enacted legislation authorizing annual transfers from the Highway Trust Fund to the NCTA
to pay debt service and fund required reserves on bonds issued to finance turnpike projects. In fiscal
year 2010-11, $49 million was transferred from the Highway Trust Fund to service debt on bonds
issued to finance turnpike projects.

EPA Revolving Loan Fund

The net assets of the EPA Revolving Loan Fund increased by $95.026 million or 8.83% from the
prior fiscal year-end. Operating income was $13.301 million (operating revenues less operating
expenses). Net nonoperating revenues included $66.243 million in federal recovery funds, which were
used to provide grants and loans for water infrastructure projects.
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capita[ As of June 30, 2011, the State’s investment in capital assets was $40.208 billion, an increase of
Assets 5.76% from the previous fiscal year-end (see table below).

Capital Assets as of June 30
(net of depreciation, dollars in thousands)

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2010 2010 2010
2011 (as restated) 2011 (as restated) 2011 (as restated)
Land and permanent easements............ $ 14,387,050 $ 13,728,792 $ 118,255 $ 53,227 $ 14505305 $ 13,782,019
Buildings 2,250,828 2,117,904 29,575 30,787 2,280,403 2,148,691
Machinery and equipment...................... 575,296 605,619 6,321 6,742 581,617 612,361
Infrastructure:
State highway system..............c.......... 19,532,260 18,804,143 — _ 19,532,260 18,804,143
Other infrastructure...............ccooceeeens 138,697 117,470 5,409 5,911 144,106 123,381
Computer software..............ccoceerererns 16,020 16,956 45 69 16,065 17,025
Ant, literature, and other artifacts... 86,827 © 85,506 — — 86,827 85,506
Construction in progress..........c..cccoeuene 2,353,424 2,127,760 578,899 260,546 2,932,323 2,388,306
Computer software in development........ 128,905 55,788 — — 128,905 55,788
Total....oooiiiiiee $ 39,469,307 $ 37,659,938 $ 738,504 $ 357,282 $ 40,207,811 $ 38,017,220
Total percent change between
fiscal years 2011 and 2010 4.80 % 106.70 % 5.76 %

The largest component of capital assets is the State highway system. North Carolina has a 79,330
mile highway system, making it the second largest state-maintained highway system in the nation. The
most recent report on the condition of the State highway system (December 2010) noted that while the
system continues to grow, the traditional highway maintenance funds have increased, but not enough to
keep up with inflation and system growth.

The major capital asset activity during the current fiscal year included the following:

e The N.C. Department of Transportation (DOT) had construction outlays of $2 billion for the
State highway system. Additionally, the N.C. Turnpike Authority (Authority), a separate
business unit of DOT, had construction outlays of $383 million for toll road projects. The
Authority’s largest project was for the Triangle Expressway, the State’s first modern toll road
now under construction.

e  The Department of Correction (DOC) had construction outlays of $89.8 million for new prison
facilities. The largest project was for the construction of a regional 120 bed medical center and
a 216 bed mental health center at Central Prison in Raleigh. At year-end, construction in
progress for this project totaled $104.8 million. The medical and mental health facilities are
expected to be completed in the fall of 2011. The DOC is undertaking construction initiatives
to address a prison cell shortfall and to allow for the implementation of sentencing reform.

o The Green Square Complex is being constructed for the Department of Environment and
Natural Resources (DENR), which will include office space for DENR employees, the Nature
Research Center, and an underground parking deck. This project utilizes principles of green
building and sustainable design. At year-end, construction in progress for this project totaled
$56.5 million. This complex is scheduled to be completed in 2012.

As further detailed in Note 22(F) to the financial statements, the State has commitments of $2.17
billion for the construction of highway infrastructure, which are expected to be financed by gasoline tax
collections, motor vehicle fees, federal funds and debt proceeds. Other commitments of $611.58 million
for the construction and improvement of state government facilities are expected to be financed
primarily by debt proceeds, state appropriations, and federal funds.

More detailed information about the State’s capital assets is presented in Note 5 to the financial
statements.
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Long-term At year-end, the State had total long-term debt outstanding (bonds, special indebtedness, and notes
Debt payable) of $8.461 billion, an increase of 4.43% from the previous fiscal year-end (see table below).
Outstanding Debt as of June 30
Bonds, Special Indebtedness, and Notes Payable
(dollars in thousands)
Govemmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
2010 2010 2010
2011 (as restated) 2011 (as restated) 2011 (as restated)

General obligation bonds..................cc....... $ 4,846205 $ 5270660 $ — 3 — $ 4846205 $ 5270660
Special Indebtedness:

Lease-purchase revenue bonds....................... 205,045 215,045 — — 205,045 215,045

Certificates of participation............ 824,860 872,600 — - 824,860 872,600

Limited obligation bonds...... e 1,060,745 580,705 — - 1,060,745 580,705
GARVEE bonds................ 373,080 434,825 - - 373,080 434,825
Revenue bonds...... - — 856,678 622,758 856,678 622,758
NOLES PRYADIE. ......ooeoveoce e 25038 30,538 269,030 74,565 294,068 105,103

TOt] .o $7,334973  § 7,404,373 $ 1125708 § 697,323 § 8460681 $ 8101696
Total percent change between
fiscal years 2011 and 2010 0.94)% 61.43 % 4.43%

During the 2010-11 fiscal year, the State issued $500 million in limited obligation bonds for its
governmental activities. The proceeds of the bonds will be used to finance various State and university
capital improvement projects, which were authorized for special indebtedness financing by previous
sessions of the General Assembly. Additionally, the N.C. Turnpike Authority, a business-type activity,
issued $233.92 million in revenue bonds and had additional borrowings of $195.8 million from a
federal transportation loan. The revenue bond proceeds will be used to finance the construction of the
Monroe Connector System, a 20 mile toll road in Mecklenburg and Union counties. The federal loan
proceeds will be used to finance construction of the Triangle Expressway, a 19 mile toll road in Durham
and Wake counties.

The State refinanced $818.92 million of its existing debt in fiscal year 2011 to improve cash flow
and to take advantage of lower interest rates. By refinancing the debt, the State will reduce its future
debt service payments by approximately $30.3 million over the next 12 years.

The State issues two types of tax-supported debt: general obligation bonds and various types of
“special indebtedness” (i.e., debt not subject to a vote of the people). General obligation bonds are
secured by the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the State and require approval by a majority of
voters. The payments on special indebtedness are subject to appropriation by the General Assembly and
may also be secured by a lien on facilities or equipment. The General Statutes (Chapter 142, Article 9)
prohibits the issuance of special indebtedness except for projects specifically authorized by the General
Assembly. Different forms of special indebtedness, also known as appropriation-supported debt, are
authorized. One form, “financing contract indebtedness” includes lease-purchase revenue bonds and
certificates of participation and has been used by the State historically. The other form is limited
obligation bonds, which may be issued by the State directly rather than through the N.C. Infrastructure
Finance Corporation, a conduit issuer. The use of alternative financing methods provides financing
flexibility to the State and permits the State to take advantage of changing financial and economic
environments. The GARVEE:s are a revenue bond-type debt instrument where the debt service is to be
paid solely from federal transportation revenues.

The State’s total long-term debt (bonds, special indebtedness, and notes payable) has increased
significantly in recent years, rising from $3.478 billion in 2002 to $8.461 billion in 2011, in part due to
large issuances for higher education capital projects. Prior to 2004, the State only issued general
obligation debt. The following is a summary of recent debt authorizations.
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Special Indebtedness

The 2009-10 Session of the General Assembly reduced special indebtedness authorizations for
various projects by over $115 million to generate additional debt capacity and increased authorizations
for guaranteed energy savings contracts by $400 million. The 2008-09 Session of the General Assembly
authorized the issuance of $734.03 million of special indebtedness as follows: $512.22 million for
higher education projects, $109.09 million for correctional facilities, $50 million for acquiring State
park lands and conservation areas, and $62.72 million for other State projects. The 2007-08 Session of
the General Assembly authorized the issuance of special indebtedness as follows: $481.14 million for
higher education projects and $188.01 million for other purposes. The 2006-07 Session of the General
Assembly authorized the issuance of $672.1 million of special indebtedness as follows: $429.3 for
psychiatric hospitals and a public health laboratory for the Department of Health and Human Services,
$132.2 million for medical and mental health centers for the Department of Correction, and $110.6
million for other State and university projects.

Repair and Renovation Authorization

The 2002-03 Session of the General Assembly authorized the issuance of $300 million of special
indebtedness to finance the repair and renovation of State facilities and related infrastructure that are
supported by the State’s General Fund. Of the $300 million, approximately $157 million was allocated
to the University of North Carolina System. Each of the 16 constituent institutions of the UNC System
received a portion of the proceeds for repairs and renovations. The remaining $143 million of the
proceeds was used to make repairs and renovations to various state facilities. The State has issued all of
the authorized repair and renovation debt.

Higher Education Authorization

The 1999-00 Session of the General Assembly authorized the issuance of $3.1 billion of higher
education improvement bonds, which were subsequently approved by the voters of the State. The $3.1
billion bond authorization represents the largest debt authorization in the State’s history. The proceeds
of these general obligation bonds were used solely to construct new buildings and to renovate and
modernize existing buildings on the State's 58 community college and 16 University of North Carolina
campuses. These improvements were needed to meet enrollment demands and to ensure that the State’s
college and university buildings meet modern code requirements and are equipped to prepare graduates
for 21st century jobs. The bond legislation passed by the General Assembly specifies the amount of
bond funding that flows to each community college and university campus. The State has issued all of
the authorized higher education bonds.

Clean Water and Natural Gas Authorization

The 1997-98 Session of the General Assembly authorized the issuance of $1 billion of clean water
and natural gas general obligation bonds, which were subsequently approved by the voters of the State.
The bonds proceeds were used to provide grants and loans to local governments for clean water projects
($800 million) and to provide grants and loans for construction of natural gas facilities to facilitate the
expansion of natural gas service to unserved areas of the State ($200 million). The State has issued all
of the authorized clean water and natural gas bonds.

Highway Bond Authorization

The 1995-96 Session of the General Assembly authorized the issuance of $950 million of highway
general obligation bonds, which were subsequently approved by the voters of the State. The bond
proceeds were allocated to pay capital costs for urban loops ($500 million), highways in the Intrastate
System ($300 million), and for paving unpaved roads of the secondary highway system ($150 million).
The State has issued all of the authorized highway bonds.

Debt Affordability Advisory Committee

During the 2003-04 Session, the General Assembly created a Debt Affordability Advisory
Committee (Committee) to annually advise the Governor and the General Assembly on the estimated
debt capacity of the State for the upcoming ten fiscal years. The Committee is responsible for preparing
an annual debt affordability study and establishing guidelines for evaluating the State’s debt burden.
The Committee is required to report its findings and recommendations to the Governor, the General
Assembly, and the Fiscal Research Division of the General Assembly by February 1 of each year.
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In February 2011, the State Treasurer completed the most recent Debt Affordability Study for North
Carolina (Study). The Study provides the Governor and the General Assembly with a basis for
assessing the impact of future debt issuance on the State’s fiscal position and enables informed
decision-making regarding both financing proposals and capital spending priorities. A secondary
purpose of the Study is to provide a methodology for measuring, monitoring and managing the State’s
debt levels, thereby protecting, and perhaps enhancing North Carolina’s bond ratings.

The Committee adopted the following target and ceiling guidelines as the basis for calculating the
recommended amount of General Fund-supported debt that the State could prudently authorize and
issue over the next 10 years:

- Net tax-supported debt service as a percentage of general tax revenues should be targeted at no
more than 4% and not exceed 4.75%;

- Net tax-supported debt as a percentage of personal income should be targeted at no more than
2.5% and not exceed 3.0%; and

- The amount of debt to be retired over the next ten years should be targeted at no less than 55%
and not decline below 50%.

The definition of net tax-supported debt includes all outstanding and authorized but unissued general
obligation bonds, special indebtedness, capital lease obligations, and any other such obligations that are
payable from General Fund tax revenues. Net tax-supported debt excludes obligations of component
units, Highway Fund debt paid from Highway Fund revenues, non tax-supported special indebtedness
paid from non-General Fund supported trust funds, other self-supporting or non-tax supported debt such
as revenue bonds, short term tax anticipation notes, and other postemployment benefits.

The Committee has adopted the ratio of debt service as a percentage of revenues as the controlling
metric that determines the State’s debt capacity. The State’s current revenue picture is less than robust
as it faces the expiration of temporary taxes and surcharges and the absence of the federal support that
has been available in the recent past. Due primarily to the reduced revenue assumptions, the State has
exhausted its General Fund debt capacity until fiscal year 2013. North Carolina’s debt is considered
manageable at current levels when compared to its peer group composed of other states rated triple-A
by all three rating agencies. Credit rating agencies consider a debt affordability study as a positive
factor when evaluating issuers and assigning credit ratings.

Credit Ratings

Credit ratings are the rating agencies’ assessment of a governmental entity’s ability and willingness
to repay debt on a timely basis. Credit ratings are an important factor in the public credit markets and
can influence interest rates a borrower must pay. The State’s general obligation bond credit ratings are

as follows:
State of North Carolina
General Obligation Bond Credit Ratings
Rating Agency Rating Outlook
Fitch Ratings v AAA Stable
Moody’s Investors Service Aaa Stable
Standard & Poor’s Rating Services AAA Stable

These ratings are the highest attainable from all three rating agencies. In February 2011, all three
rating agencies affirmed the triple-A credit rating for the State. A triple-A credit rating means that
North Carolina has followed well-defined financial management policies and has demonstrated strong
debt management practices. The rating agencies recognized the State’s proactive responses and history
of taking early action to mitigate the impact of revenue declines. North Carolina remains one of only
eight states with a triple-A rating from all three rating agencies.
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Special indebtedness is not subject to a vote of the people and its repayment is based on the State’s
annual debt service appropriation. For these reasons, special indebtedness is rated lower than the State’s
general obligation bonds and typically carries a higher interest rate.

Limitations on Debt

The Constitution of North Carolina (Article 5, Section 3) imposes limitations upon the increase of
certain state debt. It restricts the General Assembly from contracting debts secured by a pledge of the
faith and credit of the State, unless approved by a majority of the qualified voters of the State, except
for the following purposes:

1. To fund or refund a valid existing debt;

2. To supply an unforeseen deficiency in the revenue;

3. To borrow in anticipation of the collection of taxes due and payable within the current fiscal year to
an amount not exceeding 50 percent of such taxes;

4. To suppress riots or insurrections; or to repel invasions;

5. To meet emergencies immediately threatening the public health or safety, as conclusively
determined in writing by the Governor; and

6. For any other lawful purpose, to the extent of two-thirds of the amount by which the State’s
outstanding indebtedness shall have been reduced during the preceding biennium.

More detailed information about the State’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note 8 to the
financial statements.

NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES

The General Assembly enacted a $19.7 billion budget for fiscal year 2011-12, closing the $2.6
billion budget gap through spending reductions (64%) and adjustments to availability (36%). Spending
reductions totaled $2.1 billion. The largest reductions occurred in the functional areas of education
($1.2 billion) and health and human services ($531 million). Adjustments increased availability by $354
million. Major adjustments included transfers from the Highway Fund for State Highway Patrol ($197
million), increases in judicial fees ($62 million), and suspension of the corporate earmark for public
school construction ($72 million). In addition, three cabinet departments (Crime Control and Public
Safety, Correction, and Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention) were combined into a new
Department of Public Safety to streamline government and save costs related to administration and
staff.

The largest tax change for fiscal year 2011-12 was the expiration of the temporary tax package
passed as part of the 2009-2011 biennium budget. This package included a 1 cent increase in the state
sales tax (expired on July 1,2011), a 2 to 3 percent income tax surcharge on highest-income households
(expired for taxable years on or after January 1, 2011), and a 3 percent surcharge on corporate income
taxes (expired for taxable years or after January 1, 2011). Allowing the package to expire decreased
annual State revenue by an estimated $1.3 billion.

Another notable tax change for fiscal year 2011-12 was the business-income tax exemption. This
revenue change exempts the first $50,000 in non-passive business income paid through the personal
income tax. The exemption is effective for tax years 2012 and 2013 and saves Limited Liability
Companies, S-corporations, and sole proprietorships an estimated $132 million in 2011-2012.

The General Assembly also enacted Session Law 11-390 (House Bill 619) establishing new
procedures for the Secretary of Revenue to follow when the Secretary has reason to believe that a
corporation conducts its business in such a manner as to fail to accurately report its State net income.
The provisions are effective for taxable years beginning on or after January 1, 2012.
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CONDITIONS EXPECTED TO IMPACT FUTURE OPERATIONS

State Health Plan

During the 2011 legislative session, the General Assembly enacted Senate Bill 323, State Health
Plan/Appropriations & Transfer II (S.L. 2011-85) and House Bill 578, State Health Plan/Additional
Changes (S.L. 2011-96), which made changes to the State Health Plan’s benefits, programs, and
oversight. These enacted bills require increased member cost sharing (i.e., copayments, deductibles, and
coinsurance maximums) within the parameters allowed under federal health care reform to maintain the
Plan’s grandfather status; introduced, for the first time, a monthly premium for employee-only and
retiree-only coverage; increased premiums for dependent coverage by 5.3%; changed the Plan’s
governance structure effective January 1, 2012; and made conforming changes to the Plan’s statutes
related to preexisting conditions and dependent age as required by federal health care reform. The
legislation also repealed the Comprehensive Wellness Initiative (CWI), which was established in 2009,
effective September 1, 2011. This initiative limited tobacco users to enrollment in the 70/30 Basic
Preferred Provider Organization Plan option, unless the member participated in a tobacco cessation
program.

The General Assembly amended Article 3A of G.S. 135 to transfer the State Health Plan to the
Department of State Treasurer effective January 1, 2012. Under the new law, the State Treasurer will
serve as the head of the State Health Plan and is responsible for administering and operating the State
Health Plan in accordance with the statute.

State Contributions to the Pension Fund

The economic climate and volatility of the stock market in recent years have negatively impacted the
State’s finances, including assets of North Carolina pension funds. The economic crisis has long term
effects that will require increased contributions from the State over the next several years in order to
maintain the strength of the Teachers’ and State Employees’ Retirement System (TSERS). Funding the
Retirement Systems is a shared responsibility among employees, employers, and investment earnings.
Effective July 1, 2011, the State established an employer contribution rate of 7.44% of compensation
for TSERS. The annual required contribution was calculated at 7.94%, based on a nine-year
amortization, but the amortization period was extended from nine to 12 years, thus allowing a 7.44%
employer contribution rate to meet the full annual required contribution.

New Supplemental Retirement Plan for Teachers
Effective July 1, 2011, the Department of State Treasurer is authorized to create a centralized 403(b)

retirement savings plan as an option for employees of local boards of education. The statewide plan will
be known as the “North Carolina Public School Teachers' and Professional Educators' Investment
Plan.”

Escheats Fund

North Carolina’s escheat policies date back to 1789 when the North Carolina State Constitution
called for transferring unclaimed property to the University of North Carolina System. Interest earned
on the Escheats Fund’s investments underwrites college scholarships. Since 2003, the State has used the
Escheat Fund’s principal to fund student financial aid. As required by Session Laws 2011-145 and
2011-340, $161.4 million was appropriated from the Escheats Fund in total to the Board of Governors
of the University of North Carolina and to the State Board of Community Colleges for fiscal year
2011-12. While the student financial aid programs are important, continued withdrawals will have a
negative impact on the fund in the near term.

Justice Reinvestment Act

During the 2011 legislative session, the General Assembly enacted House Bill 642, Justice
Reinvestment Act (Session Law 2011-192), which made significant changes in the sentencing laws and
correctional policies of the State. The intent of this legislation is to reduce spending on incarceration
and to redirect the savings into community-based treatment alternatives that are proven to reduce
criminality.
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REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and investors and
creditors with a general overview of the State’s finances and to demonstrate the State’s accountability
for the money it receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional financial
information, contact the North Carolina Office of the State Controller, Accounting and Financial
Reporting Section, 1410 Mail Service Center, Raleigh, N.C. 27699-1410. In addition, this financial
report is available on the Office of the State Controller’s internet home page at

http://www.osc.nc.gov/financial/index.html .
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
June 30, 2011 Exhibit A-1
(Dollars in Thousands)
Primary Government
Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)...........cccccevviuirieeiennns $ 3,805,982 $ 525,281 3 4,331,263 2,552,779
Investments (NOte 3).......cc.ccocvieviveeireeeeececeeeeeeeeee e 275,356 152,500 427,856 2,046,520
Securities lending collateral (Note 3).... 472,998 91,577 564,575 _—
Receivables, net (Note 4)..................... 3,025,903 616,658 3,642,561 1,177,605
Due from component units (Note 19)....... 3,598 — 3,598 12,562
Due from primary government (Note 19)..... — — —_ 68,693
Internal balances............cccooovveviiiiieeieecnns . 24,838 (24,838) _ —_
INVENEOMIES.......eoiiiiiereietecteceectece et ere e 208,071 531 208,602 100,633
Prepaid items........cccocoiviviiiie s 1,277 3,568 4,845 55,827
Advances to component units ... 21,742 — 21,742 —_
Notes receivable, net (Note 4)..............c.ceevveuene. 114,240 826,869 941,109 4,991,286
Investment in joint venture................ccocooeveieveeiieeeeieeenn, — — - 21,609
Deferred charges................. — 27,447 27,447 46,963
Securities held in trust......... 50,157 — 50,157 —_
Pension assets (Note 12).... 2,997 —_ 2,997 —
Restricted/designated cash and cash equivalents (Note 3). 357,269 98 357,367 1,992,848
Restricted investments (Note 3)...........cccocvirernieniriccnne. 547,341 681,117 1,228,458 5,098,198
Restricted due from primary government (Note 19)............. — — — 29,019
Restricted due from component units (Note 19).................. — — — 1,351
Deferred outflow of resources................ccccoevrunene. — — - 46,518
Capital assets-nondepreciable (Note 5)...... 16,956,206 697,154 17,653,360 1,982,648
Capital assets-depreciable, net (Note 5) 22,513,101 41,350 22,554,451 11,568,139
TOtal ASSELS ...c.coviiieieieiei ettt 48,381,076 3,639,312 52,020,388 31,793,198
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities................c............ 1,536,303 121,654 1,657,957 919,464
Medical claims payable..................c......... 984,844 —_ 984,844 224,217
Unemployment benefits payable... — 74,636 74,636 —_
Tax refunds payable.........c...cccuvnnen. 1,389,964 — 1,389,964 —
Obligations under securities lending............ccccccceevirenennan 491,775 96,556 588,331 —_
Interest payable...........cccooviiieiiiicece e 86,412 76,691 163,103 69,571
Short-term debt (NOte 6)..........cevvveeireeiereeeeeee e — — — 84,190
Due to component units (Note 19)..........c.cccevveveeinierreinnne 91,653 6,059 97,712 13,913
Due to primary government (Note 19).. — — — 3,598
Unearned reVENUE............cceevieieciieie e 408,489 28,894 437,383 255,997
Advance from primary government .............ccooceeeveeureennn. — — — 21,742
Deposits payable...........ccccoeevevvernenn.. 3,217 94 3,311 11,471
Funds held for others........................... 82,668 —_ 82,668 1,690,667
Hedging derivatives liability (Note 7).... — —_ - 46,518
Long-term liabilities (Note 8):
Due within one year..............ccceeeeveeeieeiiicceeece e 584,911 803,860 1,388,771 769,708
Due in more than one year..............ccccvvvveeieenierinenereene 8,355,529 2,901,125 11,256,654 8,560,402
Total Liabilities.........cccocevieniiriricicreciecrecee e 14,015,765 4,109,569 18,125,334 12,671,458
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt..................... 37,419,430 294,158 37,713,588 9,599,181
Restricted for:
Nonexpendable:
Environment and natural resources............cccccceevruennne 84,145 — 84,145 —
Higher education..............cccceveieiiiieeceecreeesees 574 — 574 1,849,291
Expendable:
Primary and secondary education..............cccccceceeennne 15,009 — 15,009 —
Higher education.................cceeveciivenienereceeeies 414,779 — 414,779 2,845,303
Health and human services.... 23,137 — 23,137 1,067
Economic development..................... 41,521 — 41,521 757,236
Environment and natural resources.......... . 39,236 — 39,236 —_
Public safety, corrections, and regulation.... 31,287 - 31,287 —
Transportation..........c.ccceeeeeeveveeeeeceieeeen, 2,833 —_ 2,833 —_
Other PUIPOSES.........coovieuiieeceicteeee ettt 76,579 3,131 79,710 —_—
unrestricted..........ooviiiinieiieec e (3,783,219) (767,546) (4,550,765) 4,069,662
Total Net ASSEtS......cccvevuiiiiecieeeceececee e $ 34,365,311 $ (470,257) $ 33,895,054 19,121,740

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

(Dollars in Thousands)

Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Net (Expense)
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Revenue
Primary Government:
Governmental Activities:
General government................ccceeveveeveeeeeeeeiecee e $ 1123257 $ 195286 $ 47,587 $ 10,562 $ (869,822)
Primary and secondary education.... 10,006,402 17,431 2,031,220 — (7,957,751)
Higher education..............ccc.oco......... 4,308,475 111,862 164,990 — (4,031,623)
Health and human services... 16,837,927 295,465 12,348,448 — (4,194,014)
Economic development....................... 744,796 32,205 479,772 10 (232,809)
Environment and natural resources...........ccccccoeuvennn. 608,903 155,298 92,233 32,998 (328,374)
Public safety, corrections, and regulation.................... 2,796,375 542,304 - 177,664 11,678 (2,064,729)
Transportation...........cccccveierieii e 2,177,142 709,064 265,758 1,143,301 (59,019)
AGFICURUTE.....c.coviiiiiiiiieee e 114,474 19,203 24,586 - (70,685)
Interest on long-termdebt.............ccoovevveeiiiiiiiiene 307,917 — — — (307,917)
Total Governmental Activities.................ccueeee. 39,025,668 2,078,118 15,632,258 1,198,549 (20,116,743)
Business-type Activities:
Unemployment Compensation............c...ccccovevernnnn... 4,420,762 1,294,104 2,870,847 — (255,811)
N.C. State Lottery........c.ccoeuvnnen. 1,028,536 1,464,639 1,192 — 437,295
EPA Revolving Loan....... . 42,897 20,388 104,456 - 81,947
N.C. Turnpike Authority... 4,940 —_ 15,212 11,630 21,902
Regulatory programs...... 78,653 80,008 1,165 — 2,520
INSUrance Programs.........ccocceeeveeveeieneesressiesresneereerens 36,885 16,046 4,514 — (16,325)
North Carolina State Fair..............cccccocoveeererieenne 13,595 14,915 343 — 1,663
Other business-type activities.......... 9,148 8,745 385 57 39
Total Business-type Activities 5,635,416 2,898,845 2,998,114 11,687 273,230
Total Primary Government............c..ccoeeevieveveenicieenienenn $ 44661084 $ 4976963 $ 18,630,372 $ 1,210,236 $ (19,843,513)
Component Units:
The Golden LEAF, INC. .....ccoovviviiiiiiicceee $ 45527 $ 9 $ 121,885 $ — 3 76,367
University of North Carolina System... 9,150,137 5,533,287 1,749,622 370,858 (1,496,370)
Community Colleges.............cceevrervveniivrieieeeeeriennn 2,194,155 305,403 912,318 265,557 (710,877)
N.C. Housing Finance Agency...........cooeevevevveevennenns 429,975 388,623 46,392 —_ 5,040
State Education Assistance Authority. 328,220 108,193 217,247 — (2,780)
State Health Plan...........cccoevveeennnnnn. 2,613,075 2,680,783 106,323 — 174,031
Other component units... 335,780 99,031 157,884 46,436 (32,429)
Total Component Units............cccoovrivirinienienicnieeenns $ 15,096,869 $ 9115329 §$ 3,311,671 $ 682,851 $ (1,987,018)

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

(Dollars in Thousands)

Changes in Net Assets:
Net (expense) revenue

General Revenues:
Taxes:

Individual income tax............cccceevvevieeieiieeieiee
Corporate iNCOME taX...........ccceeevvevviveceieiiiieeeenns
Sales and use tax........ ;
Gasoline tax.........
Franchise tax.......
Highway use tax...
Insurance tax........
Beverage tax...........c.o......
Inheritance tax...................

Unrestricted investment earnings.....

State aid.........c.cooeeviiiieeee

Miscellaneous...........................
Contributions to permanent funds.
Contributions to endowments.......
TrANSTEIS....cocvieeeeeeee e
Total general revenues, contributions, and transfers.......
Change in net assets...........ccccocveveiereecriecriecee s
Net assets — July 1, as restated (Note 24)....
Net assets — June 30.........ccceevevveviiiceceie e

Primary Government

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities

Total

Component

Units

$ (20,116,743) $ 273230 $(19,843,513) $ (1,987,018)
10,020,535 — 10,020,535 —
1,132,931 — 1,132,931 -
6,172,377 — 6,172,377 —
1,675,476 — 1,675,476 —

794,091 — 794,091 —
469,811 - 469,811 -
501,032 — 501,032 —
311,809 — 311,809 —
24,184 — 24,184 —
291,699 — 291,699 —
301,217 - 301,217 -
131,318 — 131,318 —
32,980 — 32,980 —
— — — 3,603,872
45,014 3 45,017 5,758
3,188 — 3,188 —

— _ — 118,302
371,422 (371,422) — —
22,279,084 (371,419) 21,907,665 3,727,932
2,162,341 (98,189) 2,064,152 1,740,914
32,202,970 (372,068) 31,830,902 17,380,826
$ 34365311 $ (470,257) $ 33,895,054 $ 19,121,740
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BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
June 30, 2011 Exhibit B-1
(Dollars in Thousands)
Highway Other Total
General Highway Trust Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)...............ccccocvevevenennnnn. $ 2052906 $ 771,762 % 198,900 $ 697,807 $ 3,721,375
Investments (Note 3).........cccoceueiiiiiiiicccecceceee 4,599 — — 225,635 230,234
Securities lending collateral (Note 3)............c.ccocevveeeeennn. 312,469 70,594 17,739 67,334 468,136
Receivables, net: (Note 4)
Taxes receivable............cccooviviiuvieiiicicicececee 1,616,815 116,446 39,009 2,237 1,774,507
Accounts receivable.................cooceiiieiiiiiee e 259,895 6,756 82 18,316 285,049
Intergovernmental receivable..............c.ccocoooveveereeceee.. 853,202 68,545 — 16,594 938,341
Interest receivable.................cocoooiiiiiiicce 8,592 943 158 654 10,347
Other receivables............c.oooovoveveiceeeeeeeeeeeeeee e — 2,905 — —_ 2,905
Due from other funds (Note 10)............ 7,478 —_ 228 9,256 16,962
Due from component units (Note 19) — — — 2,974 2,974
Inventories...........cccoove..n.. ettt 93,259 87,000 — 27,465 207,724
Advances to other funds (Note 10)...............ccceoeveeriverrnnnn, — — 21,011 _— 21,011
Advances to component Units....................cccoeueeeeerieeeenn. — — — 21,742 21,742
Notes receivable, net (Note 4).... TR 70,857 1,039 73 42,271 114,240
Securities held in trust...............cccoooeiiiiiieceec 430 4,011 — 45,716 50,157
Restricted/designated cash and cash equivalents (Note 3).. 160,232 — — 197,037 357,269
Restricted investments (Note 3).............ccccooovvvveiciccncnenee, — 1,913 — 545,428 547,341
Total ASSELS........ocoiiiiiei e $ 5440734 $ 1131914 § 277,200 $ 1,920,466 $ 8,770,314
Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable..............c.cccoeviiiiinc $ 131,344 $ 230,593 $ 22,089 $ 70,468 $ 454,494
Accrued PaYroll.........ccucuivveeeieeicecce e 3,952 38,343 — 364 42,659
Intergovernmental payable..............c.cccoovveeivveireieiins 695,167 98,694 47,508 8,681 849,950
Claims PaYADIE. ...........c.oueveeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e e — — — 37,492 37,492
Medical claims payable................ccceeierereveeereeeeee e 984,844 — — — 984,844
Tax refunds payable.................coooviviiiieeieiceee e 1,382,700 5,448 1,816 — 1,389,964
Obligations under securities lending.............c..cccccoeeeveerineae 325,043 73,589 18,921 69,182 486,735
Due to fiduciary funds (Note 10)............ccccevvveieiericeieenne 67,461 — — — 67,461
Due to other funds (Note 10)...........ccceevveivevvieicececcee, 21,686 4,035 — 8,604 34,325
Due to component units (Note 19)..........c.cccvvvvvvevrivininnnan. 52,801 — — 38,852 91,653
Deferred revenue..............ccceceivivnrecinoeieee e 570,393 14,836 — 29,270 614,499
Deposits payable.......... 3,210 — — 7 3,217
Funds held for others 18,428 18,414 — 45,826 82,668
Total Liabilities..........ccccooorviriiiiiicieece e 4,257,029 483,952 90,334 308,646 5,139,961
Fund Balances (Note 11):
Nonspendable............c.cccooeiiiiiiiececccee e 93,259 87,000 — 112,053 292,312
Restricted...........ccooovii e 72,032 3,167 — 902,210 977,409
1,115,156 557,795 186,866 599,184 2,459,001
(96,742) — — (1,627) (98,369)
Total Fund Balance.............ccocecivieiiiiiniccccece e 1,183,705 647,962 186,866 1,611,820 3,630,353
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances................cccococveeurvinnnene. $ 5440734 $ 1131914 § 277,200 $ 1,920466 $ 8,770,314

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

June 30, 2011

Exhibit B-1a

(Dollars in Thousands)

Total fund balances - governmental funds (see Exhibit B-1)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Assets are different
because:

- Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds (see Note 5). These consist of:
Cost of capital assets (excluding internal service funds)..............ccccooeeeeiveeeeeeeeeeereeeee e,
Less: Accumulated depreciation (excluding internal service funds)
Net CapItal @SSEES........cooiiiiiieieice ettt

- Some assets, such as receivables, are not available soon enough to pay for current
period expenditures and thus, are offset by deferred revenue in the governmental funds.

Investment derivatives are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the
funds (see Note 7).

- Pension assets, resulting from contributions in excess of the annual required
contribution are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the
funds (see Note 12).

- Long-term debt instruments, such as bonds and notes payable, are not due and

payable in the current period and, therefore, the outstanding balances are not reported

in the funds (see Note 8). Also, unamortized debt premiums, discounts, and losses on

refundings are reported in the Statement of Net Assets but are not reported in the funds.

These balances consist of:
General obligation bonds payable.............ccccceviiiiiiiiiinieiieeceeet e
Lease-purchase revenue bonds payable.............c...cc.cevvevieeirieeiriieeeeeee e
Certificates of participation payable
Limited obligation bonds payable
GARVEE bONdS PAYabIE........ccoccieiiiiiiciice ettt st
Unamortized debt premiums (to be amortized as interest expense)..........cccceveevvvvvevvenennen.
Less: Unamortized loss on refunding (to be amortized as interest expense)...........c.c.cucu....
Notes payable.........c.coouiiviiiiiiiecce e
Capital leases payable (excluding internal service funds)...........c.cccoevveveieieiescvceieeeenne.

Net [ong-term debt..........ccoo i

- Other liabilities not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, not reported
in the funds (see Note 8 as applicable) consist of:

Accrued interest Payable..............coiuiiieiieiiieeceee e
Compensated absences (excluding internal service funds)..............ccccevoveveveviiccneveieneenene
Obligations for workers' compensation
Deferred death benefit payable............ccccoveieiiiiciicc e
Pollution remediation payable...............cccooviiiiiiiiiiiiicce e
Court judgment payable.................
Negative investment derivatives.

Net pension obligation...... et et ettt e b e ebe e eae
Total other liabilities. ..........c..coviiiiece s

- Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities to individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service funds
are included in governmental activities in the Statement of Net Assets (see Exhibit B-3).

Total net assets - governmental activities (see Exhibit A-1)

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

$ 3,630,353
$ 39,929,539
—(564,626)

39,364,913

213,898

19,792

2,997
(4,846,205)
(205,045)
(824,860)
(1,060,745)
(373,080)
(441,218)
125,615
(25,038)
(21,309)

I (7,671,885)
(86,314)
(406,407)
(112,687)
(370)
(6,864)
(731,703)
(71,993)
(2,952)

(1,419,290)

224,533

$ 34,365,311
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STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011 Exhibit B-2
(Dollars in Thousands)
Highway Other Total
General Highway Trust Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
Revenues:
Taxes:
Individual income tax...........cccccooeieeiiciiciccecee $ 10,018,039 $ — $ — $ 2,496 10,020,535
Corporate income tax 1,139,584 — — — 1,139,584
Sales and use tax.......... 6,133,915 — — 29,321 6,163,236
GasOlNE taX......cceiueiirinieiiiieecceeree e — 1,234,577 412,016 28,004 1,674,597
Franchise taX.........cccoovveievcviiiiceccc e 793,094 — — — 793,094
Highway use tax. . — — - 469,811 — 469,811
INSUrANCEe taX.....cccvvvivirieieiciceeececce e 485,989 — — 15,043 501,032
Beverage tax.........coooeviiiiiiiieee e 311,814 — — — 311,814
Inheritance tax 23,880 — — — 23,880
Tobacco products tax.............ccccceveveereeivereeeeeneieenen. 290,743 — — — 290,743
Other taXes.......covvvvrveirieeriiee e 166,600 — — 134,453 301,053
12,828,192 1,048,996 — 338,313 14,215,501
Local funds..........cccovivviinineiciceceece e 149,545 17,285 583 19,531 186,944
Investment €arnings............cccocoeveivieiiececeeeeeee e 47,747 9,891 1,034 41,434 100,106
Interest earnings on loans... 3,133 — — 971 4,104
Sales and SErVICES.........coovevvveeviiceeeiceieeeeee e 130,278 1,089 — 145,694 277,061
Rental and lease of property...........ccceceevvveviviiinecnenns 11,611 8,668 2,313 2,573 25,165
Fees, licenses, and fines.............cccooeeveiieveeveeeeireeeeen. 607,472 601,879 89,489 199,391 1,498,231
Tobacco settlement.............ccooeviiiiiiiiciccecr 138,256 — — — 138,256
Contributions, gifts, and grants.................cccccevevievenrennn. 22,591 6,946 858 78,775 109,170
Funds escheated.............ccccovvviiiirvieciiicce e — — — 111,481 111,481
Federal recovery funds..........c..cccocooovvieiiiiiceicecee 1,791,264 323,363 — 150,766 2,265,393
Miscellaneous............... 122,331 11,751 1,003 23,861 158,946
Total revenUEs.........cccovvvrieiiieicceeee e 35,216,078 3,264,445 977,107 1,322,107 40,779,737
Expenditures:
Current:
General GOVEINMENL............c.cvvveveeirireeieeee e 1,000,938 — — 41,163 1,042,101
Primary and secondary education.. 10,000,438 — — — 10,000,438
Higher education.............ccccovviriivieciniccccccecns 3,816,777 — — 491,906 4,308,683
Health and human services............c..cccceveeeeiivenenn, 16,810,264 — —_ 94,108 16,904,372
Economic development 334,391 — — 407,977 742,368
Environment and natural resources 341,841 —_ — 261,271 603,112
Public safety, corrections, and regulation..................... 2,495,006 — — 258,388 2,753,394
Transportation — 3,065,115 594,946 8 3,660,069
Agriculture.......... 101,541 — — 11,612 113,153
Capital outlay............ccooeeviiieiiieiececeeece e — — — 364,121 364,121
Debt service:
Principal retirement................ccoovvviviieceeeeeeee e, 402,327 61,745 58,873 3,787 526,732
Interest and fees........ 346,842 19,355 26,336 899 393,432
Debt issuance costs...... 891 27 27 3,233 4,178
Total expenditures............cccvevveereenennn. 35,651,256 3,146,242 680,182 1,938,473 41,416,153
Excess revenues over (under) expenditures................... (435,178) 118,203 296,925 (616,366) (636,416)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Special indebtedness issued..............c..coooveeveciiiinnn. — — — 500,000 500,000
Refunding bonds issued...................coccovvvenenen.. 774,745 — — — 774,745
Premium on debt issued.............................. 158,713 — — 32,322 191,035
Payment to refunded bond escrow agent........................ (370,982) — — - (370,982)
Payment of debt service prinCipal..............c.coevevreevnnne. (499,870) — — — (499,870)
Sale of capital assets 5,984 5,109 789 236 12,118
INSUranCe reCoVEries.........ccovvvieriniieiecreee e 822 6,489 — 8 7,319
Transfers in (Note 10).......ccccevevviiiciicriiicrccceeeeee e 1,015,902 37,263 — 78,403 1,131,568
Transfers out (Note 10).........c..ccoceveennenen. (61,084) (300,066) (158,346) (178,823) (698,319)
Total other financing sources (uses) 1,024,230 (251,205) (157,557) 432,146 1,047,614
Net change in fund balances..............c..ccccoovveiiccvinennan. 589,052 (133,002) 139,368 (184,220) 411,198
Fund balances — July 1, as restated (Note 24). 594,653 780,964 47,498 1,796,040 3,219,155
Fund balances — June 30..........c.cccoveveeeneieeereeeeennn, $ 1,183,705 $ 647,962 § 186,866 $ 1,611,820 § 3,630,353

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.



State of North Carolina

63

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

Exhibit B-2a

(Dollars in Thousands)

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (see Exhibit B-2)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different
because:

Capital outlays are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. However, in the
Statement of Activities, the cost of capital assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives as depreciation expense. In the current period, these amounts are:
Capital outlays (including construction-in-progress) .............ccoveveeuevereevrierereeeeeeeeeieeenennns $ 2,577,893
Less: Depreciation expense (excluding internal service funds) ..
Net capital outlay adjustment ..o

Proceeds from the sale of capital assets increase financial resources in the funds,
whereas in the Statement of Activities only the gain or loss on the sale is reported. This
adjustment reduces the proceeds by the book value of the capital assets sold.

Donations of capital assets do not appear in the governmental funds because they
are not financial resources, but increase net assets in the Statement of Activities.

Derivative termination payments to counterparties consume financial resources of
governmental funds but have no effect on net assets.

Long-term debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds,
while the repayment of the related debt principal consumes those financial resources.
These transactions, however, have no effect on net assets. Also, governmental funds
report the effect of premiums and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these
amounts are deferred and amortized in the Statement of Activities. In the current period,
these amounts consist of:
Debt issued or incurred:
Bonds and similar debt ISSUEM ............c.ccoeoiviiieiiieceiieeee ettt (500,000)
Refunding bONAS iSSUBT .........c.c.eoiiiviicecieeiece ettt ettt beenes (774,745)
Premiums on debt iSSUBA ...........ccooviiiieii ittt (191,035)
Principal repayments:
Bonds, notes, and similar debt ................coiiiiiiiii e 525,225
Capital leases (excluding internal SErvice fUNds) ..........cccovvveuiiereereeeeeiee e 1,507
Payments to escrow agent for refundings .............. 370,982

Payment of debt Service prinCipal ...........cccoeveiviiiieieeeecece et 499,870

Net debt adjustments ...........ccooriiiiii e

Some revenues in the Statement of Activities do not provide current financial
resources and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. Also, revenues related to prior
periods that became available during the current period are reported in the funds but
are eliminated in the Statement of Activities. This amount is the net adjustment.

Changes in fair value of investment derivatives are not current financial resources
in governmental funds but are recognized in the Statement of Activities

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and, therefore, are not recognized in the funds. Also,
some payments related to prior periods are recognized in the funds but are eliminated
in the Statement of Activities. In the current period, the net adjustments consist of:
ACCTUB INEEIESE ...ttt e et e e e st e een e (639)

Compensated absences (excluding internal service funds) . 7,975
Workers' compensation ..............cccccoevvieiieeiececeeeeeeiens (30,537)
Deferred death bEnefit ...............ccccuevviiiiieiiieiiiiieicce et 130
Net pension oblIgation ...............ccovveeiiiiii i (4,047)
Pollution remediation (315)
Amortization of deferred amMOUNtS ............ccccvevivieiiieiiiiicc e 36,251

Net EXPENSE ACCTUAIS ...........cocveiviieiecieietectce ettt et ettt r e e reeseesens e e anean

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of certain
activities to individual funds. The net revenues of internal service funds are
included with governmental activities in the Statement of Activities (see Exhibit B-4).

Change in net assets - governmental activities (see Exhibit A-2)

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

(689,370)

$ 411,198

1,888,523

(66,679)

358

49,903

(68,196)

(17,920)

164

8,818

(43,828)
$ 2,162,341
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 30, 2011

(Dollars in Thousands)
Business-type Activities —
Enterprise Funds

Unemployment EPA N.C. State N.C.
Compensation Revolving Loan Lottery Turnpike
Fund Fund Fund Authority
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)............c.cccceeviiirieennnns $ 127,227 $ 341,029 $ 15,777 $ —
Investments (Note 3).......cccoceeiieiinneiiee e — — 3,000 -_—
Securities lending collateral (Note 3)..........c..ccccoveevieieeeenns 10,280 28,934 1,593 41,712
Receivables: (Note 4)

Accounts receivable, net...........cccvvviiieniiiiiccce e 46,945 — 9,897 2

Intergovernmental receivable..............c..cccoooveeeiieeeiienen. 47,799 83 — 6,569

Interest receivable................... 104 5,567 30 —

Premiums receivable — — —_ —

Contributions receivable, net...............c.cccooveveeeiveveiennn, 443,754 — —_— —
Notes receivable, net (Note 4)...........ccccoovvivniviieiniiceis — 57,487 — _
Due from other funds (Note 10)............cccoeevivveciceiieeeee 7,048 —_ —_ —
Due from component units (Note 19)........c.ccccvveevevivvriienenns — — —_ -_
Inventories.........cocovevviineeeceeeeieren, — — 16 —_
Prepaid iEMS..........cooeiiiiiieiee s — — 32 _—
Restricted/designated cash and cash equivalents (Note 3).. —_ — — -
Restricted investments (Note 3)..........c.cccceevvveveicieecieciee, — — — —

Total current @ssets..........cccceevvveveeiiiiiieiiceieeee e 683,157 433,100 30,345 48,283
Noncurrent Assets:
Investments (NOte 3)........cccvveuiruieieieieieieeeeeee e — — 35,620 —
Receivables: (Note 4)

Contributions receivable, net...............c.cccevevveeiieeiniininnn, 53,329 —_— —_ —
Notes receivable, net (Note 4).........ccccceveviviviiieneiecnene — 769,300 — —
Deferred Charges...........oooovivuieeueeceeeeeeeeeee e — — 148 27,299
Restricted investments (Note 3)............... — — — 679,207
Capital assets-nondepreciable (Note 5)...............cccoceveenneeeee. — — — 689,362
Capital assets-depreciable, net (Note 5) ............ccoeerernnene. — 65 819 20

Total noncurrent assets...........ccocevveieiecenesiecienieseneens 53,329 769,365 36,587 1,395,888
Total ASSELS......oveeeieeieieer e 736,486 1,202,465 66,932 1,444,171
Liabilities
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

Accounts payable............c.coceeeiiiiieiiiiieee e 11,048 64 17,559 29,546

Accrued Payroll..........ccocueevicieeiriiieeeeeee e — — 666 —

Intergovernmental payable............cccccoovveiieieeciecieee 12,380 — —_ —

Claims payable..........ccccovievireninieieirre e - —_ — -
Unemployment benefits payable.......... 74,636 —_ — —
Obligations under securities lending.............ccccceeeneniirnnnnne 10,907 30,298 1,427 44,491
Interest payable...........ccooovvieiiiiiceee e 52,718 — —_ 23,973
Due to other funds (Note 10)..........ccccveeeiiieiiieieieeieeieens 3,080 21 7,470 228
Due to component units (Note 10)..........cccccvecvecieriieiieneenns - —_ —_ —_—
Unearned reVENUE..........ccouveiirieeeieeeecreeie e e 4,241 — 27 —_
Deposits payable —_ -_— —_ —
Annuity and life income payable (Note 8).............ccccvvennnne — — 3,000 —
Notes payable (Note 8)............ccveeveeueeeecieeceeceee e — — — —
Capital leases payable (Note 8)..........c..ccoeeevierveeeennnns — —_ — -
Federal unemployment account advances (Note 8).............. 800,000 — — —

Compensated absences (Note 8)............ccceeveveeevecceirnennn. — 24 68 9

Total current liabilities.................c.oooooiiiis 969,010 30,407 30,217 98,247
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Exhibit B-3

Governmental
Activities —
Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds
$ 41,248 $ 525,281 84,607
110,945 113,945 25,330
9,058 91,577 4,862
1,426 58,270 14,666
— 54,451 8
78 5,779 26
1,075 1,075 54
— 443,754 —
7 57,494 —
— 7,048 21,955
— — 624
515 531 347
3,636 3,568 1,277
98 98 —
1,910 1,910 —
169,896 1,364,781 153,756
2,935 38,555 —
— 53,329 —
75 769,375 —
— 27,447 —
— 679,207 —
7,792 697,154 3,396
40,446 41,350 100,998
51,248 2,306,417 104,394
221,144 3,671,198 258,150
1,791 60,008 9,023
120 786 1,150
— 12,380 —
33,152 33,152 1,484
— 74,636 _—
9,433 96,556 5,040
— 76,691 98
76 10,875 765
6,059 6,059 —_
24,626 28,894 7,888
94 94 —
— 3,000 —
342 342 —
— — 667
- 800,000 —_
417 518 467
76,110 1,203,991 26,582

Continued
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STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 30, 2011

(Dollars in Thousands)

Noncurrent Liabilities:

Accounts payable.............ccvveeuriiiieeien e

Advances from other funds (Note 10)..........

Annuity and life income payable (Note 8)....

Notes payable (Note 8)...........c..cccvvvvemenenne.

Capital leases payable (Note 8)

Bonds payable, net (Note 8)............c.ccoeveveiiveeieeveeceeiee

Federal unemployment account advances (Note 8)..

Compensated absences (Note 8)
Total noncurrent liabilities....
Total Liabilities

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted for:
Capital outlaY.......c.cceiiiiiiriiice e
Other purposes.....
Unrestricted.....................
Total Net Assets

Business-type Activities —
Enterprise Funds

Unemployment EPA N.C. State N.C.

Compensation Revolving Loan Lottery Turnpike
Fund Fund Fund Authority

— — — 15,328

_ — — 21,011

- — 35,620 —

— — — 264,596

—_ - — 854,550

1,736,169 — —_ _

— 458 1,095 99

1,736,169 458 36,715 1,155,584

2,705,179 30,865 66,932 1,253,831

— 65 819 249,444

(1,968,693) 1,171,535 (819) (59,104)

$  (1,968,693) $ 1,171,600 $ — $ 190,340

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit B-3

Governmental
Activities —
Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds

— 15,328 597

— 21,011 —

— 35,620 —

4,092 268,688 —_
—_ — 693

— 854,550 —

— 1,736,169 —

4,446 6,098 5,745
8,538 2,937,464 7,035
84,648 4,141,455 33,617
43,830 294,158 103,034

1,933 1,933 —

1,198 1,198 —
89,535 (767,546) 121,499

$ 136,496 $ (470,257) $ 224,533



68 State of North Carolina

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

(Dollars in Thousands)

Operating Revenues:

Employer unemployment contributions...........

Interest earnings on loans...............cccouennee.e.
Rental and lease earnings.............c...cccevene.

Fees, licenses, and fines......
Insurance premiums..............cccevveeeeevervenennnn,
Miscellaneous.............cccocveveeiieiccieieeeee.

Total operating revenues...........................

Operating Expenses:

Personal services..........c..cccoceeeivciiiceceee

Cost of goods sold..........cccoovverrieiiricciecenee
Depreciation/amortization.................c.............
Lottery prizes...... .
Claims.......ccocovvnvrirniinienenns
Unemployment benefits....

Total operating expenses...............ccou.....
Operating income (I0SS)............cocvevenenn...

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):

Noncapital grants..........cccccoeveevvecvececceeeens

Noncapital gifts, net..........cccc.ocoeeeeviiiieiennn,

Investment earnings...........ccccoceceverenenennne

Interest and fees...........
Insurance recoveries........

Grants, aid and subsidies..............
Gain (loss) on sale of equipment...
Federal interest subsidy on debt....

Federal recovery funds..............ccoccocvevrnnnnnnn.
Miscellaneous...........c.ccocevvvuverieeeecrenenns

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)..

Income (loss) before contributions

and transfers
Capital contributions........
Transfers in (Note 10)......
Transfers out (Note 10)

Change in net assets............cccccoveuvnnene.
Net assets — July 1, as restated (Note 24)........
Net assets — June 30..........cceevrvvieiireieeeennnn,

Business-type Activities —
Enterprise Funds

Unemployment EPA N.C. State N.C.
Compensation Revolving Loan Lottery Turnpike
Fund Fund Fund Authority
$ 1,219,310 $ — $ — $ —
74,794 — — —
—_ 2,063 1,459,578 —
— 18,201 — —
- — 4,962 -
— 124 99 —_
1,294,104 20,388 1,464,639 —
— 4,949 15,824 1,155
— 29 127 17
— 1,460 145,745 736
—_ 19 624 15
_ — 862,996 —
4,368,015 — — _
—_ —_ 9 —_
— 630 3,184 1,873
4,368,015 7,087 1,028,509 3,796
(3,073,911) 13,301 436,130 (3,796)
2,270,783 34,717 — —_
502 3,496 1,176 4,369
(52,718) - — (1,008)
- (35,667) — —
— (48) (6) —
—_ — — 10,843
599,562 66,243 — —
(29) (95) (5) (136)
2,818,100 68,646 1,165 14,068
(255,811) 81,947 437,295 10,272
— — — 11,630
- 13,532 - 69,153
(11,816) (453) (437,295) —
(267,627) 95,026 — 91,055
(1,701,066) 1,076,574 — 99,285
$ (1,968,693) § 1,171,600 $ — $ 190,340

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit B-4

Governmental
Activities —
Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds

$ — $ 1,219,310 —
— 74,794 72
1,216 1,462,857 316,450

— 18,201 —

6,597 6,597 21
94,206 99,168 151
16,046 16,046 17,713
1,649 1,872 323
119,714 2,898,845 334,730
59,161 81,089 75,829
2,325 2,498 18,343
23,342 171,283 125,231
400 400 592

2,726 3,384 25,819

—_ 862,996 —

31,120 31,120 74

—_ 4,368,015 —_

4,809 4,818 16,257
8,162 13,849 57,325
132,045 5,539,452 319,470
(12,331) (2,640,607) 15,260
421 2,305,921 340

395 395 3

5,424 14,967 1,857

(158) (53,884) —

— : —_ 121

(6,050) (41,717) —

2 (52) 214

— 10,843 —

139 665,944 —

1 (264) 152

174 2,902,153 2,687
(12,157) 261,546 17,947
57 11,687 52

1,546 84,231 14,605
(6,089) (455,653) (76,432)
(16,643) (98,189) (43,828)

153,139 (372,068) 268,361

$ 136,496 $  (470,257) 224,533
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

(Dollars in Thousands)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Receipts from cUStOMETrs.............ccooueevieiiiciiiiceeceece e
Receipts from federal agencies..
Receipts from other funds
Payments to SUPPIIETS..........ccccvviiiiieiiiiece e
Payments to employees............c.ccooveviiiieieiiieee e
Payments for prizes, benefits, and claims
Payments to other funds
Other reCEIPES......c.iveirieiee et
Other PaymMeNnts...........ccccoiviriirieirieieeee e

Net cash flows provided (used) by operating activities............

Cash Provided From (Used For)

Noncapital Financing Activities:
Grant FECEIPES .....cuvvvvieeerieiiieeiee e
Federal recovery funds...........
Subsidy to other governments....
Principal payments on borrowing..............cccouveeeinnennieienneneene
Advances from federal unemployment account
Payments to federal unemployment account ....
Interest expense and issuance cost...................
Advances from other funds..............cccoecinnee
Transfers from other funds...........cccooeiiiiiriiiiie

Total cash provided from (used for)
noncapital financing activities...........cc..ccceevveviiiiiiiiie e,

Cash Provided From (Used For)

Capital and Related Financing Activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets....
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets........
Proceeds from capital debt
Transfers from other funds
Capital Grants..........ccccovieiieiienireee e
Capital contributions..............cccveviiieiiicicceee e
Principal paid on capital debt.............ccooooiiiiini
Interest paid on capital debt..........
Federal subsidy for interest on debt..
INSUTANCE FECOVETIES.......c..cviviiiiiiiiicecie et
Debt issuance costs paid............cccccvrireiienieiiiee e

Total cash provided from (used for)
capital and related financing activities............c...ccccecniiinenns

Cash Provided From (Used For)
Investment Activities:
Proceeds from the sale/maturities of
non-State Treasurer iNvestMents..............ocveeveevinenininenene
Purchase of non-State Treasurer investments..
Purchase into State Treasurer investment pool
Redemptions from State Treasurer investment pool......................
Loan iSSUANCES..........ccouevvireiieiriiniriiniceceee s
Loan repayments — interest..
Loan repayments — principal...........cccoevviviuieiie i
Investment @arnings.............ccoiiiiieniinc e
Total cash provided from (used for)
investment activities...........ccvverivrrieien
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents..................
Cash and cash equivalents at July 1, as restated

Cash and cash equivalents at June 30

Business-type Activities —
Enterprise Funds

Unemployment EPA N.C. State N.C.
Compensation Revolving Loan Lottery Turnpike
Fund Fund Fund Authority
$ 1,140,370 $ 2,063 $ 1,359,272 $ —
101,385 — — —
— (1,532) (44,973) (1,262)
- (4,940) (15,468) (1,188)
(4,555,831) — (873,500) —
— 124 17 —
— (554) (1,147) (1,765)
(3,314,076) (4,839) 424,201 (4,215)
2,350,917 34,668 — —
679,556 66,253 — —
— (35,667) — —
1,430,322 —_ — —
(1,043,677) — — —
— — — 2,732
— 13,632 — —
(11,816) (453) (447,952) —
3,405,302 78,333 (447,952) 2,732
— (16) (211) (326,406)
— — — 429,716
— — — 69,153
— — — 11,600
— — — (37,869)
— — — 8,691
— — — (1,689)
- (16) (211) 153,196
— — — 747,335
— — — (908,094)
— (101,793) — —_
— 17,858 —_— —
— 57,440 —_ —
879 3,013 979 8,108
879 (23,482) 979 (152,651)
92,105 49,996 (22,983) (938)
35,122 291,033 38,760 938
$ 127,227 $ 341,029 3 15,777 $ —

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit B-5

Other Total
Enterprise Enterprise
Funds Funds
$ 121,412 $ 2,623,117
— 101,385
(25,832) (73,599)
(55,826) (77,422)
(14,602) (5,443,933)
1,212 1,353
(17,522) (20,988)
8,842 (2,890,087)
431 2,386,016
139 745,948
— (35,667)
— 1,430,322
— (1,043,677)
— 2,732
1,546 15,078
(6,089) (466,310)
395 395
(3,578) 3,034,837
(1,555) (328,188)
3 3
— 429,716
— 69,153
— 11,600
58 58
(1,902) (1,902)
(44) (37,913)
— 8,691
— (1,689)
(3,440) 149,529
9,827 757,162
(10,006) (918,100)
(10,000) (10,000)
4,000 4,000
— (101,793)
— 17,858
— 57,440
823 13,802
(5,356) (179,631)
(3,532) 114,648
44,878 410,731
$ 41346 $ 525379

Governmental
Activities —
Internal
Service
Funds

$ 44,679
72

291,392
(201,216)
(75,237)
(323)
(16,203)

490
(863)

42,791

—————————————

14,551
(76,432)
3

(62,107)

(13,476)
811

(13,265)

359
(32,222)
116,829

e —_——

3 84,607

e ————————
—

Continued
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

(Dollars in Thousands)

Business-type Activities —
Enterprise Funds

Unemployment EPA N.C. State N.C.
Compensation Revolving Loan Lottery Turnpike
Fund Fund Fund Authority

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash Provided
From (Used For) Operating Activities:
Operating INCOME (I0SS)........covreriririereeieiriee e seseeeene $ (3,073,911) $ 13,301 $ 436,130 $ (3,796)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash flows from operating activities:
Depreciation/amortization..............cccceceveieiiiineincnnnen — 19 624 15
Interest earnings on loans classified as investing activity. — (18,201) — —
Restatements and adjustments - -
Nonoperating miscellaneous income (expense)...........c..c........ — — 23
(Increases) decreases in assets:
RECEIVADIES.......couevieieiiei et (31,663) — (3,249) (2
(2,041) — — -

Due from component units...
Inventories...........cccceenen.
Prepaid items..........coooiiiiiii e
Increases (decreases) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities...............c.ccccoeevennnne (164,560) 29 (9,617) (624)
Due to other funds............coeviirieierieceee e 3,035 4 — 225
Unemployment benefits payable..........c..ccccoriiievininnnnne (31,197) — — -
Compensated @bSENCES................c.oeveveruerrrveiieiesaeieseeeeseenens — 9 70 (33)
Unearned reVENUE. ............cceeevveeeiieeiiieeeetee et (13,739) —_ 9 —_
Deposits payable............ccoooveiieriinieee e — — - -
Total cash provided from
(used for) Operations...........coceveeererereereeeeeeee e $ (3,314,076) $ (4,839) $ 424,201 $ (4,215)

.................. — — 193 -
— — 18 —

Noncash Investing, Capital, and Financing Activities:
Noncash distributions from the State Treasurer
Long-Term Investment Portfolio and/or other agents
Donated or transferred assets
Change in construction in progress as a result of accrual
of accounts payable
Capital asset Write-0ff..............cocoevieiiiie e
Assets acquired through the assumption of a liability..................... 10,280 28,934 13,055 41,712
Increase in payables related to nonoperating expenses -_ - —_ -

— — — 29,490

Change in fair value of investments.............ccccccveieirveriere e (627) (1,363) 165 (1,544)
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Governmental
Activities —
Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds
$  (12,331) $ (2,640,607) $ 15,260
2,726 3,384 25,819
— (18,201) —
166 166 —
40 63 168
3,139 (31,775) (643)
— (2,041) 2,288
— — 271
38 231 (224)
(514) (496) (146)
15,767 (159,005) 127
(26) 3,238 (135)
— (31,197) —
73 119 184
(290) (14,020) (178)
54 54 —
$ 8,842 $ (2,890,087) 3 42,791
$ 4,108 $ 4,108 $ 1,441
— - 106
— 29,490 —
46 46 —
8,932 102,913 4,862
6,059 6,059 —
179 (3,190) (257)

Exhibit B-5
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STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

June 30, 2011 Exhibit B-6
(Dollars in Thousands)
Pension
and Other
Employee Private-
Benefit Investment Purpose
Trust Trust Trust Agency
Funds Fund Funds Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)...............ccooevvevieervicrncnne. $ 865,106 $ 5,686 $ 113,296 4,225,313
Investments (Note 3):
U.S. government and agency securities................cccoccvevrvennnne — — 753 —_
Corporate bonds............ccocoeevereveeverrenn, — — — 2,578
Certificates of deposit — — 60,502 325
Mutual funds..........coccoviiiiniiicece e 122,117 _ — —
State Treasurer investment pool..... 75,705,833 881,445 8,800 36,264
Unallocated insurance contracts.................. 749,593 _ — -
Synthetic guaranteed investment contracts.. 1,188,693 — — -
Non-State Treasurer pooled investments................c.ccoevvenee. 3,941,548 — -_— —
Securities lending collateral (Note 3).............c.c.ceevevivrrcnivnenee. 2,742,165 63,379 391 316,400
Receivables:
Taxes receivable..........cocovueviriuieieieeieeeeeee e — — — 123,800
Accounts receivable............. 27,780 —_ — 13,488
Interest receivable............. 1,027 — 4 —_
Contributions receivable....... 133,317 — — —
Due from other funds (Note 10)... 46,783 — — 20,678
Due from component units....... 16,298 —_ —_ —
Notes receivable................... 241,900 —_ — —
Sureties........cocovvviiiiiiiieeee, — — 876,970 95,174
Total ASSELS........ciiiieiiiiccese s 85,782,160 950,510 1,060,716 4,834,020
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable.............ccooiiiiiiiieeicecee e 485 4,887 — 544
Intergovernmental payable.. — — - 502,149
Benefits payable.........cccccoeueennn. 67,057 — —_ —
Obligations under securities lending.. 2,829,832 66,497 416 330,392
Deposits payable...............ccccccvveeenn.. — — —_ 2,133
Funds held for others.. — — — 3,998,802
Total Liabilities.........cccooveieieiiiieccccecee e 2,897,374 71,384 416 4,834,020
Net Assets
Held in trust for:
Employees' pension and other benefits.... . 82,884,786 — — —
Pool participants..........c.ccooeeivuiiviiviiieececeeee — 879,126 —_ —
Individuals, organizations, and other governments................. — — 1,060,300 —
Total Net ASSets........cccocvrieiiiiiccccce e $ 82,884,786 $ 879,126 $ 1,060,300 —

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011 Exhibit B-7

(Dollars in Thousands)

Additions:
Contributions:
Employer.....
Members............
Trustee deposits.......
Other contributions.............cccoovviiiiiieiciceeee e
Total contributions..............c.ccevviiviviecicicceeeeceee e
Investment income:
Investment earnings...........cccoveevveececececececeeeee e
Less investment eXpenses............ccccocveviiiiieie e
Net investment income.............ccccoveveiiiieciceceeceenn
Pool share transactions:
Reinvestment of dividends.............c..cccooveiiiviieicieee
Net share purchases/(redemptions)..............c..cccooeeiriiinnnns
Net pool share transactions................cccccovevvieiiveiiiieceen
Other additions:
Fees, licenses, and fines............c.ccceveveeeicceecicceceeeeee
Interest earnings on 10aNs.............cccovvveiieiece
Miscellaneous..............
Total other additions
Total additions..........ccecvevviiiieicicececeee s

Deductions:
Claims and benefits........ccococvviiiiiiciiiiieecce e
Medical insurance premiums ...
Refund of contributions.............
Distributions paid and payable.....................co.c.......
Payments in accordance with trust arrangements..
Administrative expenses...............cceceevieveieiieenean,
Other deductions............
Total dedUCtions...........cceiiuiiiiiieiciecceee e
Change innetassets............c.cccoecveveceiccecceccceeeee
Net assets — July 1...........
Net assets — June 30

The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement.

Pension
and Other
Employee Private-
Benefit Investment Purpose
Trust Trust Trust
Funds Fund Funds
$ 2,059,353 $ — $ —
1,512,985 — —
— — 125,271
37,207 — —
3,609,545 — 125,271
13,004,772 34,652 3,637
(293,057) (455) (2)
12,711,715 34,197 3,535
—_ 34,197 —
— 149,945 —
— 184,142 —
4,160 — —
12,024 — —
4,061 — —
20,245 — —
16,341,505 218,339 128,806
4,668,850 — —_
653,032 — —
131,416 — —
— 34,197 —
— — 143,099
19,911 — —
10 — —
5,473,219 34,197 143,099
10,868,286 184,142 (14,293)
72,016,500 694,984 1,074,593
$ 82,884,786 $ 879,126 $ 1,060,300
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NOTE 1:

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Financial Reporting Entity

The accompanying government-wide financial statements
present the State of North Carolina and its component units.
The State of North Carolina, as primary government, consists of
all organizations that make up its legal entity. All funds, organi-
zations, agencies, boards, commissions, and authorities that are
not legally separate are, for financial reporting purposes, part of
the primary government. The primary government has a
separately elected governing body (the General Assembly) and
the primary government must be both legally separate and
fiscally independent. Component units are legally separate
entities for which the State is financially accountable.
Accountability is defined as the State's substantive appointment
of a majority of the component unit's governing board.
Furthermore, to be financially accountable, the State must be
able to impose its will upon the component unit or there must
be a possibility that the component unit may provide specific
financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on,
the State. Financial accountability also exists when an
organization is fiscally dependent upon the State. The State’s
defined benefit pension plans, deferred compensation plans, and
other employee benefit plans, being fiduciary in nature, were
not evaluated as potential component units but instead are
reported as fiduciary funds.

The State’s component units are either blended or
discretely presented. The blended component unit is so
intertwined with the State that it is, in substance, the same as
the State and, therefore, is reported as if it was part of the State
primary government. The “Component Units” column in the
accompanying financial statements includes the financial data
of the State’s discretely presented component units. They are
combined and reported in a separate column in the government-
wide financial statements to emphasize their legal separateness
from the State.

Blended Component Unit

The North Carolina Infrastructure Finance Corporation

The North Carolina Infrastructure Finance Corporation
(Corporation) was created by the General Assembly and
organized as a separate not-for-profit corporation. It is
managed by a three-member board appointed by the State
Treasurer. The Corporation is authorized to issue tax-exempt
debt to finance the acquisition, construction, repair and
renovation of State facilities and related infrastructure. The
debt obligations are secured by lease-purchase agreements or
installment financing contracts with the State, which constitute
the imposition of a financial burden on the State. The substance
of the financing agreements is that the assets and debt are those
of the State (lessee). The Corporation is reported with the
State’s governmental funds since it provides services entirely to
the State.

Discretely Presented Component Units - Major

The Golden LEAF (Long-term Economic Advancement
Foundation), Inc.

The Golden LEAF, Inc. (Foundation) is a legally separate
not-for-profit corporation ordered to be created by the Consent
Decree and Final Judgment in the State of North Carolina vs.
Philip Morris, et al. The Foundation was established to receive
and distribute 50 percent of the tobacco settlement funds
allocated to North Carolina, such funds to be used to provide
economic impact assistance to economically affected or
tobacco-dependent regions of North Carolina. The Foundation
is governed by a 15-member board, all of whom are appointed
by either the Governor, President Pro Tempore of the Senate, or
the Speaker of the House. The State assigned 50 percent of its
share of the settlement to the Foundation, creating a financial
benefit/burden relationship.

University of North Carolina System

The Board of Governors of the consolidated University of
North Carolina (UNC) System is a legally separate body,
composed of 32 members elected by the General Assembly.
The Board of Governors establishes system-wide administrative
policies while budgetary decisions are exercised at the State
level. Within the consolidated System are UNC-General
Administration, which is the administrative arm of the Board of
Governors; the 16 constituent universities; a joint research
campus; a constituent high school; and the University of North
Carolina Health Care System (UNCHCS). Each of the 16
universities, the joint research campus, and the high school, in
turn, is governed by its own separate board of trustees that is
responsible for the operations of that campus only. UNCHCS is
governed by a separate board of directors. Funding for the
UNC System is accomplished by State appropriations, tuition
and fees, sales and services, federal grants, state grants, and
private donations and grants.

Also included in the System are the financial data of the
universities’ significant fund-raising foundations (and similarly
affiliated organizations). Although the universities do not
control the timing or amount of receipts from their foundations,
the majority of resources (or income thereon) that the
foundations hold and invest are restricted to the activities of the
respective universities by the donors. Because these restricted
resources held by the foundations can only be used by, or for
the benefit of, the specific universities, the foundations are
considered component units of the universities and are included
in the universities’ financial statements. The foundations are
private not-for-profit organizations that report under Financial
Accounting Standards Board pronouncements. As such, certain
revenue recognition criteria and presentation features are
different from that of the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board. The foundations’ financial statement formats were
modified to make them compatible with the universities’
financial statement formats.
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The following constituent institutions comprise the UNC
System for financial reporting purposes:

UNC General Administration

Appalachian State University

East Carolina University

Elizabeth City State University

Fayetteville State University

North Carolina Agricultural and Technical State University
North Carolina Central University

North Carolina State University

University of North Carolina at Asheville

University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill
University of North Carolina at Charlotte

University of North Carolina at Greensboro
University of North Carolina at Pembroke
University of North Carolina at Wilmington
University of North Carolina School of the Arts
Western Carolina University

Winston-Salem State University

Gateway University Research Park, Inc.

North Carolina School of Science and Mathematics
University of North Carolina Health Care System

Community Colleges

There are currently 58 community colleges located
throughout the State of North Carolina. Each is a separate com-
ponent unit of the reporting entity and is legally separate. The
State does not appoint a voting majority of each community
college board of trustees. However, the State is financially
accountable for these institutions because the State Board of
Community Colleges (the Board) approves the budgeting of
state and federal funds, the associated budget revisions, and the
selection of the chief administrative officer of each individual
community college. The Board is comprised of state officials
or their appointees. Each community college is similar in
nature and function to all of the others, and the operations of no
single community college are considered major in relation to
the operations of all community colleges in the system. There-
fore, aggregated financial information is presented in this
CAFR for all community colleges.

The aggregated financial information for community
colleges also includes the financial data of the institutions’
significant fund-raising foundations. Although the community
colleges do not control the timing or amount of receipts from
their foundations, the majority of resources (or income thereon)
that the foundations hold and invest are restricted to the
activities of the respective community colleges by the donors.
Because these restricted resources held by the foundations can
only be used by, or for the benefit of, the specific community
colleges, the foundations are considered component units of the
community colleges and are included in the community
colleges’ financial statements. The foundations are private not-
for-profit organizations that report under Financial Accounting
Standards Board pronouncements. As such, certain revenue
recognition criteria and presentation features are different from
that of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. The
foundations’ financial statement formats were modified to make
them compatible with the community colleges’ financial
statement formats.

The following are the State’s 58 community colleges:

Alamance Comm. College
Beaufort County Comm. College
Blue Ridge Comm. College

Caldwell Comm. College and Tech. Institute

Carteret Comm. College

Central Carolina Comm. College
Cleveland Comm. College
College of The Albemarle
Davidson County Comm. College
Edgecombe Comm. College
Forsyth Technical Comm. College
Guilford Technical Comm. College
Haywood Comm. College

James Sprunt Comm. College
Lenoir Comm. College

Mayland Comm. College

Mitchell Comm. College

Nash Comm. College

Piedmont Comm. College
Randolph Comm. College
Roanoke-Chowan Comm. College
Rockingham Comm. College
Sampson Comm. College

South Piedmont Comm. College
Southwestern Comm. College
Surry Comm. College
Vance-Granville Comm. College
Wayne Comm. College

Wilkes Comm. College

Asheville-Buncombe Technical Comm. College
Bladen Comm. College

Brunswick Comm. College

Cape Fear Comm. College
Catawba Valley Comm. College
Central Piedmont Comm. College
Coastal Carolina Comm. College
Craven Comm. College

Durham Technical Comm. College
Fayetteville Technical Comm. College
Gaston College

Halifax Comm. College

Isothermal Comm. College
Johnston Comm. College

Martin Comm. College

McDowell Technical Comm. College
Montgomery Comm. College
Pamlico Comm. College

Pitt Comm. College

Richmond Comm. College

Robeson Comm. College
Rowan-Cabarrus Comm. College
Sandhills Comm. College
Southeastern Comm. College
Stanly Comm. College

Tri-County Comm. College

Wake Technical Comm. College
Western Piedmont Comm. College
Wilson Comm. College

North Carolina Housing Finance Agency
The North Carolina Housing Finance Agency (Agency) is

a legally separate organization established to administer
programs to finance housing opportunities for low and
moderate income individuals. The Agency has a 13-member
board of directors, with 12 appointed by either the Governor or
the General Assembly. The 13th member is elected by the other
12. The Agency’s mission is defined in its authorizing statute,
which is modified or expanded from time to time by the
General Assembly. The General Assembly also appropriates
funds that assist the Agency in its mission to finance housing
for very low income individuals and those with special needs.

State Education Assistance Authority

The State Education Assistance Authority (Authority) is a
legally separate authority created to provide a system of
financial assistance, consisting of grants, loans, work-study or
other employment, and other aids, to qualified students to
obtain an education beyond the high school level by attending
public or private educational institutions. The Authority is
governed by a nine-member board of directors, seven of whom
are appointed by the Governor and two of whom serve ex-
officio by virtue of their positions with the N.C. Community
College System and the University of North Carolina System.
The State provides program subsidies to the Authority;
therefore, a financial benefit/burden relationship exists between
the State and the Authority.
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State Health Plan

The State Health Plan (Plan) is a legally separate
organization established to provide medical and pharmacy
benefits to employees and retirees of the State, most of its
component units, and local boards of education that are not part
of the reporting entity. The Plan is governed by a nine-member
board of trustees, all of whom are appointed by either the
Governor or the General Assembly. Health benefits and
contribution rates are determined by the General Assembly,
with the State making significant contributions as an employer
and through its funding of local boards of education.

Discretely Presented Component Units - Other

North Carolina Global TransPark Authority

The North Carolina Global TransPark Authority
(Authority) is a legally separate authority created to administer
the development of the North Carolina Global TransPark. Of
the 20-member governing board, 19 are voting members. Seven
of the voting members are appointed by the Governor and six
are appointed by the General Assembly. The State has obligated
itself to provide significant funding to the Authority; therefore,
a financial benefit/burden relationship exists between the State
and the Authority. Also included in the Authority are the
financial data of its discretely presented component unit, the
North Carolina Global TransPark Foundation.

North Carolina State Ports Authority

The North Carolina State Ports Authority (Authority) is a
legally separate authority established to operate the State's port
facilities in Wilmington and Morehead City and inland
terminals in Charlotte and Greensboro. It is governed by an 11-
member board, all of whom are appointed by either the
Governor or the General Assembly. The State has obligated
itself to provide significant funding to the Authority; therefore,
a financial benefit/burden relationship exists between the State
and the Authority.

North Carolina Railroad Company

The North Carolina Railroad Company (Railroad) is a
legally separate, for-profit corporation owned by the State for
the purpose of promoting trade, industry, and transportation
within North Carolina and advancing the economic interests of
the State. The Railroad is governed by a 13-member board, all
of whom are elected by shares held by the State. A financial
benefit/burden relationship exists between the State and the
Railroad. Also, the State is financially accountable since the
State’s intent in owning the Railroad’s stock is to directly
enhance the State’s ability to provide governmental services.

North Carolina Agricultural Finance Authority

The North Carolina Agricultural Finance Authority
(Authority) is a legally separate authority created to administer
the financing of loans to farmers and agribusiness at reasonable
terms and interest rates. The Authority is governed by a 10-
member board, one of whom is a state official and nine of
whom are appointed by either the Governor or the General
Assembly. A financial benefit/burden relationship exists
between the State and the Authority.

The North Carolina Partnership for Children, Inc.

The North Carolina Partnership for Children, Inc.
(Partnership) is a legally separate organization established to
develop and oversee a comprehensive long-range strategic plan
for high-quality early childhood education and development. A
26-member board governs the Partnership. Certain elected state
officials appoint 22 of the members, while three members serve
ex officio by virtue of their state positions and one serves as the
Director of the More at Four Pre-Kindergarten program. The
State provides significant operating subsidies to the Partnership,
creating a financial benefit/burden relationship.

Regional Economic Development Commissions:

North Carolina’s Northeast Commission

North Carolina’s Northeast Commission (Commission) is a
legally separate organization created to facilitate economic
development in the 16 counties in northeastern North Carolina.
The Commission consists of 18 appointed members, with six
members appointed by the Governor, six by the Speaker of the
House, and six by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate. The
Secretary of Commerce serves as an ex-officio member. The
member of the State Board of Education appointed to represent
the first education district serves as a non-voting ex-officio
member. The State provides significant program and operating
support to the Commission, creating a financial benefit/burden
relationship.

Southeastern North Carolina Regional Economic

Development Commission

The Southeastern North Carolina Regional Economic
Development Commission (Commission) is a legally separate
organization created to build economic strength in southeastern
North Carolina. The Commission consists of 15 appointed
members, with three appointed by the Governor, two by the
Lieutenant Governor, five by the Speaker of the House, and five
by the President Pro Tempore of the Senate. The member of the
State Board of Education appointed to represent the fourth
education district serves as a non-voting ex-officio member.
The State provides significant program and operating support to
the Commission, creating a financial benefit/burden
relationship.

Western North Carolina Regional Economic Development

Commission

The Western North Carolina Regional Economic
Development Commission (Commission) is a legally separate
organization created to improve economic opportunity in
western North Carolina with sensitivity to the resources of that
region. The Commission consists of 19 appointed members,
with seven appointed by the N.C. House of Representatives,
seven by the N.C. Senate, three by the Governor, and two by
the Lieutenant Governor. The members of the State Board of
Education appointed to represent the seventh and eighth
education districts serve as non-voting ex-officio members. The
State provides significant program and operating support to the
Commission, creating a financial benefit/burden relationship.
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North Carolina Health Insurance Risk Pool, Inc.

The North Carolina Health Insurance Risk Pool (Pool),
doing business as Inclusive Health, is a legally separate non-
profit organization created to provide affordable health
insurance coverage for North Carolinians who do not have
access to an employer health plan and face higher insurance
premiums because of a pre-existing medical condition. The
Pool is governed by a 12-member board. The Commissioner of
Insurance serves as an ex-officio, nonvoting member, one
member is appointed by the Governor, two by the General
Assembly, and eight by the Commissioner of Insurance. The
State has obligated itself to provide significant funding to the
Pool, creating a financial benefit/burden relationship.

Rural Economic Development Center, Inc.

The Rural Economic Development Center, Inc. (Center) is
a legally separate organization established to build economic
strength in the State’s 85 rural counties, with a special focus on
creating economic opportunities for individuals with low to
moderate incomes and communities with limited resources. The
Center is governed by a 50-member board of directors. Three
members are appointed by the Governor, three by the Speaker
of the House, and three by the President Pro Tempore of the
Senate. The other members are elected by the board of
directors. The State has obligated itself to provide significant
funding to the Center, creating a financial benefit/burden rela-
tionship.

North Carolina Biotechnology Center

The North Carolina Biotechnology Center (Center) is a
legally separate nonprofit corporation created to further
economic development in North Carolina through education,
research, and commercial development in biotechnology. The
Center is governed by a 40-member board. Twelve of the board
members are appointed by the Governor or General Assembly;
four serve as a result of their positions with the UNC System, a
component unit of the State; two serve ex officio by virtue of
their state positions; and two serve ex officio by virtue of their
positions with private universities. The President of the Center
serves as an ex officio member. The other members are elected
by the board of directors. The State has provided significant
funding to the Center since its inception; therefore, a financial
benefit/burden relationship exists between the State and the
Center.

Availability of Financial Statements

Unless otherwise noted, complete financial statements for
the following component units can be obtained from the Office
of the State Auditor, 2 South Salisbury Street, 20601 Mail
Service Center, Raleigh, N.C. 27699-0601 or can be accessed
from the Office of the State Auditor Internet home page at
www.ncauditor.net.

Constituent institutions in the UNC System
Community colleges

North Carolina State Ports Authority

The North Carolina Partnership for Children, Inc.
North Carolina Agricultural Finance Authority
North Carolina Global TransPark Authority
North Carolina Health Insurance Risk Pool, Inc.

Complete financial statements for the following
component units can be obtained from the respective
administrative offices of those units listed below:

The Golden LEAF, Inc.
301 North Winstead Avenue
Rocky Mount, NC 27804

NC Housing Finance Agency
P.O. Box 28066
Raleigh, NC 27611-8066

State Education Assistance Authority North Carolina Railroad Company
P.O. Box 14103 2809 Highwoods Boulevard, Suite 100
Research Triangle Park, NC 27709-4103 Raleigh, NC 27604-1000

North Carolina’s Northeast Commission  Southeastern NC Regional Economic
119 West Water Street Development Commission
Edenton, NC 27932 P.O. Box 2556

Elizabethtown, NC 28337

Western NC Regional Economic
Development Commission

134 Wright Brothers Way
Fletcher, NC 28732

Rural Economic Development
Center, Inc.

4021 Carya Drive

Raleigh, NC 27610

North Carolina Biotechnology Center Gateway University Research Park, Inc.
P.O. Box 13547 2901 East Lee Street, Suite 2500
Research Triangle Park, NC 27709-3547 Greensboro, NC 27401-4904

The North Carolina Infrastructure Finance Corporation and
the State Health Plan do not issue separate financial statements.
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B. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying financial statements of the State of
North Carolina financial reporting entity have been prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the
United States of America (“GAAP”) as applicable to
governments. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) establishes standards of financial accounting and
reporting for state and local governmental entities. Private
sector standards of accounting and financial reporting issued on
or before November 30, 1989 generally are followed in both the
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to
the extent those pronouncements do not conflict with or
contradict GASB pronouncements. Governments also have the
option of following subsequent private-sector guidance for their
business-type activities and enterprise funds, subject to this
same limitation. The State has elected not to follow subsequent
private-sector guidance. The financial statements of the North
Carolina Railroad Company, a for-profit corporation, the Rural
Economic Development Center, Inc., and the North Carolina
Biotechnology Center (discretely presented component units)
have been prepared in accordance with FASB pronouncements.

The financial statements are presented as of and for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, except for the USS North
Carolina Battleship Commission whose statements are as of and
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010, and the North
Carolina Deferred Compensation Plan, the 401(k) Supplemental
Retirement Income Plan, and the North Carolina Railroad
Company whose statements are as of and for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2010. Occupational licensing boards have
financial statements with various fiscal year ending dates.

The basic financial statements include both government-
wide (based on the State as a whole) and fund financial
statements as follows:

Government-wide Financial Statements

The statement of net assets and the statement of activities
display information on all the nonfiduciary activities of the
primary government (the State) and its component units.
Fiduciary activities are excluded from the government-wide
statements because they cannot be used to support the State’s
own programs. As a general rule, the effect of interfund
activity has been eliminated from the government-wide
financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are
interfund services provided and used between functions.
Elimination of these charges would misstate both the expenses
of the purchasing function and the program revenues of the
selling function. These statements distinguish between the
governmental and business-type activities of the State.
Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes,
intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange
transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in
part by fees charged to external parties. Likewise, the primary
government is reported separately from certain legally separate
component units for which the primary government is
financially accountable.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to
which the direct expenses of a given function or identifiable
activity are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are
those that are clearly associated with a specific function or
identifiable activity. Certain charges to other funds or programs
for “centralized” expenses also include an overhead markup that
is included in direct expenses. Program revenues include (a)
charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by
a given function or identifiable activity (including fees, fines
and forfeitures and certain grants and contracts that are
essentially contracts for services) and (b) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or
capital requirements of a particular program or identifiable
activity (including restricted investment earnings or losses).
Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including
all taxes, are presented as general revenues. Unrestricted
resources internally dedicated by the State’s governing body
(General Assembly) are reported as general revenues rather than
as program revenues. The State does not allocate general
government (indirect) expenses to other functions.

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide information about
the State's funds, including its fiduciary funds. Separate
statements for each fund category—governmental, proprietary,
and fiduciary—are presented. The emphasis of fund financial
statements is on major governmental and major enterprise
funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining
governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported
as nonmajor funds.

The State reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund

This is the State’s primary operating fund. It accounts
for all financial resources of the general government, except
those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Highway Fund

This fund accounts for most of the activities of the
Department of Transportation, including the construction
and maintenance of the State’s primary and secondary road
systems. In addition, it supports areas such as the N.C. Ferry
System, the Division of Motor Vehicles, public
transportation, and railroad operations. The fund provides
revenue to other State agencies to support initiatives such as
the State Highway Patrol and driver’s education. The
principal revenues of the Highway Fund are motor fuels
taxes, motor vehicle registration fees, driver's license fees,
and federal aid. A portion of the motor fuels taxes is
distributed to municipalities for local street projects.

Highway Trust Fund

This fund was established by legislation (Chapter 692 of
the 1989 Session Laws) to provide a dedicated funding
mechanism to meet highway construction needs for North
Carolina. Taxes were increased for the specific purpose of
improving identified primary transportation corridors within
the State and for the completion of urban loops around
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seven major metropolitan areas. Additionally, this fund
provides supplemental allocations for secondary road
construction and supplemental assistance to municipalities
for local street projects. The fund also makes transfers to the
General Fund, the Highway Fund, and the North Carolina
Turnpike Authority. The principal revenues of the Highway
Trust Fund are highway use taxes, motor fuels taxes, and
various title and registration fees.

The State reports the following major enterprise funds:

Unemployment Compensation Fund

This fund accounts for the State’s unemployment
insurance program, which is part of a national system
established to provide temporary benefit payments to
eligible unemployed workers. The unemployment benefits
are financed primarily by State unemployment insurance
taxes, distributions of federal unemployment insurance
taxes, and federal funding for the unemployment benefits of
civilian and military employees. During fiscal year 2011, the
unemployment benefits were also financed by repayable
advances from the Federal Unemployment Account and
federal recovery funds. The unemployment taxes collected
from employers are transferred to the United States Treasury
and deposited into North Carolina’s Unemployment
Insurance Trust Fund.

N.C. State Lottery Fund

This fund accounts for the activities of the N.C.
Education Lottery Commission. The net profits of the fund
are transferred periodically to the General Fund.

EPA Revolving Loan Fund

This fund accounts for the activities of the State’s clean
water and drinking water revolving loan programs, which
provide low cost loans to units of local government for the
construction of wastewater facilities and drinking water
infrastructure. These programs are financed primarily by
federal capitalization grants from the United States
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), interest earnings
on loans, loan repayments, and State funds (i.e., bond
proceeds and State appropriations).

North Carolina Turnpike Authority

This fund accounts for the activities of the North
Carolina Turnpike Authority (Authority), which was created
to study, design, plan, construct, finance, and operate a
system of toll roads, bridges, and/or tunnels supplementing
the traditional non-toll transportation serving the citizens of
the State. Effective July 2009, the General Assembly
enacted legislation that transferred the functions and funds
of the Authority to the Department of Transportation.

Additionally, the State reports the following fund types:

Internal Service Funds

These funds account for workers compensation and state
property fire insurance coverages, motor fleet management
services, mail services, temporary staffing services,
computing and telecommunication services, and surplus
property services provided to other departments or agencies

of the State and its component units, or to other
governments, on a cost-reimbursement basis.

Pension and Other Employee Benefits Trust Funds

These funds account for resources held in trust for the
members and beneficiaries of the State’s defined benefit
pension plans, Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 401(k)
plan, IRC Section 457 plan, other defined contribution
plans, death benefit plan, disability income plan, and retiree
health benefit fund.

Investment Trust Funds

These funds account for the external portion of the
Investment Pool sponsored by the Department of State
Treasurer and individual investment accounts held by the
Department of State Treasurer for public hospitals that are
not part of the State reporting entity.

Private-purpose Trust Funds

These funds account for resources held in trust for
insurance carriers, designated beneficiaries by the
Administrative Office of the Courts, and other departmental
trust funds in which the principal and income benefit
individuals, private organizations, or other governments.

Agency Funds

These funds account for sales tax collections held on
behalf of local governments, resources held by the
Administrative Office of the Courts for distribution to
designated beneficiaries, the Investment Pool’s securities
lending assets and liabilities allocated to participating
component units, insurance company receivership assets,
and other resources held by the State in a purely custodial
capacity for individuals, private organizations, or other
governments. Insurance company receivership assets are
held by the Commissioner of Insurance exclusively in his
capacity as Receiver. These assets belong to insurance
companies and other entities in receivership and are not the
property of the State.

C. Measurement Focus and Basis of
Accounting

Government-wide, Proprietary, and Fiduciary Fund
Financial Statements

The government-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary fund
financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, except
for agency funds which do not have a measurement focus.
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded
at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of the timing of
related cash flows.

Lottery games are sold to the public by contracted retailers.
For the N.C. Education Lottery Commission’s on-line games,
POWERBALL, Mega Millions, Carolina Cash 5, Carolina Pick
4, Carolina Pick 3, and raffles offered, revenue is recognized at
the time of sale on a daily basis. For instant games, revenue is
recognized at the time a pack of tickets is settled. For
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POWERBALL, Mega Millions, Carolina Cash 5, Carolina Pick
4, Carolina Pick 3, and for raffles, prize expense is recorded at
fifty percent of sales on a daily basis. For instant games, prize
expense is accrued based on the final production prize structure
percentage provided by the gaming vendor for each game and
recorded daily on value of packs settled. Certain games include
free tickets (prize tickets) which entitle the holder to exchange
one instant ticket for another of equal value. For the instant
games with prize tickets, the final prize structure percentage
used is adjusted to eliminate the value of the prize tickets. Prize
expense for merchandise prizes is recognized as prizes are
fulfilled.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the State receives (or
gives) value without directly giving (or receiving) equal value
in exchange, include taxes; fines and forfeitures; grants,
entitlements, and similar items; and donations. Recognition
standards are based on the characteristics and classes of
nonexchange transactions. Income taxes, sales taxes, and other
similar taxes on earnings or consumption are recognized as
revenues, net of estimated refunds and uncollectible amounts, in
the accounting period when the underlying exchange
transaction has occurred. Franchise taxes, other taxes, and fines
and forfeitures are recognized as revenues, net of estimated
refunds and uncollectible amounts, in the accounting period
when an enforceable legal claim to the assets arises and the use
of resources is required or is first permitted. Grants,
entitlements, and donations are recognized as revenues, net of
estimated uncollectible amounts, as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been met, if
probable of collection. Amounts received before all eligibility
requirements have been met are reported as deferred revenues.
Grants and similar aid to other organizations are recognized as
expenses as soon as recipients have met all eligibility
requirements. Amounts paid before all eligibility requirements
have been met are reported as prepaid items.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Governmental funds are reported using the current
financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual
basis of accounting. With this measurement focus, only current
assets and liabilities are generally included on the balance sheet.
The operating statement presents increases (revenues and other
financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other
financing uses) in spendable resources. General capital asset
acquisitions are reported as expenditures and proceeds of
general long-term debt are reported as other financing sources. -

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues
are recognized when both measurable and available. Generally,
the State considers revenues reported in the governmental funds
to be available if they are collected within 31 days after year-
end. Exceptions are individual income tax revenues and federal
and county funds accrued for the matching share of medicaid
claims payable, which the State considers to be available if they
are collected within 12 months after year-end. Furthermore, in
the circumstance where underpayments exceed overpayments,
individual income tax revenues are recognized to the extent of
estimated overpayments (i.e., refunds payable and applied
refunds). Principal revenue sources considered susceptible to

accrual include taxes, federal funds, local funds, and investment
earnings. Other revenues are considered to be measurable and
available only when cash is received by the State.

Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is
incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term
debt, claims and judgments, compensated absences, obligations
for workers’ compensation, pollution remediation, and arbitrage
rebate liabilities, which are recognized as expenditures when
payment is due. Pension contributions to cost-sharing pension
plans are recognized as expenditures in the period to which the
payment relates, even if payment is not due until the subsequent
period.

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This classification includes undeposited receipts; petty
cash; deposits held by the State Treasurer in the Short-term
Investment portfolio (see Note 3); and demand and time
deposits with private financial institutions, excluding
certificates of deposit. The Short-term Investment portfolio
maintained by the State Treasurer has the general characteristics
of a demand deposit account in that participants may deposit
additional cash at any time and also may withdraw cash at any
time without prior notice or penalty.

E. Investments

This classification includes deposits held by the State
Treasurer in certain investment portfolios (see Note 3) as well
as investments held separately by the State and its component
units. Investments are generally reported at fair value. In
fiduciary funds, fully benefit responsive synthetic guaranteed
investment contracts and unallocated insurance contracts that
are nonparticipating interest-earning investment contracts are
reported at contract value. Land and other real estate held as
investments by endowments are reported at fair value,
consistent with how investments are generally reported.
Additional investment valuation information is provided in
Note 3. The net increase (decrease) in the fair value of
investments is recognized as a component of investment
income.

F. Securities Lending

Cash received as collateral on securities lending
transactions are reported as assets in the accompanying
financial statements. A corresponding liability is also reported
for the amount owed to the broker at the termination of the
agreement. Investments purchased with cash collateral are
generally measured at fair value. Certain component units of the
State deposit funds with the State Treasurer’s Investment Pool,
which participates in securities lending activities. The
component units’ position in the pool and related securities
lending assets and liabilities are reported in an agency fund.
Additional disclosures about the State Treasurer’s securities
lending transactions are provided in Note 3.
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G. Receivables and Payables

Receivables in all funds represent amounts that have arisen
in the ordinary course of business and are shown net of
allowances for uncollectible amounts.

Activity between funds that are representative of
lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the
fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/due from other
funds” (i.e., current portion of interfund loans) or “advances
to/from other funds” (i.e., the non-current portion of interfund
loans). All other outstanding balances between funds related to
services provided and used, reimbursements, and transfers are
classified as “due to/due from other funds.” Any residual
balances outstanding between the governmental activities and
business-type activities are reported in the government-wide
financial statements as “internal balances.”

H. Inventories and Prepaid Items

The inventories of the State and component units are
valued at cost using either the first-in, first-out (FIFO); last
invoice cost; or average cost method. These inventories consist
of general supplies and materials. Institutions of the UNC
System and community colleges also use these valuations along
with the retail inventory method for some bookstore operations.
The State Highway Fund accounts for its maintenance and
construction inventories using the average cost method.

Inventories of governmental funds are recorded as
expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased.
Prepaid items of governmental funds are recorded as
expenditures when purchased, and balances of prepaid items are
not reported as assets.

I. Restricted/Designated Assets

In the government-wide and enterprise fund financial
statements, certain resources are reported as restricted assets
because restrictions on asset use change the nature or normal
understanding of the availability of the asset. The following
resources are not available for current operations and are
reported as restricted assets: 1) resources restricted for the
acquisition/construction of the government’s own capital assets,
2) resources legally segregated for the payment of principal and
interest as required by debt covenants, 3) temporarily invested
debt proceeds, and 4) nonexpendable resources of permanent
funds. This financial statement caption also includes resources
designated by management for the acquisition/construction of
the government’s own capital assets and thus not available for
current operations.

J. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment;
easements; and infrastructure assets (e.g., State highway
network, utility systems, and similar items), are reported in the
government-wide financial statements and the fund financial
statements for proprietary funds. Purchased or constructed
capital assets are reported at cost or estimated historical cost.
The State highway network constructed prior to July 1, 2001 is
recorded at estimated historical cost. Since July 1, 2001 the
State highway network is recorded at cost. The initial estimated
historical cost of the network is based on construction
expenditures reported by the Department of Transportation less
amounts estimated for the cost of right-of-ways and land
improvements. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that
do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend its
useful life are not capitalized. Donated capital assets are
recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation.

Generally, capital assets are defined by the State and
component units as assets with an initial value or cost greater
than or equal to $5,000 and an estimated useful life of two or
more years, except for internally generated computer software
and other intangible assets, which are capitalized when the
value or cost is greater than or equal to $1 million and $100
thousand, respectively.

The value of assets constructed by the State and its
component units for their own use includes all material direct
and indirect construction costs that are increased as a result of
the construction. In proprietary funds and component units,
interest costs incurred (if material) are capitalized during the
period of construction.

The depreciation methods and estimated useful lives
generally used by the State and its component units are as
follows:

Estimated
Asset Class Method Useful Life
BUildiNgS ....covviereeeeeeiis Straight-line 10-100 years
Machinery and
Equipment........ccooerenervrinnnnne Straight-line 2-30 years
Units of output for
motor vehicles 90,000 miles
Art, literature, and
other artifacts ..........cccocevnenneee Straight-line 2-25 years
General infrastructure .... Straight-line 10-75 years
State highway network... Composite 50 years
Computer software..............c....... Straight-line 2-30 years
Other intangible assets ............... Straight-line 2-100 years

For the State highway network, depreciation is based on a
weighted average of the estimated useful lives of dissimilar
assets in the network (e.g., subsurface foundations, roadway
surfaces, bridges, traffic control devices, guardrails, markings,
signage, etc.).
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K. Tax Refund Liabilities

Tax refund liabilities consist primarily of accrued income
and sales and use tax refunds due to taxpayers. During the
calendar year, the State collects employee withholdings and
taxpayers’ payments for income taxes. At June 30, the State
estimates the amount it owes taxpayers for income tax
overpayments during the preceding six months. Sales and use
tax refund liabilities are also estimated at June 30. These
liabilities are recorded as “Tax refunds payable.”

L. Compensated Absences

Employees of the State and component units are permitted
to accumulate earned but unused vacation pay benefits. All
vacation pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide
and proprietary fund financial statements. Also, when
determining the vacation pay liability due within one year,
leave is considered taken on a last in, first out (LIFO) basis. In
governmental funds, a liability for these amounts is reported
only as payments come due each period upon the occurrence of
relevant events such as employee resignations and retirements.
The State’s policy provides for a maximum accumulation of
unused vacation leave of 30 days which can be carried forward
each January 1 or for which an employee can be paid upon
termination of employment. Also, any accumulated vacation
leave in excess of 30 days at calendar year end is converted to
sick leave.

In addition to the vacation leave described above,
compensated absences include the accumulated unused portion
of the special annual leave bonuses awarded by the North
Carolina General Assembly. The bonus leave balance on
December 31 is retained by employees and transferred into the
next calendar year. It is not part of the 30 day maximum
applicable to regular vacation leave and is not subject to
conversion to sick leave.

There is no liability for unpaid accumulated sick leave
because the State has no obligation to pay sick leave upon
employee termination or retirement. However, additional
service credit for retirement pension benefits is given for
accumulated sick leave upon retirement.

M. Long-Term Liabilities

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term
debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in
the columns for governmental activities, business-type
activities, and component units. These amounts are also
reported as liabilities in the fund financial statements for
proprietary funds. If material, debt premiums and discounts of
the State are deferred and amortized over the life of the debt
using the effective interest method except for those of the North
Carolina Turnpike Authority, which are amortized using the
straight-line method. Losses on the State’s refundings are
deferred and amortized over the remaining life of the old debt
or the life of the new debt, whichever is shorter, using the
effective interest method. If material, debt premiums, discounts,

and losses on refundings of the University of North Carolina
System (component unit) are generally deferred and amortized
using the straight-line method. Debt premiums and discounts of
the N.C. Housing Finance Agency are deferred and amortized
using the effective interest method. Debt discounts of the State
Education Assistance Authority are deferred and amortized
using the straight-line method. Long-term debt is reported net
of the applicable debt premium, discount, and/or deferred loss
on refunding. Debt issuance costs of the State’s governmental
activities ‘and the University of North Carolina System
(component unit) are generally expensed. Debt issuance costs
of the State’s business-type activities and the N.C. Housing
Finance Agency and the State Education Assistance Authority
(component units) are deferred and amortized over the life of
the debt using the straight-line method.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types
recognize debt premiums, as well as debt issuance costs, during
the current period. The face amount of the debt issued and
premiums received are reported as other financing sources.
Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual
proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.

N. Securities Held in Trust

Securities held in trust include various assets, including
securities from insurance companies and bail bondsmen doing
business within North Carolina. These securities have been
placed in safekeeping with a financial institution or the State
Treasurer, as required by applicable general statutes.

O. Net Assets/Fund Balance
Net Assets

Net assets are reported as restricted when constraints
placed on them are either externally imposed by creditors,
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments or are imposed by law through constitutional
provisions. Constraints placed on net asset use by enabling
legislation are not reported as net asset restrictions since such
constraints are not legally enforceable. Legal enforceability
means that the State can be compelled by an external party,
such as citizens, public interest groups, or the judiciary to use
resources created by enabling legislation only for the purposes
specified by the legislation. Situations where the State’s internal
governing body (General Assembly) places restrictions on
existing resources or earmarks existing revenue sources are
considered to be constraints that are internally imposed. Such
internally dedicated net assets are presented as unrestricted.

For governmental activities, the State considers restricted
amounts to have been spent first when an expense is incurred
for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net
assets are available. For business-type activities and component
units, when both restricted and unrestricted resources are
available for use, generally it is the State’s policy to use receipts
first (which include restricted and unrestricted resources), then
State appropriations as necessary. Receipts are defined as all
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" funds collected by an agency or institution other than State
appropriations. The decision to use restricted or unrestricted
receipts to fund a payment is transactional-based within the
departmental management system in place at the agency or
institution. For projects funded by tax-exempt debt proceeds
and other sources, the debt proceeds are always used first.

Fund Balance

Fund balance for governmental funds is reported in the
following classifications depicting the relative strength of
the constraints that control how specific amounts can be
spent.

- The nonspendable fund balance classification includes
amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a)
not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually
required to be maintained intact.

- Restricted fund balances have constraints placed on the use
of resources that are either (a) externally imposed by
creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of
other governments or (b) imposed by law through
constitutional provisions.

- Committed fund balances can only be used for specific
purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action
of the N.C. General Assembly, the State’s highest level of
decision-making authority. The N.C. General Assembly
establishes commitments through the passage of legislation
that becomes State law. Commitments may be changed or
lifted only by taking the same formal action that imposed
the constraint originally.

- Assigned fund balances are constrained by an intent to be
used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor
committed. The Office of State Budget and Management
(OSBM) is authorized to assign unexpended funds at year-
end as a carry forward of budget authority to the
subsequent fiscal year. The North Carolina Constitution
(Article III, Sec. 5(3)) provides that the “budget as enacted
by the General Assembly shall be administered by the
Governor.” The Governor has delegated the authority to
perform certain powers and duties of this role as the
Director of the Budget to OSBM. At June 30, 2011, no
fund balances were available to be assigned.

- Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for
the General Fund. Other governmental funds cannot report
positive unassigned fund balance but can report negative
unassigned fund balance if expenditures incurred for
specific purposes exceeded the amounts restricted or
committed to those purposes.

For classification of governmental fund balances, the State
considers an expenditure to be made from the most restrictive
resource (i.e., restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned
in that order) when more than one fund balance classification is
available for use.

In accordance with G.S. 143C—4-2, the Savings Reserve
Account is established as a reserve in the General Fund for
budgetary purposes. The State Controller shall reserve to the
Savings Reserve Account, one-fourth of any unreserved fund
balance, as determined on a cash basis, remaining in the
General Fund at the end of each fiscal year. Funds reserved to
the Savings Reserve Account are available for expenditure only
upon an act of appropriation by the General Assembly. The
General Assembly recognizes the need to establish and
maintain sufficient reserves to address unanticipated events and
circumstances such as natural disasters, economic downturns,
threats to public safety, health, and welfare, and other
emergencies. It is a goal of the General Assembly and the State
to accumulate and maintain a balance in the Savings Reserve
Account equal to or greater than eight percent of the prior year's
General Fund operating budget. At June 30, 2011, the balance
of the Savings Reserve Account was $295.64 million, which
represents 0.7% of the prior year’s General Fund operating
budget.

P. Revenues and Expenses

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and
expenses from nonoperating items and capital contributions.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from
providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing
operations. Proprietary fund operating revenues result from
exchange transactions associated with the principal activity of
the fund. Exchange transactions are those in which each party
receives and gives up essentially equal values. Nonoperating
revenues, such as noncapital grants and investment earnings,
result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary activities.
Capital contributions are reported separately, after nonoperating
revenues and expenses.

Q. Food and Nutrition Services

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 24, Accounting
and Financial Reporting for Certain Grants and Other
Financial Assistance, the State recognizes distributions of food
and nutrition services benefits as revenue and expenditures in
the General Fund. Revenues and expenditures are recognized
based on the fair market value at the time the benefits are
distributed to the individual recipients. In North Carolina,
benefits are distributed in electronic form, thus distribution
takes place when the individual recipients use the benefits.
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NOTE 2:

STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

A. Fund Balance / Net Assets Deficit

Primary Government

At June 30, 2011, the following enterprise fund reported a
net assets deficit: Utilities Commission, $443 thousand.

At June 30, 2011, the following internal service fund
reported a net assets deficit: Surplus Property, $305 thousand.

B. Material Violations of Legal or Contractual
Provisions

Primary Government

During the first seven months of fiscal year 2011, the
State Treasurer did not comply with the statutory requirement
limiting the North Carolina Retirement Systems’ holdings with
the Alternative allocation to 5% of the pension fund’s market
value as per General Statute 147-69.2(9). However, as of June
30, 2011, the Retirement Systems’ Alternative investment
holdings were approximately 4.82% of the pension fund’s
market value. In addition, General Statute 147-69.2(9) was
revised on June 23, 2011 to allow the North Carolina
Retirement Systems’ holding with the Alternative allocation to
be increased to 7.5% of the pension fund’s market value.

Component Units

Chatham Hospital, Inc (the Hospital) which is a part of the
University of North Carolina System (a component unit of the
State), issued $30.54 million of FHA Insured North Carolina
Medical Care Commission Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series
2007 on February 8, 2007. The issued bonds are subject to
mandatory sinking fund requirements prior to their due dates.
There are certain covenants associated with the Series 2007
bonds that are outlined in the master trust indenture, loan
agreement, and regulatory agreement. The most restrictive of
these covenants requires maintenance of a long term debt
service coverage ratio, as defined, of greater than 1.5. The
Hospital also had a loss from operations that was equal or
greater than 1% of total operating revenues. Management
acknowledges that the Hospital was in violation of certain
covenants and requirements of those agreements at June 30,
2011. In accordance with the agreements, the Hospital is in the
process of complying with such covenants and requirements by
taking corrective action. The Hospital engaged consultants with
Critical Access Hospital expertise to (1) review the services
offered at the Hospital to determine if opportunities exist for
expansion or contraction of services lines with the goal of
improving profitability; (2) benchmark the operations with high
performing Critical Access Hospitals and recommend changes;
and (3) review the Medicare/ Medicaid cost report and
recommend strategies to enhance cost recover. In addition, to
increase medical admissions at the Hospital, a seven day per
week hospitalist program has been implemented by utilizing
UNC Health Care System (HCS) physicians. Additionally, a
UNC HCS cardiologist will be on site four days a week
performing consults and providing medical direction for the
Cardiac Rehabilitation program. UNC Management believes
these actions will produce results to bring the Hospital in
compliance with the covenants.
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NOTE 3: DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
A. Deposits and Investments with State
Treasurer

Unless specifically exempt, every agency of the State and
certain component units are required by General Statute 147-77 to
deposit moneys received with the State Treasurer or with a
depository institution in the name of the State Treasurer. Certain
local governmental units that are not part of the reporting entity
are also allowed to deposit money with the State Treasurer.
Expenditures for the primary government and certain component
units are made by warrants issued by the agencies and drawn on
the State Treasurer. The State Treasurer processes these warrants
each day when presented by the Federal Reserve Bank. General
Statute 147-69.1 authorizes the State Treasurer to invest all
deposits in obligations of or fully guaranteed by the United States;
obligations of certain federal agencies; specified repurchase
agreements; obligations of the State of North Carolina; time
deposits with specified financial institutions; prime quality
commercial paper with specified ratings; specified bills of
exchange or time drafts; asset-backed securities with specified
ratings; and corporate bonds and notes with specified ratings.

General Statute 147-69.2 authorizes the State Treasurer to
invest the deposits of certain special funds, including the pension
trust funds, the State Health Plan, the Disability Income Plan of
N.C., the Escheat Fund, the Public School Insurance Fund, the
State Education Assistance Authority, Local Government Other
Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Trust, and trust funds of the
University of North Carolina System, in the investments
authorized in General Statute 147-69.1; general obligations of
other states; general obligations of North Carolina local
governments; asset-backed securities bearing specific ratings; and
obligations of any company incorporated within or outside the
United States bearing specific ratings. The deposits of the pension
trust funds may be invested in all of the above plus certain
insurance contracts; group trusts; individual, common or
collective trusts of banks and trust companies; real estate
investment trusts; limited partnership interest in limited liability
partnerships or limited liability companies; and certain stocks and
mutual funds.

External Investment Pool

To ensure that these and other legal and regulatory
limitations are met, all cash deposited with the State Treasurer,
except for the UNC Hospitals, Public Hospitals, Escheat Fund,
and bond proceeds investment accounts, is maintained in the
Investment Pool. This pool, a governmental external investment
pool, consists of the following individual investment portfolios:

Short-term Investment — This portfolio may hold any of the
investments authorized by General Statute 147-69.1. The Short-
term Investment portfolio is the primary cash management
account for the State and is managed in such a manner as to be
readily convertible into cash. The primary participants of this
portfolio are the General Fund and the Highway Funds. Other
participants include the remaining portfolios listed below,

universities and various boards, commissions, community
colleges, and school administrative units that make voluntary
deposits with the State Treasurer.

Long-term Investment — This portfolio may hold the fixed-
income investments authorized by General Statutes 147-69.1 and
147-69.2. Since the deposits in this fund are typically not needed
for day-to-day operations, the investment vehicles used generally
have a longer term and higher return than those held in the Short-
term Investment portfolio. The primary participants of the
portfolio are the pension trust funds.

External Fixed Income Investment — This portfolio holds
collateralized mortgage obligations, asset-backed and
commercial mortgage-backed securities pursuant to General
Statute 147-69.2. The State’s pension trust funds are the sole
participants in the portfolio.

Equity Investment — This portfolio holds an equity-based trust,
which is managed pursuant to General Statute 147-69.2(b)(8).
The State’s pension trust funds are the sole participants in the
portfolio.

Real Estate Investment — This portfolio holds investments in real
estate-based trust funds and group annuity contracts, which is
managed pursuant to General Statute 147-69.2(b)(7). The State's
pension trust funds are the sole participants in the portfolio.

Alternative Investment — This portfolio holds investments in
limited partnerships, hedge funds, and equities received in the
form of distributions from its primary investments, which is
managed pursuant to General Statute 147-69.2(b)(9). The
State’s pension trust funds are the sole participants in the
portfolio.

Credit Investment - This portfolio may hold investments in debt-
related strategies as defined by General Statutes 147-69.2(b)(6c¢).
The State’s pension trust funds are the sole participants in the
portfolio.

Inflation Protection Investment - This portfolio may hold
investments in assets that are acquired for the primary purpose of
providing protection against risks associated with inflation,
managed pursuant to General Statute 147-69.2(b)(9a). The
State’s pension trust funds are the sole participants in the
portfolio.

OPEB Equity Investment — This portfolio holds equity-based
trusts. Pursuant to General Statute 159-30.1, the State Treasurer
manages the trusts’ assets. These trusts are established for local
governments, public authorities, any entity eligible to participate
in the State’s Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement
System, and local school administrative units.  Eligible
participants make voluntary contributions to the trusts for the
purpose of depositing and investing all or part of the contribution
from their other post-employment benefit plans. As of June 30,
2011, there were thirteen participants. Each participant is
responsible for making its own investment decision. However,
through signed agreements with the State Treasurer, each
participant has delegated its investment authority to the State
Treasurer.
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All of the preceding investment portfolios operate like
individual investment pools, except that an investment portfolio
may hold shares in other investment portfolios at the discretion
of the State Treasurer and subject to the legal limitations
discussed previously.  To this extent, the deposits are
commingled; and therefore, the State Treasurer considers all
investment portfolios to be part of a single pool, the Investment
Pool. The Investment Pool contains deposits from funds and
component units of the reporting entity (internal portion) as
well as deposits from certain legally separate organizations
outside the reporting entity (external portion). This pool is not
registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is
not subject to any formal oversight other than that of the
legislative body.

At year-end, the condensed financial statements for the
Investment Pool maintained by the State Treasurer were as
follows (dollars in thousands):

Statement of Net Assets
June 30, 2011

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents.......................... $ 103,337
Other assetS........covveveeivevececceeeeee s 361,899
Investments........ccccoeeeeeeeerceeeeeeea 91,065,932

Total @assets......cccvceveeereeecee e 91,531,168
Liabilities:
Other payables........ccccccoevreirreerrnnnee. 209,498
Obligations under securities lending... 3,679,852

Total liabilities 3,889,350
Net Assets:
Internal:

Primary government........ccccovecviunecernrnionnns 83,184,374

Componentunits........c..oceeeveereicneienans 3,648,532
External......ccooooeeeeeeee e 808,912

Total netassets.....ccccovceceeevcecrciecceee, $ 87,641,818

Statement of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011

Revenues:
Investmentincome..........cccoovvverncreririennnnnnne $ 12,477,658
Expenses:
Securities lending.......cccoovuereeeieieieereeene. 9,122
Investmentmanagement...........c.ccoceveunenn. 315,703
Total expenses........ccoveveeveeecveiecicrennn. 324,825
Netincrease in netassets
resulting from operations..............ccco......... 12,152,833

Distributions to participants:
Distributions paid and payable..................... (12,152,833)

Share transactions:

Reinvestment of distributions 12,148,038
Net share redemptions............c.ccooceevrevenneeee. (1,336,369)
Total increase in netassets.........cccou....e. 10,811,669
Net assets:

Beginning of year.........cccccooevvnenicineniennn 76,830,149
End of year........ccoovevreernrinenans . 3 87,641,818

The external portion of the Investment Pool is presented
in the State’s financial statements as an investment trust fund.
Each fund and component unit’s share of the internal equity in
the Investment Pool is reported in the State’s financial
statements as an asset of those funds or component units.
Equity in the Short-term Investment portfolio is reported as
cash and cash equivalents while equity in the Long-term
Investment, Equity Investment, Real Estate Investment,
External Fixed Income Investment, Credit Investment , Inflation
Protection Investment, Alternative Investment, and OPEB
Investment portfolios is reported as investments. The internal
equity of the pool differs from the amount of assets reported by
the funds and component units due to the typical
banker/customer outstanding and in-transit items. Additionally,
each fund reports its share of the assets and liabilities arising
from securities lending transactions. The State reports the assets
and liabilities arising from securities lending transactions for
component units as part of the State's agency funds, rather than
allocate them to the component units.

Investments in nonparticipating contracts, such as
nonnegotiable certificates of deposit, are reported at cost. Other
investments held in the Short-term Investment portfolio are
reported at amortized cost, which approximates fair value. All
other investments are reported at fair value. Fair values are
determined daily for the Long-term Investment, Equity
Investment, and OPEB Equity Investment portfolios and
quarterly for the Real Estate Investment, Alternative
Investment, Credit Investment and Inflation Protection
Investment portfolios. The fair value of fixed income securities
is based on future principal and interest payments discounted
using current yields for similar instruments. Investments in real
estate trusts, limited partnerships, and the equity trust are valued
using market prices provided by the third party professionals.
Participants’ shares sold and redeemed are determined in the
same manner as is used to report investments, and the State
Treasurer does not provide or obtain legally binding guarantees
to support share values.

Net investment income earned by the Investment Pool is
generally distributed on a pro rata basis. However, in
accordance with legal requirements, the General Fund receives
all investment income earned by funds created for purposes of
meeting appropriations. For the fiscal year ended June 30,
2011, $15 million of investment income associated with other
funds was credited to the General Fund.
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Deposits

Custodial Credit Risk. For deposits, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the State’s deposits may not
be recovered. At year-end, the Investment Pool’s deposits were exposed to custodial credit risk for nonnegotiable certificates of deposit
and time deposits in the amount of $37.1 million and $303.6 million, respectively. The nonnegotiable certificates of deposit were
uninsured and were collateralized with securities not in the name of the State and held by an agent. The time deposits were purchased
with cash collateral under the securities lending program. These securities were held by the counterparty and were not registered in the
name of the State Treasurer.

The State Treasurer’s deposit policy for custodial credit risk is limited to complying with the collateralization rules of the North
Carolina Administrative Code (Chapter 20 NCAC 7). Deposits to the Investment Pool may be made in any bank, savings and loan
association or trust company in the State as approved by the State Treasurer. The North Carolina Administrative Code requires
depositories to collateralize all balances that are not insured. The depositories must maintain specified security types in a third party
escrow account established by the State Treasurer. The securities collateral must be governmental in origin (e.g., U.S. Treasury, U.S.
agency, or state and local government obligations) or the highest grade commercial paper and bankers' acceptances. The market value of
the collateral must not be less than the value of the uninsured deposits. The depositories may elect to collateralize deposits separately
(dedicated method) or include deposits of the North Carolina local government units in a collateral pool with the State and certain
component units (pooling method).

Investments

At year-end, the Investment Pool maintained by the State Treasurer had the following investments and maturities (dollars in
thousands):

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Carrying Less More
Investment Type Amount Than 1 1t05 61010 Than 10
Debt securities:
U.S. Treasuries $ 12,943,030 $ 5077657 $ 665,390 $ 4,203498 $ 2,996,485
U.S. agencies 9,472,329 318,094 7,645,620 797,116 711,499
Mortgage pass-throughs ........cc.ccccoveevvevecennnne 7,091,073 —_ — 2,853 7,088,220
Collateralized mortgage obligations .. 199,922 194,213 — — 5,709
Asset-backed securities 320,944 227,640 —_ 35,176 58,128
Repurchase agreements ............ccoovvvvrreriennee. 1,074,000 1,074,000 — - —
Commercial mortgage-backed securities ...... 151,757 42,641 — - 109,116
Collective investment fund ............ccooeeveeirennneee. 187,552 187,552 — _ -
Domestic corporate bonds .. . 10,376,880 355,153 749,597 5,256,281 4,015,849
Foreign government bonds ...... 10,705 —_ — 10,705 —_
Securities purchased with cash collateral
under securities lending program:
Asset-backed securities 877,464 877,464 — -— —
Negotiable certificates of deposit 500,071 500,071 — —_ —_
Repurchase agreements ..............cccoocuuene. 521,745 521,745 — — —
Commercial paper 900,834 900,834
Domestic corporate bonds ...........cccccourennne. 297,886 297,886 — —_ —
44926,192 $ 10,574,950 § 9,060607 $ 10,305629 § 14,985,006
Other securities:
Equity based trust - domestic 20,539,275
Equity based trust - international .... 13,355,836
OPEB equity based trust- domestic ................. 27,799
OPEB equity based trust- international ............ 8,845
Alternative investments:
Hedge funds 431,604
Private equity investment partnerships ........ 3,158,577
Stock distributions 8,779
Real estate trustfunds ........cccccoooveemrvereceennnnn 4,210,108
Creditinvestments 2,474,759
Inflation protection investments 1,583,430

Total investment securities $ 90,725,204

In addition to the above amount, nonnegotiable investments in the Condensed Statement of Net Assets
certificates of deposit and time deposits in the amount of $37.1 presented previously.
million and $303.6 million, respectively, are reported as
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The major investment classifications of the Investment Pool had the following attributes at year-end (dollars in thousands):

Principal Range of
Investment Classification Amount Interest Rates
U.S. Treasuries .......erreennceriernnninnes $ 11625514 0.000%-8.87%
U.S. agENCIES ..ot 9,270,183 0.00%-7.12%
Mortgage pass-throughs .......cc.ccoccveerverennnnee 6,580,168 4.0%-9.0%
Collateralized mortgage obligations ........... 257,158 0.27%-6.5%
Commercial mortgage-backed securities . 4,130,034 0.05%-8.41%
Asset-backed securities ............ccorerrrennee. 421,123 0.30%-9.5%
Domestic corporate bonds . 9,498,857 1.37%-10.50%
Foreign government bonds .... 10,000 5.125%
Repurchase agreements ... 1,074,000 0.01%-0.08%
Collective investment fund ......................... 187,552 0.20%
Securities purchased with cash collateral
under securities lending program:
Asset-backed securities .........ccoounue.... 1,085,381 0.23%-0.64%

Negotiable certificates of deposit ..........
Repurchase agreements ..........c..........

Commercial paper ...............
Domestic corporate bonds .....
Equity-based trust - domestic ....

Equity-based trust - international ..............

Equity-based Trust - The State Treasurer has contracted
with an external party (Trustee) to create the “Treasurer of the
State of North Carolina Equity Investment Fund Pooled Trust”
(the Trust). The State’s pension trust funds are the only
depositors in the Trust. The State Treasurer employs
investment managers to manage the assets, primarily in equity
and equity-based securities in accordance with the General
Statutes and parameters provided by the State Treasurer.
Derivative instruments are also held within the Trust
consisting of U.S. dollar equity futures (see Note 7). The
Trustee maintains custody of the underlying securities in the
name of the Trust, services the securities, engages in securities
lending transactions with a third party lender, and maintains all
related accounting records. The Trustee also invests residual
cash in a cash sweep fund and may be temporarily employed as
an investment manager. The State Treasurer maintains
beneficial interest in the Trust and no direct ownership of the
securities.

OPEB Individual Equity-based Trusts - The State
Treasurer has contracted with an external party to provide an
equity based investment vehicle for local governments, public
authorities, or any entity eligible to participate in the State’s
Local Governmental Employees’ Retirement System and the
local school administrative units. Each entity has an individual
trust agreement with the Trustee and is a participant in a
commingled equity investment trust. The State Treasurer
employs an investment manager to manage the assets, in
accordance with the General Statutes and parameters provided
by the State Treasurer. The trustee maintains custody of the
underlying securities in the name of the Trusts, engages in
securities lending transactions, and maintains all related
accounting records. The investments are valued at fair market
value using market prices provided by third party professionals.

500,065 0.05%-0.44%
521,745 0.01%-0.07%
901,076 0.09%-0.33%
368,370 0%-0.34%
n/a n/a
n/a n/a

Interest Rate Risk. Although there is no formally adopted
investment policy, as a means of managing interest rate risk,
fixed income assets of the Short-term Investment portfolio are
invested in a laddered maturity approach that focuses on short
maturity securities with ample liquidity. The Short-term
Investment portfolio had a weighted average maturity of 1.9
years as of June 30, 2011. Most of the cash and cash
equivalents of the major governmental and enterprise funds are
invested in this portfolio.

The assets of the Long-term Investment portfolio are
primarily invested in securities with maturities longer than five
years. The longer maturity range is more sensitive to interest
rate changes; however, the longer duration structure of the
portfolio provides a better match to the long duration
characteristics of the retirement systems’ liabilities. At year-
end, pensions and other employee benefit plans owned 96% of
the Long-term Investment portfolio.

The Long-term Investment portfolio holds investments in
Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA)
mortgage pass-through pools. Critical to the pricing of these
securities are the specific features of the cash flows from the
interest and principal payments of the underlying mortgages.
Therefore, these valuations are very sensitive to the potential of
principal prepayments by mortgagees in periods of declining
interest rates. Also, included within the Long-term Investment
portfolio are U.S. government agencies and corporate bonds
which carry call options in which the issuer has the option to
prepay the principal at certain dates over the life of the security.
As such, these types of securities are more sensitive to the
decline in long-term interest rates as similar securities without
call options.

In addition to the corporate bonds with call options
mentioned in the preceding paragraph, there are corporate
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bonds with variable coupon rates that reset on specific dates. Critical to the pricing of asset-backed and mortgage-
The cash collateral received from securities lending has also backed securities are the specific features of cash flows from
been invested in corporate bonds and asset-backed securities the interest and principal payments of the underlying assets.
with floating rates. Critical to the pricing of these securities are Therefore, valuations are very sensitive to the potential of
the changes in interest rates. The State Treasurer considers the principal prepayments by mortgagees in periods of declining
maturity for interest rate risk purposes to be the length of time interest rates.

to the next reset date rather than the stated maturity.
Credit Risk. General Statute 147-69.1 specifies the cash

The externally managed Fixed Income Investment investment options for the Short-term Investment portfolio.
portfolio holds investments in asset-backed securities and The statute limits credit risk by restricting the Short-term
collateralized mortgage obligations. The focus is on fixed and Investment portfolio’s corporate obligations, asset-backed
floating rate, short duration securities with an average duration securities, and commercial paper to securities that bear the
of less than 2.5 years. Securities must carry an investment grade highest rating of at least one nationally recognized rating
rating to be purchased for the portfolio. The short duration service and do not bear a rating below the highest by any
nature of the assets limits interest rate risk. For the asset-backed nationally recognized rating service. General Statute 147-69.2
securities with floating rate, the State Treasurer considers the specifies the cash investment options for the Long-term
maturity for interest rate risk purposes to be the length of time Investment portfolio. The statute limits credit risk by restricting
to the next reset date rather than stated maturity. the Long-term Investment portfolio’s asset-backed securities

and corporate obligations to securities that bear one of the four

Also, included within the Fixed Income portfolio are highest ratings of at least one nationally recognized rating
commercial mortgage-backed securities with a focus on service. In the Long-term Investment portfolio, all holdings
structures with fixed rates and average life of less than six were rated BBB (or equivalent) or higher at the time of
years. Securities must carry an investment grade rating at the purchase by at least one of the nationally recognized rating
time of purchase. agencies.

At year-end, the Investment Pool had the following credit quality distribution for securities with credit exposure (dollars in
thousands):
Carrying Amount by Credit Rating - Moody's/S&P/Fitch

Less than
Investment Type Aaa/AAA Aa/AA A Baa/BBB Investment Grade Unrated
U.S. agencies $ 9,450,109 $ — 3 22220 $ — — -
Collateralized mortgage obligations ............. 14,269 11,629 25,414 62,631 85,979 —
Commercial mortgage-backed securities ... 22,749 16,178 18,234 78,905 15,618 73
Asset-backed securities 7,676 90,092 64,834 100,399 57,943 —
Repurchase agreements ... 1,074,000 — — — —_ —
Collective investmentfund ..........ccccccoeevernen. — — —_ — — 187,552
Domestic corporate bonds ... 432,869 754,693 5,348,590 3,502,345 338,383 —
Foreign governmentbonds ............cccccoevevennen. — — 10,705 — —_ —
Securities purchased with cash collateral
under securities lending program:

Asset-backed securities ..o 506,141 3,301 17,137 11,515 339,370 —

Negotiable certificates of deposit . . 500,071 — — —_ — —_

Repurchase agreements ................cc.c........ 521,745 — — _ — —

Commercial paper 900,834 — - — — —

Domestic corporate bonds .............cc........ — 197,669 75,754 — —_ 24,463

Total $ 13430463 $ 1,073562 $ 5582888 §$ 3,755,795 $ 837,293 §$ 212,088

Custodial Credit Risk. For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
State Treasurer will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.
At year-end, the investments purchased with cash collateral under the securities lending program of $3.1 billion were exposed to custodial
credit risk since the securities were held by the counterparty and were not registered in the name of the State Treasurer. As required by
contractual agreements, a third party agent holds these assets for the benefit of a dedicated Treasurer’s account. This agreement fully
indemnifies the Treasurer for any third party defaults or losses. All other investments of the Investment Pool were not exposed to
custodial credit risk at year-end and no custodial credit risk policy has been adopted for these investment types.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s
investment in a single issuer. Mutual funds, money market funds, and external pooled accounts are excluded from this disclosure
requirement. Obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government are not considered to have credit risk. The State Treasurer’s
investment risk policy places no limit on the amount that may be invested in any one issuer other than the General Statute 147-69.2(b)(8)
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that limits the market value of an investment in the stock of a single corporation to one and one-half percent of the Retirement Systems’
assets. At the fiscal year end, there were no stocks of a single corporation that exceeded this limit. However, more than 5% of the total
Investment Pool’s securities are invested in the Federal National Mortgage Association. These investments totaled $5.482 billion and
comprise 6.02% of the Investment Pool’s total investments. These investments are held by the Short-term, Long-term and Inflation
Protection portfolios and are classified as repurchase agreements and U.S. agencies.

Foreign Currency Risk. At year-end, the Investment Pool’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Value by Investment Type

Equity Alternative Investment - OPEB Equity
Based Trust- Private Equity Real-Estate Based Trust-
Currency International  Investment Partnerships TrustFunds International Total

EUTO o $ 3,614,008 $ 427592 § 124585 § 2,105 $§ 4,168,290
Pound Sterling ......c.cceceuvnnene 2,280,323 — 55,018 1,259 2,336,600
Japanese Yen ..o 2,277,913 — 31,868 1,111 2,310,892
Hong Kong Dollar ................. 794,175 — 57,856 591 852,622
Swiss Franc .....ccceeveeeeiens 784,825 — 3,426 413 788,664
Canadian Dollar .................... 747,150 — 6,246 725 754,121
Australian Dollar ................... 618,763 — 28,080 496 647,339
South Korean Won ................ 346,938 — — 206 347,144
Swedish Krona ...................... 311,053 — 2,419 156 313,628
Brazil Cruzeiro Real .............. 277,308 — 1,353 12 278,673
Singapore Dollar ................... 225,816 — 8,537 126 234,479
New Taiwan Dollar ............... 213,967 — — 2 213,969
Indian Rupee .....cccoevnnnnn. 182,414 — — 147 182,561
Danish Krone .....cccoeueunenene. 137,400 — — 29 137,429
Other Currencies ................... 543,783 — 472 307 544,562
Total v $ 13,355,836  § 427592 $ 319,860 $ 7,685 $ 14,110,973

The State Treasurer has no formal policy regarding the
maximum amount of investments in international securities. At
year-end, the retirement systems had approximately 18.8%
invested in international securities.

Securities Lending

Based on the authority provided in General Statute 147-
69.3(e), the State Treasurer lends securities from its Investment
Pool to broker-dealers and other entities (borrowers) for
collateral that will be returned for the same securities in the
future. The Treasurer’s securities custodian manages the
securities lending program for the internally managed fixed
income portfolios. During the year the custodian lent U.S.
government and agency securities, FNMAs, corporate bonds
and notes for collateral. The custodian is permitted to receive
cash, U.S. government and agency securities, or irrevocable
letters of credit as collateral for the securities lent. The
collateral is initially pledged at 102% of the market value of the
securities lent, and additional collateral is required if its value
falls to less than 100% of the market value of the securities lent.
There are no restrictions on the amount of loans that can be
made. Substantially all security loans can be terminated on
demand by either the State Treasurer or the borrower. The
State Treasurer cannot pledge or sell the collateral securities
received unless the borrower defaults.

The cash collateral received is invested by the custodian
agent and held in a separate account in the name of the State
Treasurer. The policies for investments purchased with cash

collateral under the securities lending program are set forth in
the contract with the securities custodian. The weighted
average maturities of the cash collateral investments are more
than the weighted average maturities of the securities lent.
Effective May 31, 2011, new securities lending guidelines were
implemented. Under the guidelines cash can be invested in
securities ranging from overnight to 397 days and the custodian
agent is not permitted to make investments where the weighted
average maturity of all investments exceeds 60 days. At year-
end, the weighted average maturity of investments was
approximately 30 days.

At year-end, the State Treasurer had no credit risk
exposure to borrowers because the amounts the Treasurer owed
the borrowers exceeded the amounts the borrowers owed the
State. The securities custodian is contractually obligated to
indemnify the Treasurer for certain conditions, the two most
important are default on the part of the borrowers and failure to
maintain the daily mark-to-market on the loans.

During the market crisis of late 2008, there was a default
in a Lehman Brothers floating rate note in which securities
lending collateral had been invested. Since that time, several
other securities with potential losses were identified. The State
Treasurer directed that all securities lending revenues would be
deposited into a separate account. These funds are invested into
a money market fund, and are included on the Statement of Net
Assets. The purpose of the separate account is to provide a
reserve account to offset expected losses. At year-end, the State
Treasurer had an unrealized loss in the Securities Lending
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Collateral pool of $278.5 million, and had accrued $150.5
million in the separate account.

Interest Rate Risk and Credit Risk. Under the prior
securities lending guidelines, asset-backed securities must bear
the highest rating of at least one nationally recognized rating
service. The expected maturity shall not exceed five years and
securities having a final maturity greater than two years will be
in floating rate instruments with interest rate resets occurring at
no greater than 90-day intervals to minimize the effect of
interest rate fluctuations on their valuations. Corporate bonds
and notes, including bank holding company obligations, rated
AA must have a final maturity no greater than three years.
Securities rated A must have a final maturity no greater than
two years. No more than five percent of the cash collateral may
be invested in a single issue.

Securities purchased under the securities lending program
on or after May 31, 2011 will not have a final maturity greater
than 397 days. The securities pledged as collateral for
repurchase agreements are limited to securities issued or
guaranteed by the U.S. government or its agencies. At the time
of purchase, asset-backed securities are required to have a AAA
rating by at least two of the rating agencies. All other eligible
securities must have a minimum short-term rating of A-1/P-1 or
a long-term rating of A/A2.

Bond Proceeds Investment Accounts

The State Treasurer has established separate investment
accounts for each State bond issue to comply with Internal
Revenue Service regulations on bond arbitrage. A private
investment company under contract with the State Treasurer
manages these separate accounts. The investments are valued at
amortized cost, which approximates fair value. In the State’s
financial statements, each fund’s equity in these accounts is
reported as investments.

At year-end, the bond proceeds investment accounts had
the following investments and maturities (dollars in thousands):

Weighted
Carrying Average
Investment Type Amount Maturity (Days)
Debt securities:
State and local government... $ 7,205 7
Repurchase agreements ....... 80,489 6
Total investments ..................... $ 87,694

Interest Rate Risk and Credit Risk. As established in the
contract with the private investment company, all bond
proceeds are managed in compliance with General Statute 147-
69.1, which limits credit risk as described above, and can only
be invested in short-term maturities with the average maturity
ranging between overnight to six months based on the liquidity
needs of the investment accounts. At year-end, Standard and
Poor’s rated investments in state and local government bonds as
AAA and the liquidity provider as A-1.

Custodial Credit Risk. Investments purchased with bond
proceeds were exposed to custodial credit risk since the
securities were held by the counterparty and were not registered
in the name of the State Treasurer. There is no custodial policy
related to these securities.

University of North Carolina (UNC) Hospitals
Investment Account

The State Treasurer has contracted with an external party
(Trustee) to create the University of North Carolina Hospitals at
Chapel Hill Trust (Trust). The UNC Hospitals are the only
depositor in the Trust. However, the Trust is a participant of a
commingled equity investment fund. The Trustee manages the
assets, primarily in equity and equity-based securities in
accordance with the General Statutes. The Trustee maintains
custody of the underlying securities in the name of the Trust,
services the securities, and maintains all related accounting
records. The investments are valued at fair market value using
market prices provided by third party professionals.

At year-end, the UNC Hospitals investment account
maintained by the State Treasurer had the following
investments (settled transactions) (dollars in thousands):

Carrying
Investment Type Amount
Other securities:
Equitybased trust- domestic $ 263,343
Equity based trust - international 85,810
Total investment securities ........ $ 349,153

Foreign Currency Risk. There is no formally adopted
investment policy to limit foreign currency exposure. At year-
end, the UNC Hospitals investment account’s exposure to
foreign currency was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Value by

Investment Type
Equity Based Trust-
Currency International

EUTO oo $ 20,426
Pound Sterling ............ 12,214
Japanese Yen ............ 10,777
Canadian Dollar ......... 7,033
Hong Kong Dollar ...... 5,732
Australian Dollar ........ 4,811
Swiss Franc ................ 4,004
South Korean Won .... 1,993
Swedish Krona ........... 1,509
Indian Rupee .............. 1,421
Singapore Dollar ........ 1,222
Other Currencies ....... 3,412
Total oo $ 74,554
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Note: The totals in this table do not agree to the totals
disclosed in the investment table above because the
investment table includes American Depositary Receipts and
cash collateral held for the daily settlement of derivatives.

In addition, the equity market values are based on trade date
while the investment table is reported on settle date.

Public Hospitals Investment Account

The State Treasurer has contracted with an external party
(Trustee) to create the Public Hospitals investment account.
The investment account currently consists of Margaret R.
Pardee Hospital Trust, New Hanover Regional Medical Center
Trust and Columbus Regional Healthcare Trust. These Trusts
are part of a commingled equity investment fund. The Trustee
manages the assets, primarily in equity and equity-based
securities in accordance with the General Statutes. The Trustee
maintains custody of the underlying securities in the name of
the Trust, services the securities, and maintains all related
accounting records. The investments are valued at fair market
value using market prices provided by third party professionals.

At year-end, the Public Hospitals investment accounts
maintained by the State Treasurer had the following
investments (settled transactions) (dollars in thousands):

Carrying
Investment Type Amount
Other securities:
Equity based trust- domestic ........ $ 51,966
Equity based trust - international .. 18,248
Total investment securities ................ $ 70214

Foreign Currency Risk. There is no formally adopted
investment policy to limit foreign currency exposure. At year-
end, the Public Hospitals investment account’s exposure to
foreign currency was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Value by

Investment Type
Equity Based Trust-
Currency International

EUro ..o $ 4,344
Pound Sterling ................. 2,597
Japanese Yen ............... 2,292
Canadian Dollar .............. 1,496
Hong Kong Dollar ........... 1,219
Australian Dollar 1,023
Swiss Franc .......c........... 851
South Korean Won ......... 424
Swedish Krona 321
Indian Rupee .......... . 302
Singapore Dollar ............. 260
Other Currencies ............ 725
Total e $ 15,854

Note: The totals in this table do not agree to the totals
disclosed in the investment table above because the
investment table includes American Depositary Receipts and
cash collateral held for the daily settlement of derivatives.

In addition, the equity market values are based on trade date
while the investment table is reported on settle date.

Escheat Investment Account

Pursuant to General Statute 147-69.2(b)(12), the State
Treasurer has established a separate investment account on
behalf of the Escheat Fund. The investments are valued at fair
market value using market prices provided by third party
professionals. At year-end, the Escheat investment account
maintained by the State Treasurer had the following
investments (dollars in thousands):

Carrying
Investment Type Amount
Other securities:

Real estate trustfunds .....c.ccccocvivrincnnne $ 15,645
Private equity investment partnerships .. 39,955
Public equities - domestic ......c.cccenennee. 12,050
Public equities - international ................... 4,182
Total investment securities ..........cccccceeene $ 71,832

Foreign Currency Risk. There is no formally adopted
investment policy to limit foreign currency exposure. At year-
end, the exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows
(dollars in thousands):

Carrying Value by

Investment Type
Public Equities -
Currency International

Canadian Dollar .......cccccuenee. $ 469
EUMO woeeeeee e 443
South Korean Won ............... 420
Pound Sterling ......ccceceveennnn. 395
Chinese (Yuan) Renminbi .. 391
Brazil Cruzeiro Real ............... 308
Japanese Yen ... 303
New Taiwan Dollar ................ 232
Russian Rouble ............. 175
Indian Rupee ................. 140
South African Rand .... 134
Hong Kong Dollar .................. 118
Malaysian Ringgit ................. 105
Swiss Franc .......ccecceevveennenene 99
Mexican New Peso ................ 79
Australian Dollar ......... 73
Indonesian Rupiah .... 58
New Zealand Dollar ... 52
ThaiBaht .......ccooveviieieeee 43
Other Currencies ......ccccceuee. 145

Total e $ 4,182
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B. Deposits Outside the State Treasurer

In addition to the pooled deposits maintained by the State
Treasurer, other deposits are maintained outside the State
Treasurer by the primary government and certain component
units. As a general rule, these deposits are not covered by the
rules in Chapter 20 NCAC 7 requiring collateralization of
uninsured deposits.

Primary Government

The majority of deposits held outside the State Treasurer
were maintained by the various clerks of superior court. The
clerks of superior court do not have a deposit policy for
custodial credit risk. At year-end, the bank balances maintained
outside the State Treasurer by the primary government were
exposed to custodial credit risk as follows (dollars in
thousands):

Component Units

(University of North Carolina System, The Golden LEAF,
Inc. and State Education Assistance Authority)

The University of North Carolina (UNC) System does not
have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At year-end, the
bank balances maintained outside the State Treasurer by the
UNC System were exposed to custodial credit risk as follows
(dollars in thousands):

Uninsured and uncollateralized ............................ $ 36,768
Uninsured and collateral held by pledging bank's

trust department or agent but not in State's name 1,121
TOHAl e $ 37,889

The Golden LEAF, Inc. does not have a deposit policy for
custodial credit risk. At year-end, the bank balances maintained
outside the State Treasurer by the Golden LEAF, Inc. were
exposed to custodial credit risk as follows (dollars in
thousands):

The State Education Assistance Authority does not have a
deposit policy for custodial credit risk. At year-end, the bank
balances maintained outside the State Treasurer by the State
Education Assistance Authority were exposed to custodial
credit risk as follows (dollars in thousands):

Uninsured and collateral held by pledging bank ... $ 23,332

Total e $ 23,332

C. Investments Outside the State Treasurer

Investments in participating investment contracts, external
investment pools, open-end mutual funds, debt securities,
equity securities, limited partnerships, and a portion of the
investments of the deferred compensation plans are reported at
fair value. There are certain investments (held by the
University of North Carolina System and the Golden LEAF,
Inc.), including limited partnerships, for which a readily
determinable fair value does not exist. These investments are -
carried at estimated fair values as provided by the respective
fund managers of these investments or third party
administrators.  Those estimated fair values may differ
significantly from the values that would have been used had a
ready market for these investments existed. Investments in
certificates of deposit, investment agreements, bank investment
contracts, real estate, and real estate investment trusts are
reported at cost. Investments in unallocated insurance contracts
are reported at contract value. Detailed disclosures about
investments held outside the State Treasurer are presented
below.
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Primary Government

At year-end, 73% of investments held outside the State
Treasurer were maintained by the Supplemental Retirement
Income Plan of North Carolina.

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North Carolina

The General Statutes place no specific investment
restrictions on the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of
North Carolina (the 401(k) Plan). However, in the absence of
specific legislation, the form of governance over the

investments would be the prudent-person or prudent-expert
rule. These rules are broad statements of intent, generally
requiring investment selection and management to be made
with prudent, discreet, and intelligent judgment and care. The
401(k) Plan does not have formal investment policies that
address interest rate risk, custodial credit risk, concentration of
credit risk, or foreign currency risk.

At December 31, 2010, the 401(k) Plan of North Carolina had the following investments and maturities that were maintained outside

the State Treasurer (dollars in thousands):

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Carrying Less More
Investment Type Amount Than 1 . 1t056 6to 10 Than 10
Debt securities:
U.S. TreasuUri€s ....ccooouveeeveeieceieeieeeeeeeeeee e $ 198,062 55,1562 § 102,735 § 39,670 § 505
U.S. agencies ................. 96,310 16,783 71,104 8,423 —
Mortgage pass-throughs .................. 195,845 61,406 — 7,834 126,605
Collateralized mortgage obligations .. 7,542 — 7,542 — —_
State and local government ............. 6,212 —_ 4,086 2,126 —
Asset-backed securities ............... 30,147 6,121 10,165 935 12,926
Negotiable certificates of deposit 2,794 2,794 — —_ —
Debt mutual funds .........cccceveneene. 151,630 —_ 7,385 144,245 —
Domestic corporate bonds .. 201,215 17,303 123,096 39,740 21,076
Foreign corporate bonds ...... 50,239 2,298 35,285 9,140 3,516
Foreign governmentbonds ............ccccccevevennnnen. 32,768 2,126 24,079 4,573 1,990
Securities purchased with cash collateral
under securities lending program:
Pooled debtfunds ..........cooevevevieireeeeiieee e 136,404 136,404 —_ — —
1,109,168 300,387 §$ 385477 $ 256,686 $ 166,618
Other securities:
Balanced mutual funds ..o, 8,968
International mutual funds 14,070
Equity mutual funds .......cccocovvveieneiecieee 59,226
Non-State Treasurer pooled investments ...... 3,566,592
Unallocated insurance contracts 616,478
Total investment securities ..........cccoccoveveervevvenene $ 5,374,502

In the above table, the underlying debt securities of fully benefit-responsive synthetic guaranteed investment contracts
(SGICs) are disclosed at fair value. On the Statement of Net Assets, the combination of the underlying securities and the wrap
contract for fully benefit-responsive SGICs is reported at contract value. At year-end, the difference between the fair value of the
underlying securities and the contract value of fully benefit-responsive SGICs was $39.68 million.

Interest Rate Risk. Asset-backed securities are securities that are primarily serviced by the cash flows of a discrete pool of
receivables or other financial assets, either fixed or revolving, that by their terms convert into cash within a finite time period, plus any
rights or other assets designed to assure the servicing or timely distribution of proceeds to the security holders. Commercial mortgage-
backed securities, which are included in asset-backed securities, are asset-backed securities whose cash flows are backed by the principal
and interest payments of commercial or multifamily property mortgage loans. The sensitivity to changes in interest is considered lower
as these types of securities are usually collateralized by fixed-rate mortgages that often contain lockout provisions for prepayment or are

subject to prepayment penalties.

Credit Risk. The 401(k) Plan’s investment policy requires that debt securities, at the time of purchase, shall have a minimum
Standard & Poor’s (S&P) or Fitch rating of BBB- or Moody’s rating of Baa3. Any security downgraded by S&P’s or Fitch below BBB-
or by Moody’s below Baa3 will be liquidated within six months. At year-end, the 401(k) Plan investments maintained outside the State
Treasurer had the following credit quality distribution for securities with credit exposure (dollars in thousands):
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Carrying Amount by Credit Rating - Moody's/S&P/Fitch

Less than
Investment
Investment Type Aaa/AAA AalAA A Baa/BBB Grade Unrated
U.S. 2gencies ..........cocevvevvvevereenenns $ 47,355 § -  § - 3 — 8 —  § —_
Mortgage pass-throughs ................. — — — — — 161,169
Collateralized mortgage obligations .. 5,624 — — — — 2,018
State and local government ............. — — 6,212 — —_ —_
Asset-backed securities .................. 26,140 2,790 1,217 — — —_
Negotiable certificates of deposit .... — — 2,794 —_ — —
Debt mutual funds ...........ccoeeinennn. — 144,245 7,385 — — —
Domestic corporate bonds .. 3,166 20,307 82,339 93,340 2,063 —
Foreign corporate bonds ..... 311 15,391 25,894 395 —
Foreign government bonds .............. 2,564 15,561 13,107 — —
Securities purchased w ith cash collateral
under securities lending program:
Pooled debt funds ...........ccccceeeennn. — — — — 136,404
Total ..o $ 85060 $ 177,126 $ 130,899 $ 132,341 § 2,458 § 299,591

Custodial Credit Risk. For an investment, custodial
credit risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, the 401(k) Plan will not be able to recover the
value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. At December 31, 2010, the
investments of the 401(k) Plan of North Carolina maintained
outside the State Treasurer were exposed to custodial credit risk
as follows (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount
Held by Counterparty

Investment Type

U.S. Treasuries ......ccoccevvevveervreenrninena, $ 198,062
U.S. agencies .....cccevuenun. 96,310
Mortgage pass-throughs 195,845

Collateralized mortgage obligations .... 7,542
State and local government 6,212
Asset-backed securities ................ 30,147
Negotiable certificates of deposit ......... 2,794

Domestic corporate bonds .................... 201,215
Foreign corporate bonds ........................ 50,239
Foreign governmentbonds ................... 32,768

Total oot $ 821,134

Securities Lending

The 401(k) Plan has a securities lending contract with
State Street Bank and Trust Company (“State Street”) as agent
to lend available securities to broker-dealers and other entities
(borrowers) in accordance with the agreement. State Street
enters into loan contracts with borrowers on behalf of the
401(k) Plan whereby the borrowers of the securities agree to
transfer to State Street either cash collateral or securities issued
or guaranteed by the U. S. government or its agencies with a
fair value of 102% of the value of the securities lent. The
borrowers of the securities simultaneously agree to return the
borrowed securities in exchange for the collateral at a later date.

As of December 2010, State Street lent U.S. Treasuries,
U.S. agencies, domestic corporate bonds, foreign corporate
bonds, and foreign governmental bonds. The collateral
received for securities on loan is invested in the Securities
Lending Quality Trust (SLQT), a commingled investment pool
maintained by State Street. The SLQT invests in U.S.
denominated debt securities and consists of two pools, a
liquidity pool and a duration pool, with a weighted average of
approximately 26 days and 22 days, respectively.

The 401(k) Plan has minimal credit risk exposure to
borrowers because the amounts the 401(k) Plan owes the
borrowers exceed the amounts the borrowers owe the system.
The contract with State Street requires State Street to indemnify
the 401(k) Plan if borrowers fail to return securities.

Other Primary Government Investments

The other primary government investments held outside
the State Treasurer consisted almost entirely of balances
maintained by the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred
Compensation Plan (the 457 Plan), and separate investment
accounts held by trustees for special obligation debt issues to
comply with IRS regulations on bond arbitrage, and escheated
securities held for owners.

General Statute 143B-426.24(j) allows the North Carolina
Supplemental Retirement Board of Trustees to acquire
investment vehicles from any company authorized to conduct
such business in this State or may establish, alter, amend and
modify, to the extent it deems necessary or desirable, a trust for
the purpose of facilitating the administration, investment and
maintenance of assets acquired by the investment of deferred
funds. All assets of the 457 Plan, including all deferred
amounts, property and rights purchased with deferred amounts,
and all income attributed thereto shall be held in trust for the
exclusive benefit of the 457 Plan participants and their
beneficiaries.




100 State of North Carolina
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

At year-end, the other primary government investments maintained outside the State Treasurer had the following investments and
maturities (dollars in thousands):

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Carrying Less More
Investment Type Amount Than 1 1t0 5 6to 10 Than 10
Debt securities:
U.S. Treasuries .....cccoeevereeeveeeeeeiceeeee $ 17,524 15,005 $ 2164 § 318 $ 37
U.S. Treasury STRIPS .....cccocoeeveveeeeee 41,302 243 41,059 — —
U.S.ageNnCies ..cocoeeeieeerceeeeeeee e 18,073 2,308 13,985 1,772 8
Mortgage pass-throughs .......cccoovvvveveieiveens 2,450 — 22 17 2,411
Collateralized mortgage obligations .............. 1,040 — 549 332 159
State and local government ............cococveeennn. 3,625 2,500 699 398 28
Asset-backed securities .........c.ccocooceeveiiennnn. 2,771 — 2,407 — 364
Negotiable certificates of deposit ................... 549 549 —_ — —
Repurchase agreements ..........cccocevvvenennnenn. 366,849 366,849 — — —
Annuity contracts ................. 38,620 3,000 15,000 15,000 5,620
Debt mutual funds .................. 151,915 15 87 151,803 10
Money market mutual funds ..... . 84,659 84,659 —_ — —
Domestic corporate bonds ...... 73,341 39,809 33,064 399 69
Foreign corporate bonds ...... 5,425 — 5,070 355 -_—
Foreign governmentbonds ...... . 4,783 384 3,886 513 —_
Pooled debt funds ..........ccocoeevveieeiiiiciee 499,931 499,931 — — —
1,312,857 $ 1,015,252 § 117,992 § 170907 $ 8,706
Other securities:
Balanced mutual funds ......... 1,429
International mutual funds .... 4,024
Equity mutual funds .......ccoeveveieiciiie. 26,834
Non-State Treasurer pooled investments ... 429,074
Unallocated insurance contracts .................... 133,115
Domestic stocks .........cccovvvevevenenene. 60,465
Total investment securities ........c.ccccoeevvveinennnene $ 1,967,798

Interest Rate Risk and Credit Risk. The special obligation debt proceeds are generally invested in repurchase agreements. As
established in the debt covenants, repurchase agreements with respect to government obligations can only be entered into with 1) a dealer
recognized as a primary dealer by a Federal Reserve Bank with a short-term rating not less than P-1 from Moody’s and not less than A-1
from S&P and Fitch; or 2) any commercial bank, trust company, or national banking association rated A or better by Moody’s, S&P and
Fitch, the deposits of which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. There are no formally adopted investment policies
or debt covenants for special obligation debt proceeds that address interest rate risk. :
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At year-end, the other primary government investments maintained outside the State Treasurer had the following credit quality
distribution for securities with credit exposure (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount by Credit Rating - Moody's/S&P/Fitch

Less than
Investment
Investment Type Aaa/AAA AalAA A Baa/BBB Grade Unrated

U.S. agencies ........cccoeeveeerevreeveennnns $ 18,032 $ —  $ - 3 41 3 —  $ —_
Mortgage pass-throughs ................. 107 34 44 51 7 1,065
Collateralized mortgage obligations .. 398 27 44 36 4 531
State and local government ............. 2,533 14 1,078 - — —
Asset-backed securities .................. 2,771 — — — — —
Negotiable certificates of deposit .... — — 549 —_ — —_
Repurchase agreements ................. 1,913 — — — — —
Annuity contracts ..........ccccceeeeennee. — 38,620 — — —_ —
Debt mutual funds ........cccocevverennene. 23 148,999 8 23 115 2,747
Money market mutual funds ............. 84,645 — — — — 14
Domestic corporate bonds 53,291 2,224 8,046 9,447 29 304
Foreign corporate bonds ....... — 1,405 1,597 2,423 —_ —
Foreign government bonds 162 415 2,009 2,197 — —
Pooled debt funds ..........ccccoeeveuennnn. — — — — — 499,931
Total ..o $ 163,875 $ 191,738 $ 13375 $ 14218 § 155 $ 504,592

Custodial Credit Risk. For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
primary government will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside
party. There were no formally adopted policies that address custodial credit risk of other primary government investments outside the
State Treasurer. At year-end, the other primary government investments maintained outside the State Treasurer were exposed to custodial
credit risk as follows (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount

Held by
Investment Type Counterparty

U.S. Treasuries .....c.ccoceeevervenenecreennns $ 14,568
U.S. agencies .....cccooveeieieneceecen 15,839
Mortgage pass-throughs ..o 2,450
Collateralized mortgage obligations .... 1,040
State and local government ................... 1,125
Asset-backed securities 2,771
Negotiable certificates of deposit......... 549
Domestic corporate bonds ................... 20,640
Foreign corporate bonds ... 5,425
Foreign governmentbonds .................. 4,783

TOtal oo $ 69,190

Foreign Currency Risk. Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair market value
of an investment. At year-end, there were no formally adopted policies that address foreign currency risk of other primary government
investments outside the State Treasurer.

Concentration of Credit Risk. The 457 Plan places no limit on the amount that may be invested in any one issuer.
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Component Units
(University of North Carolina System, State Education Assistance Authority and The Golden LEAF, Inc.)

University of North Carolina System

The General Statutes place no specific investment restrictions on the University of North Carolina System (the UNC System).
However, in the absence of specific legislation, the form of governance over these investments would be the prudent-person or prudent-
expert rule. These rules are broad statements of intent, generally requiring investment selection and management to be made with
prudent, discreet, and intelligent judgment and care. The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill (the University) operates an
Investment Fund, which is a governmental external investment pool. The University operates the Investment Fund for charitable,
nonprofit foundations, associations, trusts, endowments and funds that are organized and operated primarily to support the University and
other institutions within the UNC System. Separate financial statements for the Investment Fund may be obtained from the University.

At year-end, the UNC System had the following investments and maturities that were maintained outside the State Treasurer
(dollars in thousands):
Investment Maturities (in Years)

Carrying Less More
Investment Type Amount Than 1 1t05 6to 10 Than 10
Debt securities:
U.S. Treasuries .....cooovevevveereeieeeieececeeeeenn $ 90,059 $ 25,015 $ 54840 $ 6,610 $ 3,594
U.S. 2gENCIES oo 120,123 12,038 26,653 3,135 78,297
Mortgage pass-throughs ...........cccocoeviniennnen. 15,106 — 4,652 1,028 9,426
Collateralized mortgage obligations ............. 60,873 9,691 87 727 50,368
State and local government ................ccou..... 112 - — — 112
Asset-backed securities .............cooceeveeevennnnnn. 4,076 3,206 — — 870
Commercial PAPEr .......c.ooveeeiveceeeeeeeeeeeeeerne 382 382 — —_— —
Annuity contracts ....... 65 — —_ —_ 65
Debtmutual funds ........cccooovvvviiicine, 139,459 53,543 39,281 42,122 4,513
Money market mutual funds ............................ 323,962 323,962 _— —_ —
Domestic corporate bonds .........cccoveveeeennnnn. 26,082 9,510 12,111 2,736 1,725
Foreign governmentbonds .............c.coouee. 33 — — — 33
780,332 § 437,347 $ 137,624 $ 56,358 $ 149,003
Other securities:
Balanced mutual fund .............cooovviiiene, 506
International mutual funds .........cccoovevveeennn. 103,654
Equity mutual funds ..o, 215,320
Investments in real estate ..............ccevveee... 35,999
Real estate investmenttrusts ......................... 870
Hedge funds ... 1,478,978
Private equity limited partnerships ................. 802,815
Real assets limited partnerships .................. 441,294
Pooled investments ..o, 348
Domestic Stocks ....ccccieeiviviiiiiiccen 181,191
Foreign StockS .....cooeveveveviiiicccceeeceeeee 4953
Other ..o 56,489
Total investment securities .............ccceuvennnee. $ 4,102,749

Limited Partnerships — The limited partnership positions are primarily held by the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. The
University uses various external money managers to identify specific investment funds and limited partnerships that meet asset allocation
and investment management objectives. The University invests in these funds and partnerships to increase the yield and return on its
investment portfolio given the available alternative investment opportunities and to diversify its asset holdings. These investments
generally include equity and bond funds. Certain investment funds expose the University to significant amounts of market risk by trading
or holding derivative securities and by leveraging the securities in the fund. The University limits the amount of funds managed by any
single asset manager and also limits the amount of funds to be invested in particular security classes.
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Interest Rate Risk and Credit Risk. The constituent institutions of the UNC System generally do not have formal investment policies
that address interest rate risk or credit risk. At year-end, the UNC System’s investments maintained outside the State Treasurer had the
following credit quality distribution for securities with credit exposure (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount by Credit Rating - Moody's/S&P/Fitch

Less than
Investment
Investment Type Aaa/AAA AalAA A Baa/BBB Grade Unrated

U.S. agencies .................... $ 1523 § — 3 —  $ - 3 — $ 106,130
Mortgage pass-throughs 359 — 4 — 16 14,727
Collateralized mortgage obligations . 135 582 1,904 417 20,255 37,580
State and local government ............. — — — 75 37 —_
Asset-backed securities ................. — 57 6 — 4,013 —
Commercial paper ...........cccceeveuenen. 382 —_ —_ - — —
Debt mutual fund ........ccc.coooevreinninnn. 2,410 23,001 53,216 3,258 596 56,978
Money market mutual funds 263,840 — 54,483 —_ —_ 5,639
Domestic corporate bonds ....... 690 3,615 19,886 1,870 21 —_
Foreign government bonds — — 33 — — —
Total ... $ 269,339 $ 27,255 $ 129,532 $ 5620 $ 24,938 $ 221,054

Custodial Credit Risk. The constituent institutions of the UNC System generally do not have formal investment policies
that address custodial credit risk. At year-end, the UNC System’s investments maintained outside the State Treasurer were exposed to
custodial credit risk as follows (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount

Held by
Counterparty's Trust
Held by Dept. or Agent but
Investment Type Counterparty notin State's Name
U.S. Treasuries .......cccovvvvieerinrerinennnn $ © 18,388 $ —
U.S.agencies ......ccovcrnecececcrcnenenennn 12,496 —
Mortgage pass-throughs ..............c......... 14,727 —
Collateralized mortgage obligations .... 2,440 —_
Commercial paper .......cccocoveeeieeeerenennne 382 —
Domestic corporate bonds ... 8,672 -
Domestic stocks .............. 19,878 57
Foreign stocks ...... 12 18
Total oo $ 76,895 $ 75

Foreign Currency Risk. The constituent institutions of the UNC System do not have formal investment policies that address foreign
currency risk. At year-end, the UNC System’s investments maintained outside the State Treasurer were exposed to foreign currency risk
as follows (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount
Private equity Real assets

Foreign Hedge limited limited
Currency stocks funds partnerships partnerships
BUFO .o $ 9 $ 8731 §$ 69115 $§ 29,055
Pound Sterling ................. 23 — 8,998 4,210
Australian Dollar ............... - — 3,166 —
Canadian Dollar ..... 191 — 2,602 —
Japanese Yen ....... 46 — 10 —
Hong Kong Dollar ... 26 — — —
Mexican Peso ................... 16 — - —_
Swiss Franc .......c.cccoeeueen. 11 — — —

Total ..o $ 403 § 8731 § 83891 § 33,265
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State Education Assistance Authority

The State Education Assistance Authority (the Authority) is authorized by the University of North Carolina Board of Governors
pursuant to General Statute 116-36.2 to invest its special funds in the same manner as the State Treasurer is required to invest, as
discussed in Section A of this note.

Investments. In accordance with bond resolutions, bond proceeds and debt service funds are invested in obligations that will by
their terms mature on or before the date funds are expected to be required for expenditure or withdrawal.

Interest Rate Risk. The Authority does not have a formal investment policy that addresses interest rate risk. The following table
presents the fair value of investments by type and investments subject to interest rate risk at June 30, 2011, for the Authority's
investments (dollars in thousands):

Investment
Maturities
(in Years)
Carrying Less
Investment Type Amount Than 1
Debt securities:
Annuity contracts ...................... $ 2115 $ 2,115
Debt mutual funds ................... 14,293 14,293
Money market mutual funds .. 183,269 183,269
199,677 $ 199,677
Other securities:
Investmentagreements ......... 29,107
Balanced mutual funds .......... 568,269
International mutual funds ..... 21,716
Equity mutual funds ................. 88,220
Total investment securities ........ $ 906,989

Credit Risk. The Authority has formally adopted investment policies for credit risk stating that certain investment obligations shall
bear one of the two highest ratings by nationally recognized rating services. As of June 30, 2011, the Authority's investments were rated
as follows (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount by

Credit Rating -
Moody's/S&P/Fitch

Investment Type Unrated

Annuity contracts ................. $ 2,115
Debt mutual funds ................. 14,293
Money market mutual funds .. 183,269
Total e $ 199,677

Custodial Credit Risk. The Authority does not have a formal policy that addresses custodial credit risk.
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The Golden LEAF, Inc.

The General Statutes place no specific investment restrictions on The Golden LEAF, Inc. (Foundation). The Foundation is
authorized by its Board of Directors to invest in any of the following broad asset classes: domestic equities, real estate, mutual funds,
foreign equities, fixed income securities, cash equivalents, and alternatives.

Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.
The Foundation monitors the interest rate risk inherent in its portfolio by measuring the effective duration of its portfolio. The
Foundation has no specific limitations with respect to duration. At year-end, the Foundation had the following investments and durations
that were maintained outside the State Treasurer (dollars in thousands):

Effective
Carrying Duration
Investment Type Amount (in years)
Debt securities:
U.S. Treasuries ......cccccceevvveeireeeeecvnnreeneens $ 50,937 5.26
Money market mutual funds .................... 11,188 0.08
Debt mutual funds .........ccccceeeiiiiiiiiene 58,698 2.77
120,823
Other securities:
Equity mutual funds ..., 107,033
Hedge funds .......cccccevvviiiiieiniieniecces 168,692
Private equity limited partnerships ........... 86,068
Real assets limited partnerships 42,080
Pooled investments ..........ccccccceeiveviiiinnnns 123,736
Domestic StOCKS ......ccvvviviiiiiiiiieriiiiiens 144,475
Total investment securities ............cc.co.cee. $ 792,907

Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation. Credit risk is measured by the
assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. The Foundation investment policy has no specific
limitations with respect to credit quality, but provides that approximately 50% of the fixed income allocation will be allocated to U.S.
Treasury strategies. As of June 30, 2011, the Foundation's investments were rated as follows (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Amount by Credit Rating -

Moody's/S&P/Fitch
Investment Type AaalAAA Unrated
Money market mutual funds ............. $ 11,188 $ —
Debt mutual funds ... 8,995 49,703
Total oo $ 20,183 § 49,703

Foreign Currency Risk. Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair market value
of an investment. The Foundation’s investment policy does not limit the amount invested in foreign currency—denominated investments.

Custodial Credit Risk. The Foundation has no written policy on custodial credit risk: however, based on the nature of the
investments the Foundation currently holds, management does not consider custodial risk to be significant.
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NOTE 4: RECEIVABLES

Receivables at June 30, 2011, are reported net of allowances for doubtful accounts as follows (dollars in thousands):

Governmental Activities:

Other Intemal
Highway Highway Govemmental Service
General Fund Fund Trust Fund Funds Funds® Total
Receivables, gross (excluding notes)....... $ 3,626,711 $ 227150 $ 39249 $ 37,830 $ 14,766 $ 3,945,706
Allowance for doubtful accounts............... (888,207) (31,555) — (29) (12) (919,803)
Receivables, net.............cooevevvnienan. $ 2,738504 $ 195595 $ 39249 $ 37,801 $ 14,754 $ 3,025,903
Notes receivable, gross.................c.o........ $ 70,857 § 1,039 § 73 3 42271 § —  $ 114,240
Notes receivable, net.............coeevee.e... $ 70,857 $ 1,039 $ 73 42271 § — $ 114,240
—S—ss——— ESESS—S————S—— E————— EE——————— S —————ee—

(1) Includes balances due from fiduciary funds.

Within governmental activities, the significant receivables not expected to be collected within one year in the General Fund
are $25.37 million of accounts, notes, and intergovernmental receivables.

Business-Type Activities:

Unemployment EPA N.C. State Other
Compensation Revolving Lottery N.C. Turnpike Enterprise
Fund Loan Fund Fund Authority Funds Total
Receivables, gross (excluding notes).. $ 702,532 $ 5650 $ 9,927 $ 6,571 § 2589 § 727,269
Allow ance for doubtful accounts......... (110,601) —_ —_ —_ (10) (110,611)
Receivables, net.............................. $ 591,931 § 5650 $ 9,927 $ 6,571 § 2579 § 616,658
Notes receivable, gross....................... $ — $ 826,787 §$ —  $ — 3 82 $ 826,869
Notes receivable, net........................ $ — $ 826,787 § —  $ —  $ 82 $ 826,869

Within business-type activities, the significant receivables not expected to be collected within one year are $769.3 million of
notes receivable in the EPA Revolving Loan Fund and $53.329 million of contributions receivable in the Unemployment
Compensation Fund. Revenues of other enterprise funds are net of uncollectible amounts.
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NOTE 5: CAPITAL ASSETS

Primary Government. A summary of changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2011 is presented below (dollars in
thousands).

Governmental Activities: Balance
July 1,2010 Balance
(as restated) Additions Deductions  June 30, 2011

Capital Assets, nondepreciable:

Land and permanent easements .............cccoeueuenee. $ 13,728,792 $ 676567 $ (18,309) $ 14,387,050
Art, literature, and other artifacts ..............ccccceeunneen. 85,506 1,395 (74) 86,827
Construction in progress ...........oeeeeveereverreeeenvernnnn. 2,127,760 1,797,095 (1,571,431) 2,353,424
Computer software in development .............ccoun.uee. 55,788 73117 — 128,905
Total capital assets-nondepreciable ..................... 15,997,846 2,548,174 (1,589,814) 16,956,206
Capital Assets, depreciable:
Buildings .......cccooevierneeeeeeeeen e 2,947,161 215,224 (32,684) 3,129,701
Machinery and equipment ...........cccccooovrrnrevcvcnnnnne 1,581,511 99,020 (80,099) 1,600,432
General infrastructure .............ccccoceeevereerecereeernen. 187,388 26,262 (1,936) 211,714
State highway system ..........cccoovvevreeniecesereeesnnene 26,043,204 1,274,471 (66,372) 27,251,303
Computer software ...........ccoevveeeeveceveseererseneenes 23,244 222 — 23,466
Total capital assets-depreciable ..............ccccu........ 30,782,508 1,615,199 (181,091) 32,216,616
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:
BUIldiNGS ....ceeeeeec s (829,257) = (55,995) 6,379 (878,873)
Machinery and equipment ............cccooveeeecnreernneenns (975,892) (108,681) 59,437 (1,025,136)
General infrastructure ............cccoveeeeeiceeeeeceeenns (69,918) (4,331) 1,232 (73,017)
State highway system ..........ccoovveevveeececreerieeene (7,239,061) (545,026) 65,044 (7,719,043)
Computer SOWArE ...........cccceuereeereceeeesee e (6,288) (1,158) — (7,446)
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization ...... (9,120,416) (715,191) 132,092 (9,703,515)
Total capital assets-depreciable, net ..................... 21,662,092 900,008 (48,999) 22,513,101

Governmental activities
capital assets, Net .........c.cooceeeeeeeeeeeee $ 37,659,938 $ 3,448,182 $(1,638,813) $ 39,469,307
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Business-type Activities: Balance
July 1,2010 Balance
(as restated) Additions Deductions  June 30,2011

Capital Assets, nondepreciable:

Land and permanent easements $ 53,227 $ 65,028 $ —_ $ 118,255
Construction in progress ............ccocceeveeeveeeeieeeennnnns 260,546 318,353 —_ 578,899
Total capital assets-nondepreciable ..................... 313,773 383,381 — 697,154
Capital Assets, depreciable:
BUIIAINGS ..o 50,516 63 (78) 50,501
Machinery and equipment 14,417 1,326 (612) 15,131
General infrastructure .............c.cccoceveeeveccvcreen, 15,654 —_ — 15,654
Computer Software .............ocooeeeeveeeeeeeeeeeeren 174 6 — 180
Total capital assets-depreciable ........................... 80,761 1,395 (690) 81,466
Less accumulated depreciation for:
BUIIAINGS ..o (19,729) (1,213) 16 (20,926)
Machinery and equipment ... (7,675) (1,639) 504 (8,810)
General infrastructure (9,743) (502) — (10,245)
Computer SOftware .............ccccooevvveevveceeeeiceee e, (105) (30) — (135)
Total accumulated depreciation ..............c.c.c........... (37,252) (3,384) 520 (40,116)
Total capital assets-depreciable, net ..................... 43,509 (1,989) (170) 41,350
Business-type activities
capital assets, Net ..o, $ 357,282 $ 381392 § (170) $ 738,504

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows (dollars in thousands):
Governmental activities:

General governMent ............c.ccocevvveveeeeeeeeiseereeeeneans $ 37,119
Primary and secondary education ...............cc.......... 861
Higher education ... 49
Health and human services ...........ccccoevvveceeeecnnnne. 12,386
Economicdevelopment ...........c..ocooooiiiiiieeiieene. 829
Environment and natural resources ......................... 13,302
Public safety, corrections, and regulation ............... 50,005
Transportation 597,150
AGFICUIUIE ..o 3,490
Total depreciation expense ............ccccccoevvvvreennenn. $ 715,191
Business-type activities:
N.C. State Lottery .......cccocvveerreceeceece e, $ 624
EPARevolVing Loan ... 19
N.C. Turnpike AUthOTity .........c.coooviveeeeiceieeeecee. 15
Regulatory programs ................... 1,444
North Carolina State Fair 621
Other business-type activities ...............cccccococeeeee.. 661

Total depreciation expense ...........cccccoeeeuevvverennenen. $ 3,384
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Component Units (University of North Carolina System and community colleges). Capital asset activity for the University of
North Carolina System and community colleges for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, was as follows (dollars in thousands):

University of North Carolina System: Balance
July 1, 2010 Balance
(as restated) Additions Deductions  June 30,2011
Capital Assets, nondepreciable:
Land and permanenteasements .........cccccceecinene. $ 320,540 $ 11,712 §$ 8 $ 332,244
Art, literature, and other artifacts ..............ccccooueee.. 139,494 4,131 (200) 143,425
Construction in progress .........cccceveveveeviveneseceenenenns 935,505 741,031 (614,492) 1,062,044
Computer software in development .........cccoeceeeeee 53,326 8,106 (44,351) 17,081
Other intangible assets .........cccccoceieicevive e, 1,000 — — 1,000
Total capital assets-nondepreciable ..................... 1,449,865 764,980 (659,051) 1,555,794
Capital Assets, depreciable:
BUIlAINGS ...ooveeicc et 8,829,906 617,913 (6,325) 9,441,494
Machinery and equipment ...........coceoeeverccnencecennne. 1,726,317 215,799 (88,281) 1,853,835
Art, literature, and other artifacts ..........ccccoeveeenneee. 202 — — 202
General infrastructure ...........cccoeeeeeeeneecceceeeeeens 1,376,100 205,073 (1,727) 1,579,446
Computer software ..........cccooeveeeecencninnercens 45223 56,474 (818) 100,879
Other intangible assets .......c.ccccovvevnecnccnncceieienns — 128 — 128
Total capital assets-depreciable ............................ 11,977,748 1,095,387 (97,151) 12,975,984
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:
BUIIAINGS vt (2,354,821) (204,544) 3,883 (2,555,482)
Machinery and equipment .......cccccocceeeineniceencnnene (1,050,107) (110,765) 45,678 (1,115,194)
Art, literature, and other artifacts ........c.ccceeveevverennnne. (82) (18) — (100)
General infrastructure ..............cccooveeveeevereeccrecceee (407,984) (55,653) 781 (462,856)
Computer SOftWare ..........cccoceei e (24,372) (9,538) 799 (33,111)
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization ...... (3,837,366) (380,518) 51,141 (4,166,743)
Total capital assets-depreciable, net ..................... 8,140,382 714,869 (46,010) 8,809,241

University of North Carolina System

capital assets, Net.........ccocoeveveeieeeeeeeee e $ 9,690,247 $ 1479849 $ (705,061) $ 10,365,035

Capital assets of nongovernmental component units of the University of North Carolina System are excluded from the above
amounts. At June 30, 2011, nongovernmental component unit foundations and similarly affiliated organizations of the University
of North Carolina System had nondepreciable capital assets of $13.586 million and net depreciable capital assets of $166.255
million.
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Community Colleges: Balance
July 1,2010 Balance
(as restated) Additions Deductions  June 30,2011

Capital Assets, nondepreciable:

Land and permanent easements ...........ccccceeueneee. $ 155,561 $ 3,327 $ (198) $ 158,690
Art, literature, and other artifacts ..........c.ccccceeevereneene. 345 — — 345
Construction in progress .......c.cceeeeveeveeveveeressesenens 106,126 116,031 (89,437) 132,720
Total capital assets-nondepreciable ..................... 262,032 119,358 (89,635) 291,755
Capital Assets, depreciable:
Buildings ......cccccooeeeeeeeeeeenns 2,155,974 118,778 (682) 2,274,070
Machinery and equipment 274,075 53,764 (9,794) 318,045
Art, literature, and other artifacts ..........cccccccoverenenee. 535 5 — 540
General infrastructure ...........ccccceeeeeeecsenecceeneenene 135,200 13,896 (20) 149,076
Computer software .........cccoeeveeeevecvveveneseseeeereens 1,207 — — 1,207
Total capital assets-depreciable ............ccccoeunennee. 2,566,991 186,443 (10,496) 2,742,938
Less accumulated depreciation/amortization for:
BUIlAINGS ..o (517,066) (45,127) 151 (562,042)
Machinery and equipment .........ccocovvvnnnnncncnencnenes (115,586) (18,853) 7,602 (126,837)
Art, literature, and other artifacts (66) (16) — (82)
General infrastructure ............cccooeunn.ee. (32,930) (3,657) 908 (35,679)
Computer software ...........ccccooveeveneeeeeeccceneereenns (252) (121) — (373)
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization ...... (665,900) (67,774) 8,661 (725,013)
Total capital assets-depreciable, net ..................... 1,901,091 118,669 (1,835) 2,017,925
Community Colleges
capital assets, Net .........cccoceeeeececceeee e $ 2,163,123 $ 238,027 $ (91,470) $ 2,309,680

Capital assets of nongovernmental component units of community colleges are excluded from the above amounts. At June 30,
2011, nongovernmental component unit foundations and similarly affiliated organizations of community colleges had
nondepreciable capital assets of $3.731 million and net depreciable capital assets of $6.878 million.
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NOTE 6: SHORT-TERM DEBT

Component Units

University of North Carolina System

At the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, commercial paper was issued from the University of North Carolina General
Revenue Bonds, Series 20024, to provide interim financing for the construction of capital projects. The amount of outstanding
commercial paper as of June 30, 2011 was $73.65 million.

North Carolina State University has available commercial paper program financing for short-term credit up to $100 million to
finance capital construction projects. The University’s available funds are pledged to the commercial paper program financing with
the anticipation of converting to general revenue bond financing in the future. As of June 30, 2011, the amount of outstanding
commercial paper was $10 million.

The Rex Healthcare entered into a note agreement for a short-term revolving line of credit for an amount up to $1.25 million to
support short-term normal operating expenses and to enhance liquidity. Interest is due and payable monthly at 3.0%. The outstanding
principal amount along with any accrued interest will be due upon maturity date of March 8, 2012. At June 30, 2011, the amount
outstanding was $140 thousand.

State Education Assistance Authority

The State Education Assistance Authority obtained a line of credit under the Loan Participation Purchase Program, through the
United States Department of Education (the Department), to finance Federal Family Education Loan Program (FFELP) student loans
for the 2009-2010 academic year. At June 30, 2011, there was no outstanding balance.

Short-term debt activity for the University of North Carolina System and the State Education Assistance Authority, for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2011, are as follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance Balance
July 1,2010 Draws Repayments  June 30, 2011
University of North Carolina System
Commercial Paper Program..........c..cccocuuu.... $ 59,784 $ 40,000 $ (16,134) §$ 83,650
Line of Credit........cocoeveeeereceeceeee e — 140 — 140

State Education Assistance Authority

Line of Credit..........coocoenrcnicrcrerenes 823,685 - (823,685) —
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NOTE 7: DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

A. Summary Information

A summary of derivative instrument activity during the fiscal year and balances at year-end, classified by type, are as follows (dollars
in thousands):

Changes in Fair Value Fair Value at June 30, 2011

Increase Asset
Type Classificaion (Decrease) Classification (Liability ) Nofional
Primary Government
Governmental Activities
Investment deriv afives:
Swaptions Unrestricted inv estment eamings (7,699) Accounts pay able $ (71,993 § 675955
Basis swaps Unrestricted investment eamings 7,862 Investments 19,792 675,955
Fiduciary Funds
Investment deriv afives:
U.S. dollar equity futures Investment eamings $ 9338  Stale Treasurer InvestmentPool $ 9,338 § 380,247
Commodity futures:
Wheat futures Investment earnings (7,854)  State Treasurer Investment Pool (7,854) 4,310,000
Bushels
Crude oil futures Investment eamings (4,862)  State Treasurer Investment Pool (4862) 1,362,000
U.S. barrels
Com futures Investment eamings (3,991)  State Treasurer Investment Pool (3991) 6,095,000
Bushels
Natural gas futures Investment eamings (2,999)  State Treasurer Investment Pool (2999) 11,410,000
MMBTUs
Heating oil futures Investment eamings (2,697)  State Treasurer Investment Pool (2,697) 12,012,000
U.S. gallons
Component Units
University of North Carolina System
Cash flow hedges:
Pay-fixed interest rate swaps:
UNC at Chapel Hill Deferred outfow of resources 5,012 Hedging derivatives liability $ (15532 $ 119,685
N.C. State University Deferred outflow of resources 1,380 Hedging deriv atives liability (9,015) 74,655
N.C. Cenfral University Deferred outflow of resources 190 Hedging derivatives liability (862) 7,822
UNC Hospitals Deferred outflow of resources 2,988 Hedging deriv afives liability (15,822) 133,760
Total $ 9570 $ 41,231) § 335922
N.C. Housing Finance Agency S
Cash flow hedges:
Pay-fixed interest rate swaps: Deferred outfow of resources ~ §  (1,640) Hedging deriv atives liability $ (5058 $§ 67,480

For the primary government, the fair values of derivative
instruments were measured using market prices except as
follows. The fair values of swaptions and basis swaps were
estimated using the zero coupon method. This method
calculates the future net settlement payments, assuming that the
current forward rates implied by the yield curve correctly
anticipate future spot interest rates. Forecasted payments are
discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield
curve for hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due on the date of
each future net settlement of the swaps.

For component units, the fair values of interest rate swaps
were measured using market prices except as follows. The fair
values of interest rate swaps at the University of North Carolina
(UNC) at Chapel Hill were provided either by their financial
advisor or by the counterparty. The method used by their
financial advisor calculated the future net settlement payments
required by the swap assuming that the current forward rates
implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot
interest rates. These payments were then discounted using the
spot rates implied by the current yield curve for London
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Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) due on the date of each future
net settlement on the swap. The method used by their
counterparty calculated the present value of all expected future
payments on the swap based on forward curves discounted at
current market rates.

The fair value of the interest rate swap at N.C. Central
University was determined by the counterparty using
mathematical approximations of market values based on a
function of long-term swap rates. The swap was discounted due
to the expectation for lower LIBOR rates in the future.

The fair values of the interest rate swaps at UNC Hospitals
were estimated by Bank of America, N.A. (BOA) using the
zero-coupon method. This method calculates the present value
of the future net settlement payments required by the swap
assuming that the current forward rates implied by the yield
curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These
payments are then discounted using the spot rates implied by
the current yield curve for LIBOR due on the date of each
future net settlement on the swap.

B. Hedging Derivative Instruments

Component Units

University of North Carolina System

The fair values of the interest rate swaps at the N.C.
Housing Finance Agency were estimated using the zero-coupon
method. This method calculates the future net settlement
payments required by the swap, assuming the current forward
rates implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot
interest rates. These payments are then discounted using the
spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical
zero-coupon bonds due on the date of each future net settlement
on the swap.

On August 31, 2010, the State refunded $499.87 million of
variable-rate bonds and terminated interest rate swaps that were
hedging interest rate risk associated with those bonds.
Accordingly, the accumulated change in fair value of the swaps
that was reported as a deferred outflow of $49.9 million at July
1, 2010, was used to reduce the net carrying amount of the
refunded bonds for the purpose of calculating the deferred loss
on refunding (see Note 8.F).

The following table displays the objectives and terms of the University of North Carolina System’s hedging derivative instruments

outstanding at June 30, 2011 (dollars in thousands):

Type Objective

Notonal ~ Effecve  Maturity

Amount Date Date Terms

UNC at Chapel Hill

Pay-fixed interest rate swap

Pay-fixed interest rate swap

N.C. State University
Pay-fixed interest rate swap

Pay-fixed interest rate swap

N.C. Cenfral University
Pay-fixed interest rate swap

UNC Hospitals
Pay-fixed interest rate swap

Pay-fixed interest rate swap

Hedge changes in cash flows on General

Revenue 2001B Series bonds
Hedge changes in cash flows on General

Revenue 2001B&C and 2002A Series bonds

Hedge changes in cash flows on General
Revenue 2003B Series bonds
Hedge changes in cash flows on General
Revenue 2008A Series bonds

Hedge changes in cash flows on Housing
Facilifies Revenue 2003A Series bonds

Hedge changes in cash flows on Revenue
2003A&B Series bonds
Hedge changes in cash flows on Revenue
2009A Series bonds

$ 19685  10/3/00  11/1/25 Pay 5.24%; receive
SIFMA Swap index
100,000  12/1/07  12/1/36  Pay 3.314%; receive 67%
LIBOR
24,655  6/20/03  10/1/27  Pay 3.54% ; receive 75%
LIBOR
50,000 9/1/08 10/1/26  Pay 3.862% ; receive
SIFMA Swap index
7,822 41104 1011/24  Pay 3.52% ; receive 70%
LIBOR
94,055  2/13/03 21129  Pay 3.48% ; receive 67%
LIBOR
39,705  2/12/09 21124 Pay 3.61% ; receive 67%

LIBOR
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The University of North Carolina System’s hedging
derivative instruments are exposed to the following risks that
could give rise to financial loss:

UNC at Chapel Hill

Credit risk. At year-end, UNC at Chapel Hill (University)
was not exposed to credit risk on its interest rate swaps because
the swaps had negative fair values. During fiscal year 2009, the
counterparty for swap 1, Lehman Brothers Special Financing,
Inc., filed for bankruptcy and no longer disburses the variable
payment scheduled under the agreement to the University. To
account for this consideration and as allowed under the swap
documents, the University nets its scheduled fixed payment
against that payment that should be received from Lehman
Brothers Special Financing, Inc., based upon the Securities
Industry and Financial Markets Association Swap Index
(SIFMA).

Interest rate risk. The University is exposed to interest rate
risk on its interest rate swaps. The fair values of these
instruments are highly sensitive to interest rate changes.
Because rates have changed since the effective dates of the
swaps, both of the swaps have a negative fair value as of June
30, 2011. The negative fair value may be countered by a
reduction in total interest payments required under the variable-
rate bonds, creating lower synthetic interest rates. Because the
coupons on the University’s variable-rate bonds adjust to
changing interest rates, the bonds do not have corresponding
fair value increases. The fair values are the calculated values as
of June 30, 2011. As the yield curve rises, the value of the
swaps will increase and as rates fall, the fair value of the swaps
will decrease.

Basis risk. The University is exposed to basis risk on the
swaps when its bonds begin to trade at a yield above the
referenced index rate. For the first swap, basis risk also exists
since swap payments are received semi-annually while bond
payments are made monthly. With the alternative tax structure
of the swap, a change in tax law would trigger the swap being
converted from a SIFMA swap to a percentage of LIBOR swap.

Termination risk. The swap agreements use the International
Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) Master Agreement,
which includes standard termination events, such as failure to
pay and bankruptcy. Termination could result in the University
being required to make an unanticipated termination payment.
The swap may terminate if the University or the counterparty
fails to perform under terms of the contract.

Rollover risk. The University is not exposed to rollover risk
for the first swap based solely upon the maturity date of the
bonds since the termination date of the swap, November 1,
2025, is prior to the maturity date of the hedged bonds,
December 1, 2025. However, since the underlying hedged
variable rate debt is in the form of variable rate demand bonds,
the University is subject to rollover risk in the event that the
bonds are tendered and cannot be remarketed by the
remarketing agent. The University is exposed to rollover risk
for the second swap based upon the maturity date of the

underlying debt and due to the form of the debt as variable rate
demand bonds.

Future swaps. The University has also entered into a future
dated interest rate swap agreement for $150 million to be
effective December 1, 2011 on variable rate bonds.

N.C. State University

Credit risk. At year-end, N.C. State University (University)
was not exposed to credit risk on its interest rate swaps because
the swaps had negative fair values. However, should interest
rates change and the fair value of swaps becomes positive, the
University would be exposed to credit risk in the amount of the
derivative’s positive fair value. The swap agreements require
termination should the University’s or the counterparty’s credit
rating fall below either Baa2 as issued by Moody’s Investors
Service (Moody’s) or BBB as issued by Standard & Poor’s
(S&P) or Fitch Ratings (Fitch). Also, under the terms of the
swap agreements, should one party become insolvent or
otherwise default on its obligations, provisions permit the
nondefaulting party to accelerate and terminate all outstanding
transactions. To mitigate the potential for credit risk, if the
counterparty’s credit quality falls below A3 as determined by
Moody’s or A- as determined by S&P, the swap will be
collateralized by the counterparty with cash, U.S. government
or agency securities. If the counterparty is required to
collateralize, then the collateral will be posted with a third party
custodian or secured party. The swap agreements entered into
by the University are held with separate counterparties. All the
counterparties are rated A or better.

Interest rate risk. The University is exposed to interest rate
risk on its interest rate swaps. The fair values of these
instruments are highly sensitive to interest rate changes.
Because rates have changed since the effective dates of the
swaps, both of the swaps have a negative fair value as of June
30, 2011. The negative fair value may be countered by a
reduction in total interest payments required under the variable-
rate bonds, creating lower synthetic interest rates. Because the
coupons on the University’s variable-rate bonds adjust to
changing interest rates, the bonds do not have corresponding
fair value increases. The fair values are the market values as of
June 30, 2011. Both of the swaps outstanding have termination
dates greater than 15 years. As the yield curve rises, the value
of the swaps will increase and as rates fall, the value of the
swaps will decrease.

Basis risk. The University is exposed to basis risk on the
swaps when the variable payment received is based on an index
other than SIFMA. Should the relationship between LIBOR
and SIFMA move to convergence, the expected cost savings
may not be realized. The current outstanding swaps and the
related bonds reset rates weekly and pay monthly. As of June
30, 2011, the SIFMA rate was 0.09%, whereas 75% of LIBOR
was 0.14%

Termination risk. The University or the counterparty may
terminate any of the swaps if the other party fails to perform
under the terms of the contract. If any of the swaps are
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terminated, the associated variable-rate bonds would no longer
carry synthetic interest rates. Also, if at the time of termination
the swap has a negative fair value, the University would be
liable to the counterparty for that amount.

Rollover risk. By definition, the University is exposed to
rollover risk because the swap related to the 2008A bonds
terminates October 1, 2026, two years before the related bonds
mature on October 1, 2028. It is not the intent of the University
at this time to re-hedge the bonds.

Future swaps. The University has also entered into a future
dated interest rate swap agreement for $22.38 million to be
effective March 1, 2017, on the General Revenue Series 2008A
bonds.

N.C. Central University

Interest rate risk. N.C. Central University (University) is
exposed to interest rate risk on its interest rate swap. The fair
value of this instrument is highly sensitive to interest rate
changes. Because rates have decreased since the effective date
of the swap, the swap has a negative fair value as of June 30,
2011. The negative fair value is countered by a reduction in
total interest payments required under the variable-rate bonds.
Because the coupons on the University’s variable-rate bonds
adjust to changing interest rates, the bonds do not have
corresponding fair value increases.

Basis risk. The swaps expose the Foundation to basis risk
when the variable payment received is based on an index other
than SIFMA. Should the relationship between LIBOR and
SIFMA converge, the synthetic rates on the debt would change.
The Foundation receives 70% of a one-month LIBOR from the
counterparty and pays a floating rate to its bondholders set by
the Remarketing Agent. The Foundation incurs basis risks when
its bond trade at a yield above 70% of LIBOR. If the
relationship of the Foundation’s bonds trade to a percentage of
LIBOR greater than 70%, the Foundation will experience an
increase in debt service above the fixed rate on the swap.

Termination risk. The swap contract uses the ISDA Master
Agreement, which includes standard termination events, such as
failure to pay and bankruptcy. Termination could result in the
Foundation being required to make an unanticipated termination
payment. As of June 30, 2011 no termination events had
occurred and there was no known date when the derivative
instrument may be terminated. The swap agreement is
terminated if the Foundation or the counterparty fails to perform
under the contract. There were no out-of-the ordinary
termination events as of June 30, 2011.

Rollover risk. The Foundation is exposed to rollover risk
when the swap matures on October 1. 2024. When the swaps
mature, the interest rate on the underlying debt will return to a
variable rate. The bonds mature on October 1, 2034.

UNC Hospitals

Credit risk. At year-end, UNC Hospitals (Hospitals) was not
exposed to credit risk because the swap has a negative fair

value. However, should interest rates change and the fair value
of the swap becomes positive, the Hospitals would be exposed
to credit risk in the amount of the derivative's fair value. UNC
Hospitals has a policy of requiring collateral to support hedging
derivative instruments subject to credit risk. This policy states
that at such time that BOA’s ratings falls below A3 for
Moody’s or below A- for S&P, BOA will be required to
collateralize a portion of their exposure (up to 100%). The
following instruments can serve as eligible collateral: Cash,
U.S. Treasury Obligations, U.S. Government Agency Fixed
Rate Fixed Maturity Securities, U.S. Government Agency
Single Class Mortgage-Backed Securities, U.S. Treasury
STRIPS, and other U.S. Government Agency Mortgage-Backed
Securities. Posted collateral received will be entered in one or
more accounts with a domestic office of a commercial bank,
trust company, or financial institution organized under the laws
of the United States (or any state or a political subdivision
thereof). As of June 30, 2011, the credit rating for Bank of
America, N.A. is Aa3 by Moody’s and A+ by S&P. The
Hospitals entered into a master agreement with the ISDA in
January 2003. In this agreement, master netting arrangements
were established between the contractual parties. All derivative
instruments held by the Hospitals are subject to this agreement.

Interest rate risk. The Hospitals is exposed to interest rate
risk on its interest rate swaps. The fair values of these
instruments are sensitive to interest rate changes. Because rates
have changed since the effective dates of the swaps, both of the
swaps have a negative fair value as of June 30, 2011. The
negative fair value may be countered by a reduction in total
interest payments required under the variable-rate bonds,
creating lower synthetic interest rates. Because the coupons on
the Hospitals® variable-rate bonds adjust to changing interest
rates, the bonds do not have corresponding fair value increases.
As the yield curve rises, the value of the swaps will increase
and as rates fall, the value of the swaps will decrease. The fair
values reported are the market values as of June 30, 2011.

Basis risk. The Hospitals receives 67% of one-month
LIBOR Index from the counterparty and pays a floating rate to
its bondholders set by the Remarketing Agent. The Hospitals
incurs basis risk when its bonds trade at a yield above 67% of
one-month LIBOR Index. If the relationship of the Hospitals’
bonds trade to a percentage of LIBOR greater than 67%, the
Hospitals will experience an increase in debt service above the
fixed rate on the swap.

Termination risk. The Hospitals are exposed to termination
risk because the derivative contract uses the ISDA Master
Agreement, which includes standard termination events, such as
failure to pay and bankruptcy. The Hospitals or the
counterparty may terminate the swap if the other party fails to
perform under the terms of the contract. If the swap is
terminated, the associated variable-rate bonds would no longer
carry synthetic interest rates. Also, if at the time of termination
the swap has a negative fair value, the Hospitals would be liable
to the counterparty for that amount. Termination could result in
the Hospitals being required to make an unanticipated
termination payment.
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N.C. Housing Finance Agency

The following table displays the objectives and terms of the N.C. Housing Finance Agency’s (Agency) hedging derivative instruments

outstanding at June 30, 2011 (dollars in thousands):

Type Objective

N otional Effecive  Maturity
Amount Date Date Terms

Pay-fixed interest rate swap

Revenue 15C Series bonds
Pay-fixed interest rate swap
Revenue 16C Series bonds
Pay-fixed interest rate swap

Revenue 17C Series bonds
Pay-fixed interest rate swap

Revenue 18C Series bonds

The Agency’s hedging derivative instruments are exposed to
the following risks that could give rise to financial loss:

Interest rate risk. Under all of the swaps, the Agency pays
the counterparties a fixed rate and receives a variable payment
computed as 63% of one-month LIBOR plus thirty basis points.
The bonds’ variable-rate coupons are remarketed weekly and
generally track the variable SIFMA Index, which was 0.09% as
of June 30, 2011. Because the coupons on the Agency’s
variable-rate bonds adjust to changing interest rates, the bonds
do not have a corresponding fair value increase.

Credit risk. At year-end, the Agency was not exposed to
credit risk on its interest rate swaps because the swaps had
negative fair values. For all swaps, collateral thresholds have
been established if the counterparty’s ratings reach A2 for
Moody’s or A for S&P. The Agency has no master netting
arrangement.

Basis risk. The swaps expose the Agency to basis risk
should the relationship between LIBOR and SIFMA converge,
changing the synthetic rate on the bonds. The swap contracts
for the Agency utilize a compound formula for the floating rate
index to reduce this risk. During the accounting period, the
Agency realized a benefit of 20.54 basis points due to the
floating rate formula for its swap contracts when compared to
the floating rate on the respective bonds.

Termination risk. Series 16C, 17C and 18C swaps may be
terminated if the counterparty’s or the Agency’s rating falls
below Baa2 as issued by Moody’s or BBB as issued by S&P.
Series 15C swap may be terminated if the counterparty’s or the
Agency’s rating falls below Baa3 as issued by Moody’s and
BBB- as issued by S&P. To date, no termination events have
occurred. Additionally, if at the time of termination, the swap
has a negative fair value, the Agency would be liable to the
counterparty for a payment equal to the swap’s fair value.

Information on debt service requirements on long-term
debt of the primary government and component units and net
cash flows on associated hedging derivative instruments is
presented in Note 8E.

Hedge changes in cash flows on

Hedge changes in cash flows on

Hedge changes in cash flows on

Hedge changes in cash flows on

$ 15,285 5/8/03 711132 Pay 3.508% ; receive 63%
LIBOR plus 0.30%

Pay 3.81% ; receive 63%

LIBOR plus 0.30%
Pay 3.725% ; receive 63%

LIBOR plus 0.30%
Pay 3.288% ; receive 63%
LIBOR plus 0.30%

15,615  9/16/03 71/32

18,580  12/11/03  7/1/33

18,000  4/20/04 111135

C. Investment Derivative Instruments

Primary Government

The primary government’s swaptions and basis swaps,
which are reported as investment derivative instruments, are
exposed to the following risks that could give rise to financial
loss:

Credit risk. At year-end, the State had no net exposure to
credit risk because the aggregate fair values of the basis swap
and swaptions were negative. For the basis swaps and
swaptions, if the counterparty’s credit quality is rated lower
than Baal (Moody’s), BBB+ (S&P), or BBB+ (Fitch) by two of
the three rating agencies, then the swap will need to be
collateralized by the counterparty with cash, U.S. government
or agency securities, or other collateral acceptable to the State
(Fitch credit ratings only apply to counterparty 1). If the
counterparty is required to collateralize a portion of the
derivative, then the collateral will be posted (net of the effect of
applicable netting arrangements) with a third party custodian or
secured party. The State is not required to post collateral. The
State has entered into a master netting agreement with each of
the three basis swap and swaption counterparties which allows
the party by whom the larger aggregate amount would have
been payable to pay the other party the excess of the larger
amount over the smaller amount as due on a given date.

An additional termination event for the basis swaps occurs if
counterparty 1 or 3 has one or more issues of rated, unsecured,
unenhanced senior debt or long-term deposits outstanding and
none of such issues has at least two ratings of at least Baa2 or
higher as determined by Moody’s, or BBB or higher as
determined by S&P or Fitch. For counterparty 2, an additional
termination event occurs if it has one or more issues of rated,
unsecured, unenhanced senior debt outstanding and none of
such issues has at least two ratings of Baa2 or higher
(Moody’s), BBB or higher (S&P) or counterparty 2 fails to have
a rating on long-term, unsecured, unenhanced senior debt.

The basis swaps and swaptions may be optionally
terminated by the State with two days notice for counterparties
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1 and 2 or with five days notice for counterparty 3. The
counterparties can only terminate if the State, at any time during
the term of the swap transaction, fails to maintain by at least
two rating agencies, ratings of at least Baa2 or higher as

determined by Moody’s, or BBB or higher as determined by
S&P or Fitch (Fitch does not apply to counterparty 2).

The following table summarizes, for basis swaps, the State’s maximum exposure to credit risk at year-end reduced by liabilities

included in netting arrangements:

Fair Counterparty Credit Ratings
Derivative Instrument Value Counterparty S&P/Fitch Moody's
Basis swap, G.O. Series 2003A, 2003B, and 2004A $ 10,103 Counterparty 1 AA | AA- Aa2
Basis swap, G.O. Series 2003A, 2003B, and 2004A 6,062 Counterparty 2 AlA+ A2
Basis swap, G.O. Series 2003A, 2003B, and 2004A 3,627 Counterparty 3 AA-/AA- Aat
Total* $ 19,792
Less: Netting arrangement liability — Sw aption (35,995) Counterparty 1
Less: Netiing arrangement liability — Sw aption (21,599) Counterparty 2
Less: Netting arrangement liability — Sw aption (14,399) Counterparty 3
N et exposure to credit risk § (52.201)

* The fair value total represents the maximum risk of loss that would be recognized at the reporting date if all counterparties
failed to perform as contracted, without respect to any netting arrangements. The State has no net ex posure to credit risk
since the netting arrangement liabiliies for the sw aptions ex ceed the total fair v alue of the basis swaps.

Interest rate risk. The State is exposed to interest rate risk
on its basis swaps. The fair values of the basis swaps are
sensitive to interest rate changes. As the relationship between
LIBOR and SIFMA change, the net basis swap cash flow will
be affected. An increase in the LIBOR rate greater than in
SIFMA rate will have a positive impact on net cash flow and
likewise an increase in the SIFMA rate greater than in the
LIBOR rate will have a negative impact on net cash flow. The
State is also exposed to interest rate risk on its swaptions. The
valuations of these instruments are highly sensitive to interest
rate changes. The swaption valuations reflect a decline in
interest rates from the prior fiscal year. A replacement
transaction would generate a net present value savings
approximately equal to these valuation amounts. The State pays
SIFMA and receives 70% of LIBOR plus 69 basis points (28
basis points relate to swaptions) on a notional amount of
$675.95 million. On June 30, 2011, SIFMA was 0.09% and
70% of LIBOR was 0.13%.

The Investment Pool maintained by the State Treasurer has
investments in U.S. dollar equity futures and commodity
futures. The investment disclosures for these derivatives are
included as part of the equity based trust and inflation portfolios
which are included in the Investment Pool. More detailed
information about the Investment Pool is presented in Note 3A.

D. Synthetic Guaranteed Investment
Contracts

Primary Government

In the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan of North
Carolina, 401(k) Plan, there are synthetic guaranteed investment
contracts (SGICs) within the North Carolina Stable Value Fund.
The two SGICs with Prudential Insurance Company of America
(Prudential) which are fully benefit responsive, provided an
average credit rating yield of 4.63% and 3.11%, respectively.
The fair value of the securities covered by the contracts as of
December 31, 2010, is $1.02 billion and the contract value is
$978.22 million. The contracts are unrated and have a maturity
of less than one year.

In the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred
Compensation Plan, 457 Plan, there are SGICs within the North
Carolina Stable Value Fund. The two SGICs with Prudential
which are fully benefit responsive, provided an average credit
rating yield of 4.79% and 2.76%, respectively. The fair value of
the securities covered by the contracts as of December 31, 2010,
is $218.89 million and the contract value is $210.48 million.
The contracts are unrated and have a maturity of less than one
year.

Both the Supplemental Retirement Income Plan and the
Deferred Compensation Plan have entered into wrap contracts
with Prudential and Great-West Life and Annuity Insurance
Company (Great-West) to assure that the crediting rate on
participant investments will not be less than zero. However, the
wrap contracts with Prudential and Great-West were determined
to be insignificant.
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NOTE 8: LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

A. Changes in Long-Term Liabilities

Primary Government. Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2011, was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance Amounts
July 11,2010 Balance Due Within
(as restated) Increases Decreases June 30,2011  One Year
Governmental activities:
Bonds and similar debt payable:
General obligation bonds ..........ccccccevvurveenee. $5,270660 $ 774,745 $(1,199,200) $ 4,846,205 $ 375,705
Special indebtedness:
Lease-purchase revenue bonds ................. 215,045 — (10,000) 205,045 10,000
Certificates of participation 872,600 — (47,740) 824,860 48,550
Limited obligation bonds ..........ccccceuveurunnenaee 580,705 500,000 (19,960) 1,060,745 33,005
GARVEE boNds ..ot 434,825 — (61,745) 373,080 40,535
Less deferred amounts:
On refunding ..o (90,493) (56,436) 21,314 (125,615) —
Add issuance premium .........ccccccoeeeeeeieerennnnns 353,147 191,035 (102,964) 441,218 —_
Total bonds and similar debt payable ...... 7,636,489 1,409,344 (1,420,295) 7,625,538 507,795
Notes payable ..o 30,538 — (5,500) 25,038 5,147
Capital leases payable ..........ccccooovererrerrerecrennene. 24815 — (2,146) 22,669 1,906
Compensated absences ..........ccccooeeeueeeirnrennns 420,410 256,649 (264,440) 412,619 35,718
Net pension obligation .......... 429 25,535 (23,012) 2,952 —
Workers' compensation 82,150 51,654 (21,117) 112,687 33,649
Deferred death benefit payable 500 — (130) 370 240
Pollution remediation payable .................cc......... 6,549 525 (210) 6,864 456
Courtjudgment payable ...........c.ccceoecuvierrreerrnnnen. 731,703 — — 731,703 —_
Governmental activity
long-term liabilities .........cccccoeeeeveeeicreceriicines $8,933,583  $1,743,707 $(1,736,850) $ 8,940,440 $ 584,911
Business-type activities:
Bonds payable:
Revenue bonds ... $ 622,758 $ 233920 $ — $ 856678 $ —
Less deferred amounts:
Forissuance discounts .........c.ccooeerrerieenernans (2,244) — 116 (2,128) —
Total bonds payable ...........ccccocoeveernrrirnnee. 620,514 233,920 116 854,550 —_
Notes payable ... 74,565 195,812 (1,347) 269,030 342
Annuity and life income payable .............c.c.o....... 27,157 13,613 (2,150) 38,620 3,000
Federal unemployment account advances ...... 2,149,524 1,430,322 (1,043,677) 2,536,169 800,000
Compensated absences ...........cccocoeveevinenrnenee. 6,492 3,656 (3,532) 6,616 518
Business-type activity
long-term liabilities .........c.cccoceeeieeeceecerercrnees $2,878,252 $1,877,323  $(1,050,590) $ 3,704,985 $ 803,860

For governmental activities, the compensated absences, net pension obligation, and workers’ compensation liabilities are generally
liquidated by the General Fund. Pollution remediation payable is generally liquidated by the Highway Fund. A portion of compensated
absences is also liquidated by the Highway Fund. Internal service funds predominantly serve the governmental funds. Accordingly, long-
term liabilities for them are included as part of the above totals for governmental activities. At year-end, the following long-term
liabilities of internal service funds were included in the above amounts: compensated absences of $6.212 million and capital leases

payable of $1.36 million.
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Component Units (University of North Carolina System, North Carolina Housing Finance Agency, and the State Education
Assistance Authority). Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2011, was as follows (dollars in thousands):

Balance Amounts
July 1,2010 Balance Due Within
(as restated) Increases Decreases June 30,2011  One Year

University of North Carolina System:
Bonds payable:

Revenue bonds .........ccoouieieiiiiiecccee e $2,874885 $ 343,170 $ (163,930) $ 3,054,125 $ 161,510
Certificates of participation 29,050 — (2,150) 26,900 2,230
Less deferred amounts:
Forissuance discounts ............ccccocvvrreerennne (25,764) (144) 962 (24,946) —
On refunding ................ (30,103) (2,196) 2,709 (29,590) —
Add issuance premium ... 66,297 4,865 (4,525) 66,637 —
Total bonds payable .........ccccoorvruerrciennce. 2,914,365 345,695 (166,934) 3,093,126 163,740
Notes payable ... 170,619 136,903 (12,565) 294,957 82,889
Capital leases payable 224,402 29,344 (14,371) 239,375 12,826
Arbitrage rebate payable ..o 397 25 (269) 153 128
Annuity and life income payable ........................ 16,952 2,504 (82) 19,374 1,544
Compensated absences 325,927 238,120 (226,974) 337,073 38,204
Pollution remediation payable ............................ 30 55 (30) 55 45
Liabilityinsurance trust fund payable ................ 48,292 11,425 (8,350) 51,367 12,748
Total long-term liabilities .............ccocovvrevercrennne.. $3,700,984 $ 764,071 $ (429,575) $4,035480 $ 312,124

Long-term liabilities of nongovernmental component units of the University of North Carolina System are excluded from the above
amounts. At June 30, 2011, nongovernmental component unit foundations and similarly affiliated organizations of the University of
North Carolina System had total long-term liabilities of $463.006 million, of which $27.298 million was due within one year and
$435.708 million was due in more than one year.

Balance Amounts
July 1,2010 Balance Due Within
(as restated) Increases Decreases June 30,2011  One Year

North Carolina Housing Finance Agency:
Bonds payable:

Revenue bonds ... $1,470170 $ — $ (137,040) $ 1,333,130 $ 171,450
Less deferred amounts:

Forissuance discounts .........c.ccceeerrrennnne. (17) — — 17) —
Add issuance premium 8,763 — (2,243) 6,520 —

Total bonds payable ... 1,478,916 — (139,283) 1,339,633 171,450
Arbitrage rebate payable ..... 1,104 37 (723) 418 361
Compensated absences ..........c.ccooeuveevveeirnnne 997 338 (317) 1,018 127
Total long-term liabilities ............cccccoevevveverereinnne $1,481,017 $ 375 $ (140,323) $ 1,341,069 $ 171,938

Amounts
Balance Balance Due Within

July 1,2010 Increases Decreases June 30,2011  One Year

State Education Assistance Authority:
Bonds payable:

Revenue bonds ..........ccoovieeiieneecicece $2,113,650 $1,399,000 $(1,623,782) ¢ 1,888.868 $ 90,401
Less deferred amounts:

Forissuance discounts ........ccccccovvrreierrnnnnns — (37,844) 742 (37,102) —

Total bonds payable ...........ccccooerrevierinnes 2,113,650 1,361,156 (1,623,040) 1,851,766 90,401

Notes payable ................... e 1,560,525 — (151,048) 1,409,477 151,000
Arbitrage rebate payable 688 — (688) —_ —
Compensated absences 354 — (12) 342 16

Total long-term liabilities ...........cccccocovennereincnnnes $3,675217 $1,361,156  $(1,774,788) §$ 3,261,585 § 241,417
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B. Bonds, Special Indebtedness, and Notes Payable

Bonds, special indebtedness, and notes payable at June 30, 2011 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Interest Through Issue

Maturing Original
Outstanding
Year Amount Balance

Primary Government:
Governmental activities

General obligation bonds................ccooevevrnrenenne. 0.06% - 5.50%* 2030 $ 7475730 $ 4,846,205
Special indebtedness:
Lease-purchase revenue bonds................... 3.50% - 5.25% 2024 272,045 205,045
Certificates of participation............................ 3.25% - 5.25% 2028 1,064,840 824,860
Limited obligation bonds 2.00% - 5.25% 2031 1,100,000 1,060,745
GARVEE Bonds 2.00% - 5.21% 2021 530,085 373,080
Notes payable............ccceeveveiierennnne 1.95% - 3.86% 2018 35,239 25,038
Business-type activities
Revenue bonds™*.........c.cccoveieiiiieieieiene, 5.32% - 6.70% 2041 $ 856678 $ 856,678
Notes payable............ccoevveveiiieiiiiciececeenen 3.54% - 5.00% 2047 269,171 269,030
Component Units:
University of North Carolina System
Revenue bonds*™...........cccccoeiriviiiieeceiciee, 0.10% - 10.00%* 2040 $ 3,630,498  $ 3,054,125
Certificates of participation...............cccccceeveneeee 3.38% - 5.00% 2036 38,745 26,900
Notes payable**..............ccocoevivevieciiieniicreene 0.46% - 6.25%* 2033 302,856 294,957

North Carolina Housing Finance Agency

Revenue bonds...........ccccovieciiiiiinine 3.29% - 6.40%* 2039

State Education Assistance Authority
Revenue bonds
Notes payable..........cccooeveiiriieiiiireeceee

0.78% - 4.00%* 2041
0.25%* 2014 1,677,000 1,409,477

$ 3724241  $ 1,333,130

$ 4504850 $ 1,888,868

* For variable rate debt, interest rates in effect at June 30, 2011 are included. For variable rate debt w ith interest rate

sw aps, the synthetic fixed rates are included.

** The issuer has elected to treat a portion of these obligations as federally taxable "Build America Bonds" for
purposes of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act and to receive a cash subsidy from the U.S. Treasury
equal to 35% of the interest payable on these obligations. The outstanding balance of "Build America Bonds" w as
$586.6 million for the primary government and $448.82 million for component units. For these bonds, the interest
rate included is the taxable rate, w hich does not factor in the cash subsidy from the U.S. Treasury.

General obligation bonds are secured by the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the State. The payments on special indebtedness;
which include lease-purchase revenue bonds, certificates of participation (COPs), and limited obligation bonds; are subject to
appropriation by the General Assembly. Special indebtedness may also be secured by a lien on equipment or facilities, or by lease
payments made by the State. Other long-term debts of the State and its component units are payable solely from certain resources of the

funds to which they relate.

C. Bonds Authorized but Unissued

The amount of authorized but unissued special indebtedness
of the primary government at June 30, 2011 totaled $1.228
billion as follows: university projects $472 million, psychiatric
hospitals $218 million, correctional facilities $56 million,
guaranteed energy savings contracts $372 million, State and
other projects $88 million, and repairs and renovations $22
million. At June 30, 2011, the State had no authorized but
unissued general obligation bonds.

In 2005, the N.C. General Assembly enacted General
Statute 136-18(12b) providing for the issuance of Grant
Anticipation Revenue Vehicle Bonds (GARVEEs), which are
payable from revenues consisting primarily of federal
transportation funds, with the proceeds to finance federal-aid
highway projects. The GARVEE:s are limited obligations of the
State payable solely from these funding sources. The total
amount of GARVEEs that may be issued is subject to
limitations contained in the authorizing legislation tied to the
historic and future level of federal transportation funds the State
has or is expected to receive.
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D. Demand Bonds

Included in bonds payable are several variable rate demand
bond issues. Demand bonds are securities that contain a “put”
feature that allows bondholders to demand payment before the
maturity of the debt upon proper notice to the issuer’s
remarketing or paying agents.

Primary Government

With regard to the following demand bonds, the State has
entered into take out agreements, which would convert the
demand bonds not successfully remarketed into another form of
long-term debt.

Governmental Activities

State of North Carolina Variable Rate General Obligation
Bonds, Series D, E, F, and G

On May 1, 2002 the State issued tax-exempt variable rate
general obligation bonds, ($88.75 million, series D through G)
in the total amount of $355 million that have a final maturity
date of May 1, 2021. Each series of bonds is subject to
mandatory sinking fund redemption on May 1, 2013 thru May
1, 2021. The bonds represent a consolidation of Public Schools
Buildings Bonds, Clean Water Bonds and Higher Education
Bonds. The bonds currently bear interest at a weekly rate, and
the bonds are subject to purchase at a price equal to principal
plus interest on demand with seven days notice and delivery to
the Tender Agent, U.S. Bank, N.A.

The State’s Remarketing Agents, Banc of America
Securities LLC (series 2002D), JP Morgan Securities (series
2002E), Goldman Sachs (series 2002F) and Wells Fargo Bank,
N.A. (series 2002G) have agreed to exercise their best efforts to
remarket bonds for which a notice of purchase has been
received. The quarterly remarketing fee is payable in arrears
and is equal to 0.05% per annum of the outstanding principal
amount of the bonds assigned to each agent.

Under four separate standby bond purchase agreements
(“agreements™) between the State and Landesbank Hessen-
Thuringen Girozentrale (“the Bank”), a Liquidity Facility has
been established for each series for the Tender Agent to draw
amounts sufficient to pay the purchase price and accrued
interest on bonds delivered for purchase when remarketing
proceeds or other funds are not available. The State is required
to pay the Bank a commitment fee quarterly in arrears, until the
expiration date or the termination date of the agreements. In an
amended agreement entered into on March 11, 2010, the
commitment fee increased from 0.10% to 0.35% effective July
15, 2010.

Under the agreements, any bonds purchased through the
Liquidity Facility become Bank Bonds and shall, from the date
of such purchase and while they are Bank Bonds, bear interest
at the bank bond interest rate. The Bank Bond interest rate is an
adjustable rate tied to the prime rate or federal funds rate with a

maximum of 18%. Upon remarketing of Bank Bonds and the
receipt of the sales price by the Bank, such bonds are no longer
considered Bank Bonds. Payment of interest to the Bank is due
quarterly for each period in which Bank Bonds are outstanding.

Included in the agreements is a take out provision, in the
event the Remarketing Agent is unable to resell any bonds that
are "put"” within 180 days of the purchase date. In this situation,
the State is required to redeem the Bank Bonds held by the
Liquidity Facility. The agreements allow the State to redeem
Bank Bonds in equal quarterly installments of principal plus
accrued interest. The principal payments will commence with
the first business day of any such month (January, April, July,
October) that is at least 180 days following the applicable
purchase date of the Bank Bond and end no later than the fifth
anniversary of such purchase date. If the take out agreement
were to be exercised because the entire outstanding $355
million of variable rate bonds was "put" and not resold, the
State would be required to pay $71 million a year for five years
under the installment loan agreement with the Liquidity
Provider plus interest at the Bank Bond Rate. The Bank Bond
Rate would be based on the base rate as shown in the table
below. At June 30, 2011, there were no Bank Bonds held under
the Liquidity Facility by the Bank.

Days Bank Bonds Base Rate Bank | Maximum
held by Liquidity (Defined) Bond Rate
Provider Rate
0—30 Days Higher of Prime Base 18%
+3%, Fed Funds Rate
+5%
31-90 Days Higher of Prime Base 18%
+3%, Fed Funds Rate +
+5% 1%
90 — 360 Days Higher of Prime Base 18%
+ 3%, Fed Funds Rate +
+5% or 8% after 2%
180 Days
> 360 Days Higher of Prime Base 18%
+ 3%, Fed Funds Rate +
+ 5% or 8% 4%

The current expiration date of the amended agreements is
December 31, 2015. The Bank has the option to terminate its
commitment on December 31, 2012 and 2014 and July 15, 2015
by providing adequate notice of its intention. The bonds are not
subject to mandatory tender for purchase as a result of
immediate termination of the liquidity agreements. Failure by
the State to purchase bonds tendered for purchase results in the
bonds bearing interest at a floating rate indexed to unsecured
commercial paper for 75 days continuing thereafter at an
interest rate of 12%.
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Component Units
University of North Carolina System
The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill

With regards to the following demand bonds, the issuer has
not entered into take out agreements, which would convert the
demand bonds not successfully remarketed into another form of
long-term debt.

General Revenue, Series 2001B and 2001C

In 2001 the University issued two series of variable rate
demand bonds in the amount of $54.97 million (2001B) and
$54.97 million (2001C) that each has a final maturity date of
December 1, 2025. The bonds are subject to mandatory sinking
fund redemption on the interest payment date on or immediately
preceding each December throughout the term of the bonds.
The proceeds of these issuances were used to provide funds to
refund in advance of their maturity the following issues:
Ambulatory Care Clinic, Series 1990; Athletic Facilities, Series
1998; Carolina Inn, Series 1994; School of Dentistry, Series
1995; Kenan Stadium, Series 1996; Housing System, Series
2000; and Parking System, Series 1997C. While bearing
interest at a weekly rate, the bonds are subject to purchase on
demand with seven days notice and delivery to the University's
Remarketing Agents J.P. Morgan Chase (2001B) and Bank of
America, LLC (2001C). Effective September 23, 2008, J.P.
Morgan Chase replaced Lehman Brothers, Inc.

The University entered into a line of credit agreement in the
amount of $300 million with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“the
Bank”) on September 21, 2006. Under the line of credit
agreement, the University is entitled to draw amounts sufficient
to pay the principal and accrued interest on Variable Rate
Demand Bonds (or Commercial Paper Bonds) delivered for
purchase. Under the line of credit agreement, the University
may request that the Bank increase the commitment by
increments of $25 million for a total commitment of up to $400
million. A request for increase is subject to the Bank’s sole
discretion, and the University cannot be in default under the
agreement at the time of the request.

The University is required to pay a quarterly facility fee for
the line of credit in the amount of 0.08% per annum based on
the size of the commitment. If a long-term debt rating assigned
by Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Fitch Ratings (Fitch) or Moody’s
Investors Service (Moody’s) is lowered, the facility fee
assigned to the lowest rating in the below table shall apply:

Facility

S&P Fitch Moody's Fee
AA AA Aa2 0.10%
AA- AA- Aa3 0.11%
A+ A+ Al 0.14%
A A A2 0.18%

In the event that the Bank increases the available
commitment prior to the due date for payment of a facility fee,
upon request by the University as referenced in the prior
paragraph, the University must pay a supplemental fee based on
the facility fee applied to the amount of the increase at the time
of commitment to increase. The University will also pay an
accrued interest fee equal to the amount of accrued interest, at
the time of purchase of the bonds, multiplied by the prime rate
multiplied by the ratio of the number of days from the date of
purchase of the bonds until the date of payment of the accrued
interest to 365 days.

Under the line of credit agreement, draws to purchase bonds
will accrue interest at the prime rate payable on the same
interest date as provided in the Trust Agreement for the original
bonds. The University is required to begin making a series of
ten fully amortizing semi-annual principal payments on bonds
held by the Bank six months after the date of purchase.
Commercial paper bonds held by the Bank may be rolled over
for a period of 180 days and must be reduced by 1/10"™ of the
original amount of the Commercial paper bonds for a period of
up to 10 rollovers. All outstanding principal and accrued but
unpaid interest is due in full at the maturity of the line of credit.

The line of credit agreement expires on September 21, 2014
and is subject to covenants customary to this type of
transaction, including a default provision in the event that the
University’s long-term bond ratings were lowered to below a
BBB- for S&P, BBB- for Fitch, and Baa3 for Moody’s. At June
30, 2011, no purchase drawings had been made under the line
of credit.

North Carolina Central University

With regards to the following demand bonds, the issuer has
not entered into take out agreements which would convert the
demand bonds not successfully remarketed into another form of
long-term debt.

Revenue Bonds Series 20034

In October of 2003, the North Carolina Capital Facilities
Finance Agency issued Student Housing Facilities Revenue
Demand Bonds ($21.48 million Variable Rate Revenue
Demand Bonds, Series 2003A) that have a maturity date of
October 1, 2034. The issuer, the North Carolina Capital
Facilities Finance Agency, loaned the proceeds of the Series
2003 Bonds to the North Carolina Central University Real
Estate Foundation, Inc. (Foundation). The Foundation used the
proceeds to finance the costs of building a student housing
facility at North Carolina Central University, to fund a debt
service reserve fund for the 2003A Bonds, to pay a portion of
the interest on the bonds during construction of the project, and
to pay certain costs of issuance of the bonds. The 2003A Bonds
are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption at the
principal amount on the interest payment dates.

The Student Housing Facilities Revenue Demand Bonds
(Series 2003) has an Irrevocable Letter of Credit (LOC) for
$21.82 million. The LOC is to secure the payment of the
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principal and purchase price of interest on the Series 2003
Bonds. The LOC was issued by Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and
expired on October 15, 2006. The LOC may be extended by
request from the Foundation by delivering a notice of extension
to the Trustee with a new expiration date. The LOC was
subsequently extended until August 31, 2013. At June 30,
2011, the LOC rate for the bonds was 1.2% and no amounts
were drawn on it.

The Foundation paid Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. a commitment
fee of $109 thousand for the letter of credit on the date the
bonds were issued. The Bonds are not under a take out
agreement; however, in the event of termination 100% of the
unpaid principal will be due and payable plus any unpaid and
accrued interest.

Under the LOC agreement, the proceeds of each drawing
under the LOC to pay the portion of the purchase price of Series
2003 bonds allocable to principal will constitute a tender
advance and must be reimbursed as provided in the agreement.
The Foundation is required to repay each tender advance to
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. plus an interest rate of prime plus 1%.
According to the Reimbursement Agreement Amendment dated
May 2008, the amount of any tender advance made is repaid
based on the earliest to occur of the date the credit provider
bonds purchased pursuant to such tender advances are
remarketed, the close of business on the date that is 366 days
after the tender was made, and/or the termination date.

The Student Housing Facilities Revenue Demand Bonds
(Series 2003) has a remarketing fee. The remarketing fee is an
upfront charge to reset the interest rates on a weekly basis. The
Remarketing Agent is Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. for the Series
2003A Bonds. At June 30, 2011, the remarketed rate for the
bonds was 0.08%.

North Carolina State University

With regard to the following demand bonds, the issuer
has entered into take out agreements, which would convert
the demand bonds not successfully remarketed into another
form of long-term debt.

General Revenue Bonds, Series 2003B

On June 20, 2003 the University issued tax-exempt variable
rate revenue demand bonds in the amount of $45.66 million that
have a final maturity date of October 1, 2027. The bonds are
subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption that began on
October 1, 2004. The University’s proceeds of this issuance
were used to pay a portion of the costs of certain improvements
on the campus of the University, to refund certain debt
previously incurred for that purpose, and to pay the costs
incurred in connection with the issuance of the 2003B bonds.

While bearing interest at a weekly rate, the bonds are
subject to purchase on demand with seven days notice and
delivery to the paying agent, The Bank of New York Mellon.
Upon notice from the paying agent, the Remarketing Agent,
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., has agreed to exercise its best efforts

to remarket the bonds for which a notice of purchase has been
received.

Under a Standby Bond Purchase Agreement (Agreement)
between the Board of Governors of the University of North
Carolina and Bayerische Landesbank, a Liquidity Facility has
been established for the Trustee (The Bank of New York
Mellon) to draw amounts sufficient to pay the purchase price
and accrued interest on bonds delivered for purchase when
remarketing proceeds or other funds are not available. This
Agreement requires a commitment fee equal to 0.13% of the
available commitment, payable quarterly in arrears, beginning
on July 1, 2003 and on each October 1, January 1, April 1, and
July 1 thereafter until the expiration date or the termination date
of the Agreement.

Under the Agreement, any bonds purchased through the
Liquidity Facility become Liquidity Provider Bonds and shall,
from the date of such purchase and while they are Liquidity
Provider Bonds, bear interest at the Liquidity Provider rate (the
greater of the bank prime commercial lending rate and federal
funds rate plus 0.5%). Upon remarketing of Liquidity Provider
Bonds and the receipt of the sales price by the Liquidity
Provider, such bonds are no longer considered Liquidity
Provider Bonds. Payment of the interest on the Liquidity
Provider Bonds is due the first business day of each month in
which Liquidity Provider Bonds are outstanding. At June 30,
2011, there were no Liquidity Provider Bonds held by the
Liquidity Facility. The original Liquidity Facility expiration
date has been extended and is scheduled to expire on November
30, 2015, unless otherwise extended based on the terms of the
Agreement.

Upon expiration or termination of the Agreement, the
University is required to redeem (purchase) the Liquidity
Provider Bonds held by the Liquidity Facility in 12 quarterly
installments, beginning the first business day of January, April,
July, or October, whichever first occurs on or following the
purchase date along with accrued interest at the Liquidity
Provider rate. In the event the entire issue of $43.36 million of

" demand bonds was “put” and not resold, the University would

be required to pay $15 million a year for three years under this
agreement assuming a 3.25% interest rate.

General Revenue Bonds, Series 20084

On July 10, 2008 the University issued tax-exempt variable
rate revenue demand bonds in the amount of $66.61 million that
have a final maturity date of October 1, 2028. The bonds are
subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption that begins on
October 1, 2014. The University’s proceeds of this issuance
were used to pay a portion of the costs of certain improvements
on the campus of the University, to refund certain debt
previously incurred for that purpose, and to pay the costs
incurred in connection with the issuance of the 2008 A bonds.

While bearing interest at a weekly rate, the bonds are
subject to purchase on demand with seven days notice and
delivery to the paying agent, The Bank of New York Mellon.
Upon notice from the paying agent, the Remarketing Agent,
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Citigroup Global Markets Inc., has agreed to exercise its best
efforts to remarket the bonds for which a notice of purchase has
been received.

Under a Standby Bond Purchase Agreement (Agreement)
between the Board of Governors of the University of North
Carolina and Bank of America, N.A., a Liquidity Facility has
been established for the Trustee (The Bank of New York
Mellon) to draw amounts sufficient to pay the purchase price
and accrued interest on bonds delivered for purchase when
remarketing proceeds or other funds are not available. This
Agreement requires a commitment fee equal to 0.2% of the
available commitment, payable quarterly in arrears, beginning
on October 1, 2008 and on each October 1, January 1, April 1,
and July 1 thereafter until the expiration date or the termination
date of the Agreement.

Under the Agreement, any bonds purchased through the
Liquidity Facility become Bank Bonds and shall, from the date
of such purchase and while they are Bank Bonds, bear interest
at the base rate (the greater of the bank prime commercial
lending rate and federal funds rate plus 3%) for 30 days. For
the period of 31 through 60 days after purchase, the Bank
Bonds bear interest at the base rate plus 1%. Upon remarketing
of Bank Bonds and the receipt of the sales price by the
Liquidity Provider, such bonds are no longer considered Bank
Bonds. Payment of the interest on the Bank Bonds is due the
first business day of each month in which Bank Bonds are
outstanding. At June 30, 2011, there were no Bank Bonds held
by the Liquidity Facility. The original Liquidity Facility
expiration date has been extended and is scheduled to expire on
October 10, 2013, unless otherwise extended based on the terms
of the Agreement.

-After the purchase of the Bank Bonds, or expiration or
termination of the Agreement, the University is required to
redeem (purchase) the Bank Bonds held by the Liquidity
Facility in six semi-annual installments, beginning the first
business day of the month which next occurs on or following 61
days after the purchase date along with accrued interest at the
Bank Bond rate plus 2%. In the event the entire issue of $66.61
million of demand bonds was “put” and not resold, the
University would be required to pay $24 million a year for three
years under this agreement assuming a 5.25% interest rate.

University of North Carolina Hospitals at Chapel Hill

With regard to the following demand bonds, the issuer has
entered into take out agreements, which would convert the
demand bonds not successfully remarketed into another form of
long-term debt, with the exception of Series 2009A Revenue
Refunding bonds, for which the University of North Carolina
Hospitals acts as its own liquidity facility. ‘

Revenue Bonds, Series 20014 and Series 2001B

On January 31, 2001, the Hospitals issued two series of tax-
exempt variable rate demand bonds in the amount of $55
million (2001A) and $55 million (2001B) that have a final
maturity date of February 15, 2031. The bonds are subject to

mandatory sinking fund redemption that began on February 15,
2002. A portion of the proceeds was used to reimburse the
Hospitals for $75 million spent allowing the University of
North Carolina (UNC) Health Care System to acquire
controlling interest in Rex Healthcare Inc. The remaining
proceeds were used for the renovation of space vacated after the
opening of the North Carolina Women’s Hospital, North
Carolina Children’s Hospital, and associated support services.
While initially bearing interest in a daily mode, the mode on
these bonds may change to a weekly rate, a unit pricing rate, a
term rate or a fixed rate.

While in daily mode, the bonds are subject to purchase on
any business day upon demand by telephonic notice of tender to
the Remarketing Agent on the purchase date and delivery to the
bond Tender Agent, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. The Hospitals’
Remarketing Agents, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated (Series 2001A) and Banc of America Securities
LLC (Series 2001B) have agreed to exercise their best efforts to
remarket bonds for which a notice of purchase has been
received. The quarterly remarketing fee is payable in arrears
and is equal to 0.05% of the outstanding principal amount of the
bonds assigned to each agent.

Under separate Standby Bond Purchase Agreements for the
Series 2001A and Series 2001B (Agreements) between the
Hospitals and Landesbank Hessen-Thuringen Girozentrale, a
Liquidity Facility has been established for the Tender Agent to
draw amounts sufficient to pay the purchase price and accrued
interest on bonds delivered for purchase when remarketing
proceeds or other funds are not available. These Agreements
require an adjustable facility fee based on the long-term rating
of the bonds, which is calculated as a percentage of the
available commitment. Payments are made quarterly in arrears,
on the first business day of each July, October, January, and
April thereafter until the expiration date or the termination date
of the Agreements. For the past fiscal year the percentage was
0.25% with the long-term agreement that became effective on
July 11, 200S. This agreement has been extended to October 11,
2014.

Under the Agreements, any bonds purchased through the
Liquidity Facility become Bank Bonds and shall, from the date
of such purchase and while they are Bank Bonds, bear interest
at the formula rate (base rate equal to the higher of the prime
rate for such day or the sum of 0.5% plus the federal funds rate)
subject to a maximum rate as permitted by law. Upon
remarketing of Bank Bonds and the receipt of the sales price by
the Liquidity Provider, such bonds are no longer considered
Bank Bonds. Payment of the interest on the Bank Bonds is due
quarterly (the first business day of January, April, July and
October) for each period in which Bank Bonds are outstanding.
At June 30, 2011, there were no Bank Bonds held by the
Liquidity Facility.

Included in the Agreements is a take out provision, in case
the Remarketing Agent is unable to resell any bonds that are
"put" within 90 days of the "put" date. In this situation, the
Hospitals is required to redeem the Bank Bonds held by the
Liquidity Facility. The agreements allow the Hospitals to
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redeem Bank Bonds in equal quarterly installments, on the first
business day of January, April, July and October. The
payments will commence with the first business day of any
such month that is at least 90 days following the applicable
purchase date of the Bank Bond and end no later than the fifth
anniversary of such purchase date. If the take out agreement
were to be exercised because the entire outstanding $98.2
million of demand bonds was "put" and not resold, the
Hospitals would be required to pay $21.36 million a year for
five years under the installment loan agreement assuming an
3.25% prime interest rate.

The current expiration date of the Agreements is December
31, 2015. The Liquidity Provider has the option to terminate its
commitment on October 11, 2014 by providing adequate notice
of its intention. The Hospitals may request additional
extensions of at least one year from the previous termination
date. Extensions are at the discretion of Liquidity Provider.

Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 20034 and Series 2003B

On February 13, 2003, the Hospitals issued two series of
tax-exempt variable rate demand bonds in the amount of $63.77
million (2003A) and $34.25 million (2003B) that have a final
maturity date of February 1, 2029. The bonds are subject to
mandatory sinking fund redemption that began on February 1,
2004. The proceeds were used to advance refund $88.33
million of the Series 1996 Bonds. While initially bearing
interest in a weekly mode, the mode on these bonds may change
to a daily rate, a unit pricing rate, a term rate or a fixed rate.

While in the weekly mode, the bonds are subject to purchase
on demand with seven days’ notice to the Remarketing Agent
and delivery to the bond Tender Agent, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
The Hospitals’ Remarketing Agents, Banc of America
Securities LLC (Series 2003A) and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
(Series 2003B) have agreed to exercise their best efforts to
remarket bonds for which a notice of purchase has been
received. The quarterly remarketing fee is payable in arrears
and is equal to 0.08% of the outstanding principal amount of the
bonds assigned to the Remarketing Agent for Series 2003A and
is equal to 0.07% of the outstanding principal amount of the
bonds assigned to the Remarketing Agent for Series 2003B.

Under separate Standby Bond Purchase Agreements for the
Series 2003A and Series 2003B (Agreements) between the
Hospitals and Bank of America, N.A. (Series 2003A) and Wells
Fargo Bank, N.A. (Series 2003B) Liquidity Facilities have been
established for the Tender Agent to draw amounts sufficient to
pay the purchase price on bonds delivered for purchase when
remarketing proceeds or other funds are not available.

The 2003A Agreement with Bank of America, N.A. was
amended on June 9, 2010 and requires a facility fee equal to
0.58% of the available commitment for Series 2003A payable
quarterly in arrears, beginning on August 1, 2010, and on each
November 1, February 1, May 1, and August 1. On May 31,
2011, the facility fee was amended to be 0.51% per annum
effective July 1, 2011 until July 1, 2013. The facility fee
remains in effect over the life of the Agreement so long as the

rating assigned to parity debt assigned by Moody’s and S&P is
A1/A+ or higher. If the rating assigned to parity debt by either
Moody’s or S&P is downgraded below Al or A+, respectively,
the commitment rate assigned to such lower rating as set forth
below shall apply, effective as of the public announcement of
the rating:

S&P Moody’s Commitment Rate
A A2 0.71%
A-'or lower A3 or lower 0.91%

Under the 2003A Agreement, any bonds purchased through
the Liquidity Facility become Bank Bonds and shall, from the
date of such purchase and while they are Bank Bonds, bear
interest at the Bank Bond Interest Rate equal to the greater of
the prime rate plus 1.50% or the federal funds rate plus 3.0%,
the base rate, for the first 90 days and then the base rate plus
0.50% from the 91st day to the 367th day following the date of
purchase and the base rate plus 1.0% from the 368th day
following such date of purchase and thereafter subject to a
maximum rate as permitted by law. Upon remarketing of Bank
Bonds and the receipt of the sales price by the Liquidity
Provider, such bonds are no longer considered Bank Bonds.
Payment of the interest on the Bank Bonds is on the first
business day of each calendar month following the date on
which such Bank Bond became a Bank Bond. At June 30, 2011,
there were no Bank Bonds held by the 2003A Liquidity
Facility.

Included in the 2003A Agreement is a take out provision, in
case the Remarketing Agent is unable to resell any bonds that
are “put” within the earlier of the termination date and 367 days
of the “put” date. In this situation, the Hospitals is required to
redeem the Bank Bonds held by the Liquidity Facility. The
Series 2003A Agreement allows the Hospitals to redeem Bank
Bonds in six consecutive, equal semi-annual installments of
principal beginning on the first business day of the month that
occurs at least five and not more than six months following the
termination date, until fully paid. In any event, all principal and
accrued and unpaid interest shall be due and payable on the date
the sixth installment is due. If the take out agreement were to
be exercised because the entire outstanding $61.18 million of
demand bonds was “put” and not resold, the Hospitals would be
required to pay $23.26 million, $22.44 million and $21.27
million in years one, two and three respectively, following the
termination date under the installment loan agreement assuming
a base rate of 4.75% (Prime plus 1.5%).

The 2003B Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
required a facility fee of 0.6% for fiscal year 2011. This
agreement was amended on June 30, 2011 and the facility fee
was set to 0.5% of the available commitment payable quarterly
in arrears, beginning on November 1, 2011, and on each
February 1, May 1, August 1, and November 1 thereafter until
July 31, 2013. The facility fee remains in effect over the life of
the Agreement so long as the rating assigned to parity debt
assigned by S&P and Moody’s is A+/A1 or higher. If the rating
assigned to parity debt by either S&P or Moody’s is
downgraded below A+ or Al, respectively, the adjusted
commitment rate (lowest rating to be used) assigned to such
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lower rating as set forth below shall apply, effective as of the
public announcement of the rating:

S&P Moody’s Commitment Rate

A A2 0.65%

A- A3 0.80%
BBB+ Baal 1.00%
BBB+ Baa2 1.25%
BBB- Baa3 1.55%
Below Below

investment grade investment grade 2.55%

Under the 2003B Agreement, any bonds purchased through
the Liquidity Facility become Bank Bonds and shall, from the
date of such purchase and while they are Bank Bonds, bear
interest at the Bank Bond interest rate equal to the greater of the
prime rate plus 1.00%; the federal funds rate plus 2.0% or
7.00%, the base rate, plus 2% subject to a maximum rate as
permitted by law. Upon remarketing of Bank Bonds and the
receipt of the sales price by the Liquidity Provider, such bonds
are no longer considered Bank Bonds. At June 30, 2011, there
were no Bank Bonds held by the 2003B Liquidity Facility.

Included in the 2003B Agreement is a take out provision, in
case the Remarketing Agent is unable to resell any bonds that
are "put" by the termination date. In this situation, the Hospitals
is required to redeem the Bank Bonds held by the Liquidity
Facility. The Series 2003B Agreement allows the Hospitals to
redeem Bank Bonds in 11 equal quarterly installments of
principal, on the first business day of each February, May,
August and November, beginning on the first of such dates that
occurs at least 90 days after the purchase date of such Bank
Bonds. The Hospitals shall pay interest in arrears on each date
that would be an interest payment date for the Series 2003B
Bonds, beginning on the first interest payment date that occurs
after the loan date. If the take out agreement were to be
exercised because the entire outstanding $32.88 million of
demand bonds was “put” and not resold, the Hospitals would be
required to pay $11.03 million, $13.86 million and $12.72
million in years one, two and three respectively following the
purchase date of the Bank Bonds assuming a base rate of 7%.

Revenue Refunding Bonds-Series 20094

On February 12, 2009, the Hospitals issued series 2009A
tax-exempt variable rate demand bonds in the amount of $44.29
million that have a final maturity date of February 1, 2024. The
bonds are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption that
began on February 1, 2010. The proceeds were used to advance
refund $43.51 million of the Series 1999 Bonds. While initially
bearing interest in a weekly mode, the mode on these bonds
may change to a daily rate, a unit pricing rate, a term rate or a
fixed rate.

While in the weekly mode, the bonds are subject to purchase
on demand upon delivering irrevocable written notice of tender
or irrevocable telephonic notice of tender to the Remarketing
Agent not later than 4:00 p.m. on a business day not less than
seven days before the purchase date and upon delivering such
Series 2009A bonds to the bond Tender Agent, U.S. Bank,

N.A., no later than 12:00 noon on such purchase date. The
Hospitals’ Remarketing Agents, Banc of America Securities
LLC has agreed to exercise their best efforts to remarket bonds
for which a notice of purchase has been received. The quarterly
remarketing fee is payable in arrears and is equal to 0.09% of
the weighted average daily principal amount of Series 2009A
Bonds outstanding during such periods in which the Series
2009A bonds are variable rate bonds.

Under a separate liquidity agreement with the trustee, UNC
Hospitals has established itself as Liquidity Facility for the
Tender Agent to draw amounts sufficient to pay the purchase
price on bonds delivered for purchase when remarketing
proceeds or other funds are not available. Upon receipt of any
notice from the Remarketing Agent that there is a projected
funding amount on the business day prior to each purchase date
or mandatory purchase date, and upon receipt of written
demand for payment from the Tender Agent by noon on each
purchase date o<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>